Public Document Pack

REVISED
AGENDA
Committee

-

CABINET

Date & Time

-

Tuesday, 12 February 2019 at 10.00 am

Venue

-

Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road,
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:
Councillors: The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader),
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader), T A Carter, A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones,
C N Johnson, C J Lawton and G J Taylor.
No substitutions permitted. Quorum 3.
Note:

Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels. They
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current
committee cycle.

Persons attending the meeting are
requested to turn mobile telephones to
silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE
Date: 11 February 2019 (original version published 4 February 2019)

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Page 1

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes
a)

Cabinet minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the
meeting of the Cabinet held on 15 January 2019 (copy enclosed).

(Pages
5 - 12)

b)

Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee – To receive
the minutes of the meeting of the Priory Road Community Hub
Project Sub Committee held on 23 November 2018 (copy
enclosed).

(Pages
13 - 16)

3.

Declarations of Interest. - (Where a Councillor has a Disclosable
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or
making a statement on the item, except where a Councillor is permitted
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.)

4.

Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution
(Standing Orders).

5.

To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in.

6.

To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules.
a)

Final Report of the Public Toilets Task Group - To present the
Task Group’s Final Report to Cabinet for consideration (report
of Councillor G Dark, Chairman of the Public Toilets Task Group
enclosed).

(Pages
17 - 34)

7.

Pride in South Holland - To seek approval to increase resources in the
Pride in South Holland initiative for 2018/2019 and 2019/2020 (report of
the Portfolio Holder Place and the Executive Director Place enclosed).

(Pages
35 - 50)

8.

Performance Overview Report - Quarter 3 2018-19 - To provide an
update on how the Council is performing for the period 1 October 2018
to 31 December 2018 (report of the Portfolio Holder for Strategy,
Governance and Transformation, the Portfolio Holder for Governance
and Customer and the Executive Manager People and Public Protection
enclosed).

(Pages
51 - 82)

9.

Tenancy agreement update - To advise Members of the consultation
process required to amend the Council’s Introductory and Secure
Tenancy Agreement and to seek approval to begin this process (report
of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and the Executive
Director Place enclosed).

(Pages
83 126)

Page 2

10.

Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy - To consider the
Draft General Fund and Housing Revenue Account 2019/20 revenue
and capital estimates and the Draft Financial Medium Term Plan (for
recommendation to Council (report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance
and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) enclosed).

(Pages
127 238)

Please note that this report and appendices were revised on 11
February 2019, and therefore replaces the version published on 4
February 2019.
11.

Q3 Finance Report 2018/19 - To provide information on Quarter 3 (to 31
December 2018) and forecast full year financial position of the Council
(report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and the Executive Director
Commercialisation (S151) enclosed).

(Pages
239 258)

Please note that appendix B associated with this report is not for
publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the
Local Government Act 1972, and is therefore attached to this
agenda as item 14).
12.

Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. Note:

(i)

No other business is permitted unless by reason of
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s)
should be considered as a matter of urgency.

(ii)

Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

13.

To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Act.

14.

Q3 Finance Report 2018/19 - (Appendix B enclosed).

Page 3

(Pages
259 260)

This page is intentionally left blank

- 33 -

Agenda Item 2.a)

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices,
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 15 January 2019 at 10.00 am.
PRESENT
G A Porter (Leader)
C N Worth (Deputy Leader)
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)
T A Carter
A Casson

P E Coupland
R Gambba-Jones

C N Johnson
G J Taylor

The Chief Executive, the Executive Director Strategy and Governance (Monitoring
Officer), the Executive Director Place, the Executive Manager People and Public
Protection, the Executive Manager Governance, the Place Manager, the Executive
Manager Growth, the Housing Development Programme Manager, the Environmental
Services Manager, the Head of Finance, the HRA Account Business Partner, the
Graduate Trainee and the Democratic Services Officer.
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C J Lawton and
A M Newton, together with South Holland Citizens Advice Bureau and Welland
Seniors Forum.
In Attendance: Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel) and
Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee).
Community Representatives: Parish Councils.
Action By

51.

MINUTES
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 20 November 2018
were signed by the Leader as a correct record.
The minutes of the special Cabinet meeting held on 17 December
2018 were signed by the Leader as a correct record.

52.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.
There were no declarations of interest.

53.

QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS).
No questions were raised under the Council’s Constitution
(Standing Orders).

Page 5

- 34 CABINET - 15 January 2019
54.

TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT
TO CALL-IN.
There were no matters subject to call-in.

55.

TO CONSIDER MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY
DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS
There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and
Performance Monitoring Panels.

56.

LINCOLNSHIRE WASTE PARTNERSHIP - JOINT MUNICIPAL
WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Place which provided members with the Joint Municipal Waste
Management Strategy that had been created with the County
Council and the seven Lincolnshire authorities within the
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership.
The Cabinet considered a representation from Councillor F
Biggadike which raised a number of issues, including any
potential change of service, specific issues around black bags
being left in the wrong locations, and collection of refuse from
flats. The Leader responded that the issues raised would be
taken on board.
The Cabinet agreed that it was important to work together with the
other authorities to find a way that would suit all. However, the
Authority had always been clear that it would not be forced into a
Lincolnshire-wide agreement if it did not work for South Holland.
DECISION:
That the joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy be adopted.
(Other options considered:
 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 To establish a culture with values in support of delivering the
waste strategy and its vision, to deliver key objectives with a
joint goal in mind, and to provide the best environmental
options and value for money.)

57.

ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATIONS
Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Leader, the
Executive Director Strategy and Governance and the Executive
Manager People and Public Protection which asked the Cabinet

Page 6

CP

- 35 CABINET - 15 January 2019

to consider proposals for the introduction of Electric Car Charging
points across a number of locations within the district. The report
provided the background, identified the sources of funding
available against which to bid, and highlighted approach, issues
and costs associated with the supply, installation and running of
electric vehicle charging points.
It was requested that recommendation (d) be expanded to reflect
any future increases in the charging cost at charging stations.
PA, RP

DECISION:
a. That the Council applies for the Office of Low Emission
Vehicles On-Street Parking Grant, which would cover up to a
maximum of £7,500 or 75% of associated costs per
installation.
b. That the Council also applies for an additional 25% of funding
through private sector electric vehicle installers so that the
cost of installation is fully funded.
c. That if these funding bids are unsuccessful that the Growth
reserve is used for the costs associated with purchase and
installation of 7 units across the district as set out in Appendix
3, of the report.
d. That an initial charging rate at 0.30p per kWh at charging
stations be set, based on external advice received. This
charge would rise in accordance with retail price index (RPI)
based on March data on an annual basis.
e. That the construction of seven electric vehicle charging
stations be pursued, in the following locations:








Vine Street (Spalding): Fast charging unit
Victoria Street (Spalding): Fast charging unit
Priory Road (Spalding); Fast charging unit
Pinchbeck Library and Community Hub (Pinchbeck):
Fast charging unit
Curlew Centre (Sutton Bridge): Fast charging unit
Fishpond Lane (Holbeach): Fast charging unit
West Street (Crowland): Fast charging unit

f. That the outcome of the consultation process on the
associated Car Parking Order, undertaken in accordance with
the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and
Wales) Regulations 1996, be submitted to the Leader and
Cabinet and that after any necessary responses to the
consultation have been issued the Leader determines whether

Page 7

- 36 CABINET - 15 January 2019

or not to approve the Car Parking Order with or without
amendments.
(Other options considered:
 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 To commit to the following priority within the Council’s
Corporate Plan – ‘To work together with partners and local
communities to improve the quality of public spaces to be
cleaner, greener and safer’;
 To enable residents to access suitable charging provision;
 Due to current availability of funding, charging stations can be
constructed with no direct cost to the Council in the case of
fast charging stations, or at a subsidised rate in the case of
rapid charging units;
 Continual growth of electric vehicles in the district meant that
the Council needed to respond to growing and changing
demand to its car parks;
 To increase South Holland’s share of electric vehicle
chargepoints within Lincolnshire;
 Commitment to central government strategy regarding
alternatives to petrol and diesel based travel; and
 To enable the Council to make the necessary legal changes to
the Council’s car parking order, to allow electric car charging
to be accessible to those that need to use it.)
58.

LOG OF DELEGATION TO OFFICERS - CONTRACTS
DELEGATIONS AND CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder,
Governance and Customer which asked the Cabinet to consider
revised Delegations to Officers in relation to contracts and to
consider proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure
Rules.
DECISION:
a. That the proposed delegations to officers relating to contracts,
detailed in Appendix B, be approved and the Log of
Delegations be amended accordingly; and

CM, JB,
RB, LE,
GW

b. That the proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure
Rules detailed in Appendix C be approved.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
c. That the Constitution be amended in accordance with
Appendix C.

Page 8

CM

- 37 CABINET - 15 January 2019

(Other options considered:
 To decline to approve the delegations detailed in Appendix B
and the proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure
Rules set out in Appendix C.
Reasons for decision:
 The existing delegations detailed in Appendix A correlate with
the former Contract Procedure Rules. The proposed
delegations in Appendix B will correlate with the amended
Contract Procedure Rules. The proposed amendments in
Appendix C will comply with audit requirements and ensure
that officers are notified of the level of delegation that applies
to each part of the Contacts process.)
59.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE
URGENT.
There were no urgent items.

60.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
DECISION:
That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972,
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 of part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Act.

61.

A REPORT CONCERNING A PROPOSED HRA
DEVELOPMENT AT SMALL DROVE, WESTON
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for
Corporate Delivery and Strategic Oversight, which sought to
secure agreement for the delivery of 34 affordable homes by the
Authority at Small Drove, Weston, sought member approval for
the award of the build contract for the construction of the
dwellings, and sought member approval for the acceptance of
grant funding from Homes England, based on the proposed grant
funding agreement appended to the report.
Members agreed that the third recommendation (seeking
approval of the build contract) be amended to allow Full Council
to be consulted on the main terms of the proposed build contract,
prior to a final decision being made. It was requested that an
additional appendix be submitted with the report to Full Council to
cover these issues raised by the Cabinet.

Page 9

MH

- 38 CABINET - 15 January 2019

DECISION:

MH

a. That approval is given for the construction of 34 new-build
affordable homes by the authority at Small Drove, Weston,
enabling the scheme to move towards delivery phase, subject
to 3 and 4 below;
b. To approve the budget spend for the scheme, based on the
financial business case contained within the report;
c. That the Cabinet consults Full Council on recommendation 3
(as set out in the original report) in respect of the main terms
of the proposed build contract and, subject to the outcome of
that consultation, the final decision in respect of the build
contract be delegated to the Portfolio Holder, Corporate
Delivery and Strategic Oversight.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL
d. That approval be given for the authority to enter into a grant
agreement with Homes England in relation to grant funding
through the Shared Ownership Affordable Homes Programme
2016-2021 to support the delivery of 34 homes at Small
Drove, Weston.

CM

(Other options considered:
 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 To enable the scheme to move into the delivery phase of the
project. To formally enter into contract with Homes England
and to secure the grant funding for the scheme. To formally
enter into a build contract for the construction of the 34
homes.)
(The meeting ended at 11.10 am)
(End of minutes)
These minutes are published on Friday 18 January 2019. In accordance with the
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated,
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 28 January 2019 (i.e. after
the expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless
during that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward Representative (in
relation to a matter in their ward) or two members of the Performance Monitoring
Panel or any three members, and complies with the requirements of the Council’s
Constitution is served on the Executive Manager Governance requesting that the
decision be called-in and the Executive Manager Governance approves the request

Page 10

- 39 CABINET - 15 January 2019

for call-in. Where a decision is called-in it will firstly be considered by the
Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed.
Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.
Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 23 January 2019.

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

-1-

Agenda Item 2.b)

Minutes of a meeting of the PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB PROJECT SUBCOMMITTEE held in the Meeting Room 2, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on
Friday, 23 November 2018 at 10.00 am.
PRESENT
M G Chandler (Chairman)
G J Taylor

C J Lawton

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C N Worth
In Attendance: Democratic Services Officer, Executive Manager Property and
Development, Programme Delivery Manager Breckland and South Holland,
Communications Manager, Facilities Manager and Project Manager – Breckland
Action By

23

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were none

24

MINUTES
Consideration was given to the minutes of the previous meeting of
the Priory Road Community Hub Project Sub-Committee held on
20 September 2018.
AGREED:
That the minutes be agreed as a correct record

25

PRIORY ROAD PLANNED MAINTENANCE UPDATE
Due to the interconnected nature of the items, it was agreed that
discussion of items 5 and 6 of the agenda would take place under
this item.
The Facilities Manager stated that the new cabling work had been
a success, and that the panic alarm system was being installed
the week following this meeting. Furthermore, in the weeks to
follow.
The Chairman asked if the work to the atrium and car park would
be completed soon. Officers responded that it was hoped that the
work would be completed by the end of January.
The Chairman asked who was dealing with access protocols.
Officers stated that the zoning policy was still being finalised. The

Page 13

-2PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 23
November 2018

Chairman then asked how the protocol would deal with visitors.
Officers stated that there would be special visitor cards that could
be shut down, or they would be given ‘dumb’ cards that would not
provide them access to any doors at all.
The Chairman asked that officers ensure that all visitors in the
building outside of the atrium have cards, identifying them, in
some way, as a visitor.
The Programme Delivery Manager stated that SHDC employees
would need to wear SHDC lanyards, with photo ID cards. She
also stated that it was hoped that new card holders could be
looked at which allowed anyone who had two cards to hold both
on one lanyard.
The Chairman asked for dates that new security went live.
Officers responded that the new security systems would be in
effect from February 2019 onwards.
Officers stated that they would put into the work programme
which date the side doors would be closed.
MAINTENANCE PRESENTATION:
The Project Manager stated that with the air flow in the atrium,
officers were moving away from the idea of de-stratification
because the equipment required for that method would be
unsightly. Other options that were now being looked at would be
box heaters suspended from the ceiling pointing downwards or
wall mounted radiators.
Work on the fish pond removal would begin on 8 December. The
underside of the stairs would be boxed off, and would be too
small to be used as a storage space, so would just be a void
space.
Officers stated that work was well within budget at the time of the
meeting.
Officers stated that prospective tenants could be moved onto the
2nd floor. Or CPBS could be moved there. Officers stated that the
plans for use of 2nd floor were up in the air, but that there were
several potential plans.

Page 14

-3PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 23
November 2018
26

UPDATE ON THE REPLACEMENT OF CAR PARK BARRIERS,
AND ACCESS CONTROLS AROUND THE BUILDING.
Due to the interconnected nature of these items, it was agreed
that discussion of this item would take place under item 4 of the
agenda.

27

BRIEFING ON FUTURE PROGRAMMING
Due to the interconnected nature of these items, it was agreed
that discussion of this item would take place under item 4 of the
agenda.

28

AGENDA PLANNING FOR FUTURE ITEMS FOR THE SUBCOMMITTEE
The Executive Manager Property and Development stated that
the following would be featured on the agenda of the next
meeting;

29



An update on collocation.



Condition survey findings and financial impact.



Council chamber plans.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS
There was none.

30

DATE AND TIMES OF FUTURE MEETINGS
The Chairman asked that officers arrange the next meeting date,
as soon as new information was ready to present.

(The meeting ended at Time Not Specified)
(End of minutes)

Page 15

-4PRIORY ROAD COMMUNITY HUB
PROJECT SUB-COMMITTEE - 23
November 2018

Page 16

Agenda Item 6.a)
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Councillor G Dark, Chairman of the Public Toilets Task Group

To:

Cabinet Tuesday, 12 February 2019

(Author:

Christine Morgan, Donna Hall (Democratic Services Officer, Licensing and
Business Support Manager)

Subject

Final Report of the Public Toilets Task Group

Purpose:

To present the Task Group’s Final Report to Cabinet for consideration

Recommendation:
To consider and approve the recommendations in the Task Group’s Final Report
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Introduction

1.1.1

The Performance Monitoring Panel established the Public Toilets Task Group on 6
February 2018. It commenced its work on 23 April 2018.

1.1.2

The scope of the Task Group was:



To review public toilets in the district, looking at location, cleaning regimes, usage,
reasons for closure and running costs.
To use information gathered to ensure value for money, good service, and that the right
money was spent in the right place.

1.1.3

The membership of the Task Group consisted of Councillors J R Astill, C J T H Brewis, G K
Dark (Chairman) and P C Foyster. Councillor T A Carter was a member of the Task Group
at the outset, but came off it in June 2018 when she became a member of the Cabinet.

1.2

Review Process

1.2.1

The Task Group met on a number of occasions. It undertook a visit of all the Authority run
public conveniences in the district, to get a clearer idea of the issues. Information was
sought from officers, including opening times, running costs, records of reported vandalism,
its cost and the length of closure as a result, and records of cleaning and servicing toilets.
In addition, the following witnesses were interviewed by the Task Group:




Ross Hastie – Technical Project Coordinator
Vicky Stickels – Property Assessor
Jim Harvey – Operation and Commercial Business Manager

Page 17

1.2.2

The evidence and information received was analysed collectively to inform the conclusion
and recommendations contained within the Final Report, which is attached at Appendix A.

1.2.3

The final report was considered and approved by the Performance Monitoring Panel on 30
January 2019

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Cabinet may:




Agree the task groups recommendations in the Final Report; or
Request that alterations be made/further consideration be given to the Final Report
Do nothing.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1

That the recommendations in the task group report are agreed

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The attached report makes a number of recommendations to improve the public toilet
facilities in South Holland for consideration by Cabinet

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management;
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Constitutional & Legal

5.1.1

Public toilets are not a statutory requirement but where they are provided must meet
statutory requirements. Legal services have been consulted during the preparation of this
report.

5.2

Corporate Priorities

5.2.1

The work of the task group took into account all of the corporate priorities:
 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while
protecting the most vulnerable
 To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop
and thrive
 To provide the right services, at the right time and in the right way
 To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth

5.3

Crime and Disorder

Page 18

5.3.1

The task group report has taken into account issues such as criminal damage and makes
recommendations to attempt to reduce this

5.4

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.4.1

The Task Group looked at the provision of disabled toilets and the adult changing facility as
part of the review.

5.5

Financial

5.5.1

The financial implications of the recommendations have been outlined in the attached
report. The finance team have been consulted and are aware of this.

5.6

Health & Wellbeing

5.6.1

Public toilets are considered to be an important facility for the general public, as well as
those with bladder and bowel conditions. The task group considered this as part of the
review.

5.7

Reputation

5.7.1

The Task Group considered the reputation of South Holland District Council in respect of
the provision and condition of the toilets in the District.

5.8

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

5.8.1

The task group identified and considered a number of key stakeholders including relevant
officers in Finance, Assets, Environmental Services; the general public and groups with
specific needs; Parish Councils and others assisting in opening/closing and daily
management of the facilities.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All

7.0

ACRONYMS

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:

Christine Morgan, Democratic Services officer
Donna Hall, Licensing and Business Support Manager

Telephone Number
Email:

cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk, donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Page 19

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Final Report of the Public Toilets Task Group

Page 20

South Holland District Council

Review of Public Toilet Facilities provided by South Holland
District Council

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by a Member Task Group on behalf of
Performance Monitoring Panel

(3rd January 2019)

Page 21

Contents
1.

Introduction

2.

Scope of the Review

3.

Membership of Task Group

4.

Background to Review

5.

Method of Review

6.

Summary of Findings

7.

Conclusions and Recommendations

8.

Financial implications of recommendations

9.

Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review

10. Abbreviations

Appendices
Appendix A Observations from Public Toilet Visits May 2018

Page 22

1.

Introduction

1.1 In February 2018 the Performance Monitoring Panel identified public toilets in
South Holland to be added to the Panel’s 2018/19 work plan. This related to
queries regarding location, costs and refurbishment of these facilities.
1.2 A Member task group was formed consisting of 5 Members, and supported by
a Manger independent to this area under review, and a Democratic Services
Officer.
2.

Scope of the Review

2.1 The scope of the review was agreed at the first meeting of the Public Toilet
Task Group on 23rd April 2018.
2.2 The group agreed to look at the locations, costs, usage and refurbishment of all
public toilets within the District that were the responsibility of SHDC.
2.3 The agreed terms of reference were:



To review public toilets in the District in relation to location, cleaning regimes,
usage, reasons for closure and running costs.
To use information gathered to ensure value for money, good service and that
the right money was being spent in the right place.

2.4 The following toilets which are owned or maintained by SHDC were considered
as part of the review:
Spalding
Sheepmarket
Vine Street Car Park
Bus Station, Winfrey Avenue
Ayscoughfee Gardens
Donington
Park Lane
Long Sutton
West Street
Crowland
West Street
Holbeach
Church Street
Sutton Bridge
Bridge Road

Page 23

3.

Membership of Task Group
The task group consisted of the following Members:
Elected Chair: Cllr G K Dark
Cllr JR Astill
Cllr CJTH Brewis
Cllr TA Carter
Cllr PC Foyster

4.

Background to Review

4.1 The Council operates 9 blocks of public toilets in the District. Several of these
are located within or adjacent to public car parks, one is part of Asycoughfee
Gardens and others are located centrally in towns and villages.
4.2 Provision of public toilets is not a statutory requirement. A BBC report in 2016
identified that at least 1782 public toilets had closed in the previous decade.
Several areas were identified as having no council run toilet facilities at all.
4.3 The Local Government Association, Public Health England, Age UK and other
organisations in recent years have voiced concerns over closures and
promoted the need for such facilities to remain available in the community.
4.4

SHDC has not reduced the provision of public toilets in the District.

4.5 During the Budget October 2018 a proposal was announced that public toilets
would no longer be required to pay business rates. This was announced in the
context of a further decline in public toilet facilities. In a BBC news report at the
time of the budget announcement, the British Toilet Association estimated that
over 40%of public toilets had disappeared in the last decade.
4.6 Government policy is now being drafted to give local authorities power to grant
discretionary relief on business rates for public toilets that they own or maintain.

5.

Method of Review

5.1 At the first task group meeting it was agreed that the review would commence
with site visits to all public toilets identified as being within scope of this work.
This would be followed by meetings as required to gather information from
officers and other key parties, review findings and make recommendations.
5.2 From the outset a number of key parties were identified as holding information
relevant to the review including the Environmental Services, Assets and
Communities Teams.
5.3 Information requested as part of the review included:

Page 24




.

Details of the public toilets, opening times, running costs, cost of vandalism,
costs as a result of closure;
Records of reported vandalism, and length of closure of toilets due to
vandalism;
Record of cleaning/servicing of toilets;

6.

Summary of Findings

6.1

Site Visits

6.1.1 During May 2018 site visits were carried out by the task group at all of the 9
identified public toilet facilities in the District. The group were accompanied by
an officer from Environmental Services who are the Department responsible
for cleaning and day to day management of the facilities.
6.1.2 During the visits observations were recorded in relation to the following
matters:













Opening hours and accessibility
Cleanliness
Smell
Damage
Baby changing provision
Disabled access
Supplies of toilet roll, soap etc.
Hand washing
Hand drying
Sanitary waste provision
Lighting
Bins

It was noted that some of these were not legal requirements, however it was
useful for the group to observe the overall adequacy of the facilities.
The general observations are noted in Appendix A.
6.1.3 Recommendations were made to Environmental Services and assurances
were sought that any issues requiring immediate attention were rectified as
soon as possible.
6.1.4 The general consensus amongst the group was that standards were variable,
and this appeared to correlate with the length of time the facility had been
open, or since its last refurbishment, and the perceived usage and footfall.
Members also felt that some of the facilities did not support the South Holland
Pride initiative, particularly where there was a need for more robust cleaning
and repairs.

Page 25

6.1.5 The task group noted variation in how the public toilets were sign posted.
They felt that improved signage and directional posting would help visitors in
the District to access the facilities more easily.
6.1.6 The group felt that more attention needs to be paid to the disabled toilet
facilities in the District, as these appear to attract problems such as vandalism
and rough sleeping. The group felt that a better standard could be maintained
if they were locked at the same time that the adjoining toilets are closed.
6.1.7 In addition to the site visits, the group also visited the adult changing facility
which is located at the South Holland Centre. This is a toilet and changing
facility which is part of the Changing Places scheme (http://www.changingplaces.org/). It provides a facility for people who cannot access standard
public toilets and provides more space and equipment such as a height
adjustable changing table and a hoist. The task group were very pleased with
this facility and fully supported it remaining in place for the use of visitors in
Spalding town centre.
6.2

Cleanliness

6.2.1 Cleanliness of the facilities varied and it was acknowledged that some issues
related to the age of the fixtures and fittings. As part of their enquiries
members established the following:










6.3

Cleaning is carried out in most toilets by staff in Environmental
Services.
The cleaner has other duties to carry out in the day in addition to
cleaning the toilets, e.g. street cleaning
Crowland toilets are opened/closed and cleaned by the Parish Council
on behalf of the Council
There is no standard procedure or specification for cleaning in place
Estimated average time spent on cleaning each block is 1 hour per day
There should be a contract for sanitary bin provision in each block
Litter bins are not required in the toilets, but where provided they are
emptied
Where cleaners identify faults they are referred through to the Central
Support unit at the Depot for action
There are 6 official complaints from members of the public officially
recorded on the complaints system since 2016, however anecdotally
officers advised that more may have been received and dealt with
informally

Vandalism and Graffiti

6.3.1 Members were concerned about the presence of graffiti and damage that
appeared to have been caused by vandalism, visible in several of the toilets.
As part of their enquiries, members established the following:

Page 26



No specific records of criminal damage are held, although maintenance
records reflect repairs made
There is no specific record of length of time toilets are closed for repair
Issues include: graffiti; removal of fixtures and fittings including toilet
seats, soap, toilet rolls and toilet roll holders; damage to and removal of
tiles, littering; spreading faecal matter on walls; holes in cubicle walls;
deliberate blocking of toilets and sinks.




6.4

Maintenance and Refurbishment

6.4.1 A key area of consideration for members of the task group was the scheduling
of maintenance and refurbishment and associated budgets









6.5

A programme of refurbishment was carried out between 2001 and 2006
for all toilets
Maintenance is carried out as and when required and a budget of
£7,500.00 per year is held by the Assets team for this work in total for all
of the public toilets in South Holland.
By September 2018 over half of this budget allocation had been spent
on necessary maintenance at Donington public toilets
There is not currently a future programme for refurbishment of the
toilets, but members felt that this is something their review could inform
Members were advised that it would cost approx. £360 per toilet block
for a full deep clean
Members were advised that it would cost in the region of £20,000 to
carry out necessary repairs and updating at the Holbeach toilets.
General discussions took place around more significant refurbishments
but members felt that some of the facilities needed more urgent attention
in the meantime.
Members were supportive of the view that a more ambitious programme
of refurbishment should be explored and costed as part of a future
capital works programme.

Budgets

6.5.1 The identified budget for 2018/19 for the cleaning and supplies for the toilets
is outlined below. This shows total budget spend in the region of £150,000 per
year (including support service recharges). This relates to staff, equipment,
materials such as toilet rolls, utilities etc.
Description

Revised Estimate

Employee costs* Total
Business rates
Electricity
Premises insurance
Rent payments
Premises Total
Clothing, uniform, laundry

£26,806
£15,600
£0
£800
£0
£16,400
£100

Page 27

Forecast outturn (at
Q2)
£26,806
£16,221
£695
£830
£0
£17,746
£100

Furniture and equipment
Insurance
Materials & consumables
Telephones
Supplies & Services Total
CPBS recharges to services
Recharges to/from support services
Support Services Total
Depreciation on assets total
Rents/ Income total

£500
£100
£4,200
£200
£5,100
£500
£78,700
£79,200
£20,200
-£400

£500
£310
£4,200
£200
£5,310
£500
£78,700
£79,200
£20,200
-£400

TOTAL

£147,306

£148,862

*This cost relates to the portion of the role involved in cleaning public toilets
6.5.2 A separate budget of £7,500 per year is held by Assets to cover maintenance
and repair. In addition to this, further costs could be met by the wider asset
budget or by a capital bid.
7.

Conclusions and Recommendations

7.1

Conclusions

7.1.1 From the site visits, examination of data, budgets and other information
provided, the task group formed the following conclusions:
7.1.2 Generally Members were pleased with the provision of public toilets. Having
reviewed the location and usage from anecdotal evidence and from
observations it was considered that all of the public toilets were well used.
This suggests that they are in the correct locations. The group did not
consider changing the locations or adding additional facilities as part of their
scope.
7.1.2 The group were concerned that despite some immediate maintenance issues
and repairs that were required, more significant repairs and cleaning was
required. In particular the group identified Holbeach toilets as needing to be
prioritised due to the state and disrepair.
7.1.3 The group also considered that all of the toilets needed some additional
maintenance to be carried out in the next two years.
7.1.4 The group were grateful to the Cleaners for their work in relation to the toilets,
however concluded that more time could be spent on this task at each facility.
It was however acknowledged that toilet cleaning was only part of a wider
role.
7.1.5 All of the public toilets visited in South Holland were found to vary in terms of
what was provided within them. For example there was variation in use of

Page 28

toilet rolls and toilet roll holders, soap, hand drying, sanitary bins and litter
bins. Some of these were provided in some toilets but not all.
7.1.6 Having queried the procedures for reporting and carrying out repairs, the
group felt that a more standardised approach could be achieved. The group
also felt there could be improved communication between departments when
repairs are carried out to ensure that they are open to the public at the earliest
opportunity.
7.1.7 The identified annual budget for maintenance was considered to be very low
for the number of facilities it covered. However the group were reassured that
this would not prevent essential work being undertaken if required.
7.1.8 The group feel that it is important to maintain the current number of toilets in
South Holland. They also feel that improvement needs to be made to ensure
that they provide a safe and suitable facility for the public, and reflect
positively on the District.
7.2

Recommendations

7.2.1 The task group propose the following recommendations:
7.2.2 A standardised written specification for the toilets should be prepared so staff
cleaning and maintaining them have a clear understanding of what materials
and equipment should be present and what cleaning is required.
7.2.3 Spot checks should be carried out at regular intervals to determine if the
specification is being met, and ensure issues are reported.
7.2.4 A protocol should be agreed between Environmental Services and Central
Support Unit to ensure consistency in how work is reported, feedback is
provided when work is scheduled and has been completed, and tasks are
effectively prioritised.
7.2.5 Public reporting of issues should be encouraged through notices on display in
each toilet block
7.2.6 The disabled toilet facilities should be fitted with more substantial locks to
prevent vandalism and improve security
7.2.7 The disabled toilets in Spalding town centre should have a notice to advise of
the adult changing facility at the South Holland Centre
7.2.8 Improved location and directional signage for the public toilets could be added
to ensure that visitors to the District can easily locate the facilities. It is also
recommended that a map is added to the Council’s website to show the
location of the public toilets

Page 29

7.2.9 A rapid response procedure to offensive graffiti be explored to ensure this is
removed or covered at the earliest opportunity
7.2.10 When Government policy enables the Council to remove the business rates
requirement for public toilets, this budget should be diverted to cover
additional refurbishments and repairs in future years.
7.2.11 A deep clean programme is undertaken during 2019/2020 at all public toilet
facilities, and all outstanding repairs are carried out. An investment is made
into repairs at Holbeach toilets (estimated up to £20,000) to bring these up to
a satisfactory and safe condition.
7.2.12 A capital programme for refurbishment of public toilets be prepared for future
years and be completed by 2025.
7.2.13 As part of this programme, Officers should be tasked with exploring more
modernised facilities and designs such as self-cleaning toilets, and facilities
that are designed to combat issues such as vandalism or graffiti. A further
task group could be set up in due course to consider this.
7.2.14 Officers should explore alternative funding sources, or contributions from
business or organisations whose customers benefit from the facilities.
8.

Financial Implications of Recommendations

8.1 The recommendations have proposed a deep clean at each facility which
officers have advised could be carried out within existing budget, to take place
before April 2020.
8.2 The task group have also asked that Holbeach toilets are given a refurbishment
to improve standards, hygiene and appearance by April 2020. The estimated
cost for this provided by Officers is £20,000. This would need to be sourced
outside the existing maintenance budget for the year, through a capital bid.
8.3 It has also been recommended that a further piece of work is carried out to
develop a refurbishment programme for all public toilets, which could include
more significant changes to layout and equipment in order to invest to save in
the future. Costs have not been identified for this piece of work.
9.

Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the
Review
Site visits to the public toilets
Complaints Information from Corporate Improvement and Performance team
Budgetary information from Finance
Input from officers in Environmental Services, Communities, Assets, Finance,
Legal and
Open source news articles and websites:

Page 30

http://www.changing-places.org/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-36405414
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-46024769
10. Abbreviations
SHDC

South Holland District Council

Page 31

Appendix A
Observations from Public Toilet Visits May 2018
Vine Street, Spalding









Ladies cubicle closed
Low height of door
Tiles off wall in male toilet
Graffiti
Baby changing adequate in male and female
Supplies OK
Lighting, sanitary, bins etc adequate.
Reasonable condition and cleanliness

Sheepmarket, Spalding











Well used – busy
Tatty from outside
One of the larger facilities
Unpleasant smell
Wear and tear
External door needs repainting
Separate baby changing
Dirty, stained
Flush difficult to use
Male toilets lighting poor

Bus Station, Spalding









Ladies toilets unclean – scale, old dirt, mould on ceiling.
Mens’ toilets – broken tiles
Graffiti
No seat on one of the toilets
Door needs painting
No supplies
Broken window

Ayscoughfee, Spalding





Male toilets reasonable
Female toilets need cleaning
Bad smells
Several lights in ladies not working

Sutton Bridge







Quite decent facility – relatively new
No bad smells
No major damage
Separate disabled toilet but no alarm
No bins, baby changing or sanitary provision
Sign to report damage – good

Long Sutton


Generally clean and no smells

Page 32







No significant damage
Some graffiti on back of doors in disabled toilets
External sign pointing wrong way
No toilet roll holders
No sanitary provision

Holbeach











Fairly clean, smell not too bad
A lot of graffiti
Locks damaged, particularly in ladies and not fixed well
Panel under sink hanging off
No toilet roll
Mens’ toilets - tiles smashed
Side drain cover broken
No baby changing
Separate disabled facility
Hand dryer in ladies didn’t work

Crowland









Stainless steel, generally dirty with wear and tear
Smells of smoking
Leak under sink in ladies
Graffiti on doors
Dirty tiles
Broken tiles in front of urinal
No baby changing, soap or hand dryers
No bins and no sanitary provision

Donington











Fairly dirty but quite superficial
Dirty doors
Graffiti
Tiles cracking
Disrepair rather than cleanliness main issue

Baby changing in mens’ toilets – only one seen there
Cubicle wheelchair accessible in ladies.
No soap
Dryer didn’t work in the mens’ toilets

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Place and Executive Director - Place

To:

Cabinet - Tuesday, 12 February 2019,
South Holland District Council, 27 February 2019

(Author:

Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager)

Subject

Pride in South Holland

Purpose:

To seek approval to increase resources in the Pride in South Holland initiative
for 2018/19 and 2019/2020.

Recommendation to Council:
1) That additional resources are made available to increase the Pride in South Holland initiative
by releasing funds of £24,891 in 2018/19 and £246,843 for 2019/20
Recommendation to Cabinet:
2) That the new Pride in South Holland Initiative is reviewed in 6 months and by the end of
2019/20 to consider whether to further extend the period of activity.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

In September 2014 South Holland District Council first approved the release of £100,000
from the Council’s reserves to invest in a clean-up programme targeting specific areas
across the district called ‘Pride in South Holland’. This programme comprised of work over
and above the day to day street cleansing duties carried out by the Environmental Services
team as well as additional grounds maintenance work such as the cutting back of
overgrown paths.

1.2

Over time, the growth in the District, and the increase in environmental crime that is being
seen across the Country, has meant that much of the Pride work is now delivered between
the original ambitions for the team and supporting the day to day requirements of the street
cleansing team which are currently unachievable without the support of Pride.

1.3

The initial programme of works for Pride established a series of ‘priority areas’ requiring
attention, such as grot spots and untidy sites. The ‘priority areas’ were themselves
identified by Members in conjunction with officers. A programme of works was produced,
accompanied by a communications plan.

1.4

Most recently the Pride team have been working closely with Parishes to understand the
areas in the District that require dedicated targeting from the Pride team and there have
been many positive outcomes and lots of encouraging media coverage regarding the work
that has been achieved.

Page 35

1.5

However, the last few months have seen an increase in the number of complaints received
by residents who are unhappy with the condition of the towns, most specifically Spalding
and Holbeach. Recently we have seen numerous photos and articles in the media
regarding littering, early presentation of waste and fly tipping. It has become necessary for
the Pride team to be directed to clear these areas, however this is a reactive rather than
proactive position that is not preventing the environmental crime that is impacting the
cleanliness of the District.

1.6

Environmental crimes such as fly tipping, littering alongside the early presentation of waste
are well known for attracting the accumulation of more waste if not addressed quickly, so it
is vital that we remove these swiftly. It is also well evidenced that a combined approach to
street cleaning, enforcement and education can improve the perception of the cleanliness
of an area and prevent the amount of environmental crimes that are perpetrated.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Increase the resources available to the pride team to allow for a programmed approach to
street cleanliness including litter and street cleanliness, toilet cleaning, communal collection
points, litter and dog bin emptying and untidy sites across the District.

2.2

Do nothing.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

Currently Pride in South Holland consists of
 3 ‘Pride’ cleansing operatives
 1 vehicle
 A variety of street cleansing equipment (brushes, hedge cutters etc.)

3.2

The Pride team has been able to deliver some fantastic results, clearing many sites across
the District and improving a variety of areas including clearing pathways that were
unusable, making passageways clearer and therefore providing an extra sense of safety
when using these.

3.3

It is vital that this work continues, but it is clear that there is more that needs to be done to
meet the demands of our residents and support our environment. In order to do this, we
need to grow the current Pride offering, and with that provide a programmed approach to
deliver the expectations of members and residents.

3.4

Therefore the proposals of this report request the following resources, this list includes the
current Pride resource listed above;




3.5

2 Pride Teams, each consisting of;
o 2 operatives, a vehicle and variety of street cleansing equipment
1 sweeper and sweeper driver
1 operative and vehicle to focus on litter and dog bin clearing and releasing
resource of the toilet cleaners

This resource is requested based on the evidence we have, and member and resident
feedback, which clearly show that there are four key areas that require addressing currently
 Litter and Street Cleanliness

Page 36





Public Toilets
Communal Collection Points
Litter Bins

3.6

Addressing each of these areas is vital to improving the overall cleanliness and pride in
South Holland. Each of these are tackled in the proposals of this report to increase the
resources available.

3.7

Litter and Street Cleanliness. Throughout the District there is a need to address the
amount of litter that is dropped and ensure our pathways, parks and open spaces and
roads are cleaned to an acceptable standard. Currently we tackle this through the street
cleansing team of 7 street cleansing operatives, 3 mechanical sweeper drivers and 1
supervisor. Pride is then tasked to address the work that is required in areas that is above
and beyond the day to day requirements of the street cleansing team.

3.8

It is now necessary to grow the Pride team to provide the resources required to address the
amount of litter and street cleansing work that is necessary to keep our District suitably
clean. By providing the additional resources to create two pride teams, consisting of two
operatives and a vehicle for each team, as well as provision of a mechanical sweeper and
driver, the issues arising around street cleansing can be targeted in a programmed
approach.

3.9

A targeted approach would see one pride team have a focused and methodical programme
of works in the Spalding and Holbeach areas whilst the remaining pride team would
continue to focus on the other towns and villages of the district. The reasoning behind this
approach is due to the larger concentration of public in the Spalding and Holbeach areas,
of both residents and visitors. The code of guidance on litter and refuse recommends that
areas are zoned and those that are classed as high intensity; ‘Areas which, through intense
pedestrian and/or vehicular movements, are prone to fluctuations in litter and refuse and
require both high levels of monitoring and frequent cleansing’, are duty bound to be
addressed within a much quicker timescale than others, though medium intensity zones
would also receive a prompt response through the second pride team.

3.10

The creation of two pride teams would ensure that the types of works currently undertaken
by Pride in South Holland would continue and be expanded. This will ensure that pride also
covers the general street cleansing and removal of litter in a greater depth and across more
of the district, which is currently unable to be achieved within current resources. Some of
the key deliverables would include







Two hit teams to efficiently clear the litter in the towns, villages and laybys;
A programmed work plan to clear litter alongside the roads (in conjunction with the
required traffic management protocols);
Improved litter clearing alongside the riverbanks (in line with the health and safety
requirements necessary for this which currently limit this work)
Bring the standard of our District to Grade A, clear of litter and detritus as set in the
code of guidance;
Programmed approach of street sweeping in Spalding and Holbeach to ensure the
towns are fully swept each year;
Cleaning of street furniture such as road signage, removal of bird poo, graffiti and
chewing gum;

Page 37








Assist with the cleaning and maintenance of public toilets with programmed deep
cleans;
Support addressing the ‘grey area’ land that falls between SHDC and business or
private land owners that need both clearing and enforcing;
Clearing of more open spaces around the District including more of the excellent
work already seen by the Pride team;
Reduction in the number of complaints and level of dissatisfaction with the
cleanliness of Spalding and the District;
Improved perception of the cleanliness of the District;
Consider working towards achievement of an award for the cleanliness of our
District (should there be a desire to do so).

3.11

In order to effectively delivery on these objectives, pride would need to continue to be
supported by members and residents who see and report areas that need addressing and
therefore welcomes the continued support of members and resident who provide this
intelligence by reporting issues online.

3.12

Public Toilets. The provision of public toilets is of vital importance to our members and
residents and ensuring that they are clean and available for use is imperative for the public
that look to use them. Currently we have a number of public toilets that have been raised
as needing a deeper level of cleaning, which again has been difficult to maintain within
current resources.

3.13

There are two elements of this proposal which would address the ongoing cleanliness of
the public toilets of SHDC. Firstly, by providing the newly resourced pride teams the
specific use of a mechanical sweeper and driver, equipped with jet washing facilities, the
pride teams would be able to deliver a programme of deep cleans to the toilets on a more
regular basis. This would support the ongoing cleaning of the toilets and provide a better
quality of cleanliness to the users.

3.14

Secondly, the current operative responsible for cleaning the Spalding toilets is tasked with
a number of other jobs which limit the time and resource available solely for cleaning the
toilets. By providing a resource to cover the additional tasks the operative is responsible
for, it would allow more time to clean the toilets to a higher standard. This additional
resource would be available from the proposed operative whose main responsibility is
detailed in the section below named Litter Bins.

3.15

This targeted approach to the toilets would be the first step in reviewing the current
provision of public conveniences to ensure a suitable standard remains whilst the review
commences and looks to consider further recommendations.

3.16

Communal Collection Points. The areas where refuse and recycling bags are placed on
the morning of collection for multiple homes, such as flats or at the curtilage for private
drives, are known as communal collection points. Refuse and recycling should only be
placed in these collection points the morning of scheduled collection day. However it is
becoming increasingly common for these collection points to have refuse and recycling
presented early, which causes a number of issues including accumulation of waste up to a
week prior to collection and blocking of pavements.

3.17

Addressing this issue as a collective across council services including environmental
services and the enforcement team will ensure a proactive approach. This work has

Page 38

commenced alongside working jointly to address the environmental crimes of littering and
fly tipping. The proactive approach will look to investigate the options we have for hot spot
and repeat areas of concern, whilst ensuring effective policies and procedures to enable
enforcement opportunities.
3.18

The availability of additional resource in pride and the operative working on litter and dog
bins, will allow for a better reactive approach to the current issue. These resources will
ensure that areas that need addressing urgently can be, whilst providing intelligence to the
enforcement team regarding ongoing issues and concerns.

3.19

This joined up approach will enable the council to work in an intelligent way to address the
issues of communal collection points as well as littering and fly tipping.

3.20

Litter Bins. As previously highlighted in this proposal, there is a recommendation to
provide additional resource to address the emptying of litter and dog bins in the district.
This would not be the only responsibility of this operative, indeed the work that would be
undertaken in this role would release resource in the toilet cleaning role and support the
collection of waste across the district through either missed collections or early
presentation.

3.21

There are approximately 700 litter and dog bins located across the district. These are
emptied in the most efficient way possible, whether by the refuse loaders as part of their
routes or street cleansing team in their work day. However, a number of the litter and dog
bins are being reported as needing more regular emptying and resource is being pulled
from other areas to enable this work to be carried out, ultimately removing resource from
other areas of work, such as the toilet cleaning in Spalding.

3.22

The proposal to introduce an operative to ensure the regular emptying of the litter and dog
bins, including those which are in need of more regular emptying, will ensure that the
resources of other areas of environmental services remain in place, such as allowing the
toilet cleaner to focus on their cleaning duties. The role will also support by providing
evidence of areas where either additional bins need to be added or current bins that may
require increasing in size, to support the work to keep litter off the streets.

3.23

This proposed addition of an operative and vehicle within this report will also allow for more
focus to be provided to keeping the litter bins of the laybys regularly emptied and litter
picked within the areas which are safe to work. This role is vital in ensuring that the
proposals of this report are achievable by releasing resource to deliver substantive roles
and ensuring a cleaner district is realised.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The proposals to increase resource in the Pride team, and the commitment to fund this,
tackles the growth across the District where the population has increased by around 38%
(approx. 26,000 people) since 1991.

4.2

The proposals address not only the reactive approach needed to keep the district clean and
remove the litter but will support the current work being undertaken to ensure a joined up
approach within the services of SHDC to tackle the issues causing the litter, fly tipping and
early presentation being addressed by this increase in resources. It is essential that
services collaborate in a joined up approach to identify and address these issues that make

Page 39

the growth of Pride so crucial to our District. The recent Waste and Resources Strategy
calls on more collaborative working and highlights areas of good practice such as the
Hertfordshire Waste Partnership which saw an 18% reduction in fly tipping following
adoption of a collaborative approach.
4.3

Already some key benefits have been identified from investing time and ensuring
collaborative working in the following areas;




4.4

Education
Enforcement
Communication

As part of an effective, collaborative and proactive work against environmental crime, the
following areas will be considered;







How to best work with volunteering groups, parishes and members;
Staff littering clean up opportunities, such as those done in corporate clean up days;
SHDC or Lincolnshire specific campaigns along the lines of the ‘spring clean’ and the
‘big clean’;
Engaging with recognised best practice areas such as Hertfordshire Waste Partnership;
Working with the PCC in a fly tipping roundtable discussion;
Addressing collection points and how to ensure they are not misused with waste
presented early, such as Albert Street Holbeach

4.5

The proposals of this report request a level of investment which makes it clear that SHDC
is committed to achieving the ambition of the corporate plan and the manifesto commitment
regarding Pride in South Holland to ‘Ensure that resources are available to provide a swift
and effective response to issues of littering, early presentation of sacks, fly tipping, graffiti
and all forms of blight on the environment.’

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1
5.1.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
The proposals of this report ensure that SHDC are working hard to deliver its
responsibilities as part of the Environmental Protection Act and codes of guidance.

5.2
5.2.1

Corporate Priorities
Within the current and proposed corporate plan there is an ambition to ensure a cleaner,
greener, safer District. The proposals of this report address this ambition whilst tackling the
complaints received from the residents of the District by ensuring work is undertaken to

Page 40

achieve both the prevention and the reactive response to environmental crime.
5.3
5.3.1

Crime and Disorder
A collaborative and proactive approach will look to address environmental crime being seen
in SHDC these proposals align with the government ambitions on tackling environmental
crime and addressing collaborative working as seen in the Waste and Resources Strategy.

5.4
5.4.1

Financial
The proposals of this report request a level of investment for the remaining weeks of
2018/19 and 2019/20. The details of this are available as a proforma B which can be seen
in Appendix A and also highlighted briefly in the table below.
Year 1*
2018-19*

£ Year 2
2019-20

Costs – Current Pride Team
Total

-

Costs – Pride Team Extension
Total

£7,518.31

£39,769.00

£10,666.46

£67,482.00

£6,706.46

£39,592.00

£24,891.23

£246,843.00

Costs – Sweeper & Driver
Total
Costs – Litter Clearing Operative & Vehicle
Total
Total Revenue * Part year 8 weeks costings

£100,000

5.5
5.5.1

Health & Wellbeing
It is considered that clean streets lead to improved public health and quality of life, the
proposals of this report look to improve the cleanliness of the district and encourage
residents to utilise public spaces.

5.6
5.6.1

Reputation
The aim of these proposals is improve the quality of the street scene and open spaces in
South Holland which will improve reputation and demonstrate that the Council strives for
South Holland to be a place to live, work and socialise.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All wards and communities will benefit from this programme.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

PCC – Police and Crime Commissioner

7.2

SHDC – South Holland District Council

Page 41

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager
01775 764888
cpaine@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:
Exempt Decision:

N
N

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Proforma B
Appendix B
Pride Works

Page 42

Appendix A - PROFORMA B
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL
THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT
FROM:
REPORT:
REPORT DATE:

Charlotte Paine
Pride in South Holland
18th January 2019
Year 1*
2018-19*

£ Year 2
2019-20

Costs – Current Pride Team
Van Leasing
3 Operatives
Fuel
Tyres
Equipment
PPE
Phone
Untidy Sites and Land Initiative
Total
Costs – Pride Team Extension
Van Leasing
Operative
Fuel
Tyres
Equipment
PPE
Phone
Total
Costs – Sweeper & Driver
Sweeper Leasing
Sweeper Driver
Fuel
Tyres
Skips
Brushes
PPE
Phone
Total
Costs – Litter Clearing Operative
& Vehicle
Van Leasing
Operative

£12,000.00
£70,782.00
£3,200.00
£200.00
£425.00
£150.00
£200.00
£13,043.00
£100,000.00
£1,846.15
£3,629.85
£492.31
£850.00
£300.00
£400.00
£7,518.31

£12,000.00
£23,594.00
£3,200.00
£200.00
£425.00
£150.00
£200.00
£39,769.00

£4,400.00
£3,834.15
£492.31
£1,440.00
£100.00
£400.00
£10,666.46

£28,600.00
£24,922.00
£3,200.00
£350.00
£9,360.00
£800.00
£50.00
£200.00
£67,482.00

£1,576.62
£3,629.85

£10,248.00
£23,594.00

Page 43

£ Year 3
2020-21

£ Year 4
2021-22

Fuel
Tyres
PPE
Equipment
Phone
Total

Total Revenue -

£800.00
£100.00
£200.00
£400.00
£6,706.46

£5,200.00
£200.00
£50.00
£100.00
£200.00
£39,592.00

£24,891.23

£246,843.00

* Part year 8 weeks costings
The ambition to increase the resources for the Pride initiative is being driven by members
who appreciate that in order to address the level of litter and required street cleanliness in
South Holland, additional income is required to increase the scope of the initiative.
The above table sets out the costings for 2018/19 which accounts for 8 weeks of costs to
cover from 4th February to the end of March. These costings are being requested in year
because members would like to see the work to address the issues of street cleanliness
dealt with as a matter of urgency. Therefore the funding is being sought as part of an officer
delegated decision for 2018/19.
The costs for 2019/20 are for the full financial year and are looking to be requested as part of
the report to full council in February 2019 as part of the 2019/20 budget.
Considered By:
Date:

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date.
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be
reviewed by Finance.
Page 1 of 2

PROFORMA B

Detail

Financial Services Comments
If approved, this additional funding would be provided via South Holland District Council’s
Council Tax Reserve. However, this only provides a short term solution and consideration
must be given as to how this will be funded in the long term.

Page 44

Financial Risk
.
N/A
This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date.
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be
reviewed by Finance.
__/__/2018
Page 2 of 2

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B
Pride Examples of Work
The table below list categories of works that have been undertaken by the Pride team across
the district alongside some of the proposed works that could be undertaken if the additional
resource requested is available. The types of works currently undertaken would still continue
to be delivered.
Works Undertaken by Pride
Bus Shelter sweeping
Car park litter picking and clearing
Clearing of back edges and steps
Fly tip removals across the district
Footpath and bus stop clearing
Footpath clearing across the district
Graffiti removal
Layby deep clean and moss removal
Layby Litter picking
Layby Litter picking & deep clean
Layby Litter picking and clear back edges
Litter bin cleaning
Litter bin monitoring and emptying
Litter bin repair
Litter picking & deep clean
Litter picking and back edge clearing
Litter picking and bushes cut back
Litter picking and cleaning
Litter picking and cycle path clearing
Litter picking and fly tip removal
Litter picking and sweeping
Litter picking in car park
Litter picking, footpath clearing and edging
Litter picking, hedge row cutting and deweeding
Mechanical sweeping across the district
Passage way clearing and strimming
Path De-weeding
Re-painting of play areas across the district
Root ball removal
Toilet Deep clean
Toilet deep clean and graffiti removal
Toilet deep cleaning
Underpass washing, graffiti removal, litter
picking and bushes trimmed

Additional Works Proposed
Programmed work to clear litter alongside roads
Programmed litter clearing alongside the riverbank
Programmed grade A cleaning, clear of litter and detritus
Programmed street cleaning of Spalding and Holbeach
Programmed cleaning of street furniture such as road
signage
Programmed removal of bird poo and graffiti with jet wash
Programmed removal of chewing gum
Programmed deep cleans of toilets
Programmed clearing more open spaces around the district
Programmed approach to litter bin emptying
Programmed approach to dog bin emptying
Programmed approach to layby litter picking
Release of resource to give focussed toilet cleaning in
Spalding
Problem communal collection point clearing
Additional resources to investigate and react to missed
collections and blocked access

Page 47

Examples of Work Undertaken So Far

 Pinchbeck
Enterprise way
The Path had all but disappeared with the foliage from
the fencing. The team cut back all the intruding foliage,
edged the grass area, and swept the path. All waste was
cleared and the area litter picked.

Vernatts Nature Reserve
The sign for the reserve was heavily marked with graffiti. The
team cleared all the paint from the sign. This track leads from
West Elloe to Enterprise Way and the team litter picked, cut
back all foliage and removed all waste from site.

 Gosberton
Gosberton Parish Council asked the Pride in the Parish
to clear the pathway on the corner of High Street and
Salem Street. The pathway was thick with leaves from
the surrounding trees, and also mud from the local
agricultural vehicles. The team cleared and removed
all the leaves. A path sweeper was used to remove the
rotting leaves and dirt build up. Finally the area was
swept and litter picked. The team also cleared and
removed all of the leaves from around the war
memorial opposite while they were on site.

Page 48

 Holbeach
Holbeach underpass
All the overhanging foliage was cut back, the edges
have been de-weeded and the pathway mechanically
cleaned, the whole area was litter picked and all
rubbish and debris removed. There was also graffiti
sprayed on the underpass walls, this was also
removed and the wall cleaned.

The Tenters passage way.
The edges of the pathway have been cleared and cut
back, the hedge row was tidied up and trimmed, the
path was mechanically swept and the area was litter
picked and all waste cleared from site.

Hallgate

Passageway

All the
the full

foliage was cut back to reveal
path, the pathway was
mechanically swept. The
rows were cut back and the
litter picked. All waste was
and removed from site.

hedge
whole area
cleared

 Long Sutton

Page 49

Seating Area

This seated area is heavily used so we wanted to make it clean and easily accessible. The team
started with the foliage and hedges, they were cut and sculpted. The border
was dug over and the pathway was edged. The block
pathing was weeded with the moss removed. After
mechanically sweeping the path, the whole area was
litter picked and all waste removed

Long Sutton Nature Reserve
The nature reserve had been left untouched for a
long period. The pride team weeded and cleared all
the pathway and cut back the foliage, de-littered and
then cleared all waste from site.

 Tydd St Mary
Common Road
There was approximately 1 mile of obstructed pathway of
which the pride team cleared. The pathway was
mechanically swept to remove the grass and leaves. The
edges were cut back to reveal the full path width. The
team litter picked the whole area and all waste was
removed from site.

Page 50

Agenda Item 8.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and Transformation,
Executive Manager People and Public Protection, Portfolio Holder
Governance and Customer

To:

Cabinet 12th February 2019

Author:

Corey Gooch – Senior Business Intelligence Officer

Subject:

Performance Overview Report – Quarter 3 2018/19

Purpose:

To provide an update on how the Council is performing for the period 1
October 2018 to 31 December 2018

Recommendation(s):
1)
1.0

To note the content of the report
BACKGROUND
The Quarter 3 2018-19 Performance Report detailed in Appendix A aims to provide
Members, businesses and residents with information relating to how the Council is
performing in regards to the delivery of services and against the aims and
objectives as set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan.
In addition the aim of the covering report is to highlight performance specifically
where performance has improved or declined as well as what officers are doing to
address these areas.

1.0

Key Performance Indicators
Quarter 3 has seen improvements in performance since this period last year
however we have not seen many significant changes from Quarter 2 in respect of
overall performance, 12 were rated as green, 1 as amber and 5 as red. There are 7
Data only indicators which means they are monitored without requiring a target.

Performance Indicator Status FY 2018/19
30
25
20
15
10
5
0
Q1
2015/1
6

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1
2016/1
7

Q2

Red

Q3

Q4

Amber

Page 51

Q1
2017/1
8
Green

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1
2018/1
9

Q2

Q3

The highlight breakdown of the reportable indicators are shown below against the
previous quarter (Jul 18 – Sept 18)
Indicator

Quarter 3
18/19

Quarter 2
18/19

Gross Income EHT&C
Complaint Response Times
FOI Response Times
Household Waste Recycled/Composted
Missed Waste Collection
Commercial Property Occupancy
Staff Turnover
Working Days lost to Sickness
Housing Re-Let Times
Empty Properties back in use
Businesses Assisted via G4G
G4g Grants Awarded
Non-Major Planning application Determination times
Major Planning application Determination times
Housing Benefit LA Error Rate
Business Rate in Year collection rate
Council Tax in Year Collection Rate
% of due rent collected on Welland Homes
Properties
1.1 Areas of Success
Housing re-let performance (page 14) continues to perform strongly and is shown as
performing above target for the third consecutive month. This sustained increase in
performance can be attributed to the Place review as well as the recent appointment
of the new Housing Manager who has been working with the Corporate Improvement
Team to review and simplify a number of different processes within the service.
There was a significant reduction in the number of officer days lost through sickness
(page 11) in the last quarter, down from 552 days for quarter 2 to 374 at the end of
quarter 3. This shows as a significant improvement and equates to circa £14,000 in
increased productivity.
There were only three leavers in quarter 3 which equates to 1.27% of the total
establishment against a target of 4.3%. This along with the reduction in the number of
days lost through sickness should be seen as a positive and a measure of wider staff
morale (page 10)
The number of abandoned calls dropped by 60% in this last quarter which is
extremely positive. This increase in performance can be attributed to a number of
factors including a reduction of longterm sickness within the contact centre and an
increase in the number of colleagues being upskilled across a number of disciplines
and therefore able to field more calls first time.
Planning application determination times (page 20) also continues to perform well for
moth major and non-major planning applications. External benchmarking from the

Page 52

Performance team also demonstrates that nationally South Holland sit in the top
quartile for this figure.

1.3

Areas for Improvement
Reporting for missed bin collections (page 8) in quarter 3 is shown as
underperforming with a total number of 43 missed collections against every 100,000
collections due. With this said, a number of these missed collections were as a result
of reduced vehicular access as a result of roadworks therefore making the bins
impossible to collect. Where this has occurred the refuse has been collected at the
next possible opportunity. Work is on-going within Environmental Services and the
Corporate Improvement Team to review how missed collections are reported. This is
to ensure that we only record missed collections which have been in our control.
The number of Freedom of Information requests responded to within the statutory
timescale of 20 working days (page 4) is currently shown as underperforming with
78% of all requests being responded to within time against a target of 100%.
Significant improvement work has been undertaken in this area and the total number
responded to within time continues to rise month on month. In addition and as a
result of the digitalisation of how requests are processed, the number of FOIs
received by the services have reduced significantly, therefore increasing capacity to
respond within 20 working days. The Corporate Improvement Team are confident
that the steps taken to date will realise an increase in performance within Q4
continuing into the new financial year.
In terms of FOI trends and volumes, around 40% of our FOIs were sent to the
housing team (specifically around homelessness and social housing figures and
breakdowns) 20% to the environmental services team (specifically costs and flytipping/litter offences) and 15% to our community teams (specifically enforcement
and leisure spend) This analysis on trends for SHDC FOIs has been recently
undertaken and the CIP team is in the process of working with teams to understand
their trends and frequently asked questions and look at ways of making this
information available on the website in order to reduce future FOIs of the same
nature.
Gross income generated by EHT&C (page 1) is under target for this quarter by
around £10,000 and in order to ensure next year end financial targets are met the
team are working on a number of pieces of work which include the refresh of the
website which targets the EHTC website to go live early February in order to
establish a bigger online presence. The team will also be working on Search Engine
Optimisation improvements to improve on-line visibility and conversion rates.
Additionally there will be revised and specific targets and objectives re-issued to
teams. The EHTC Marketing plan will also be revised to focus on certain products
and targeted customers.
Business Rates in year collection rate (page 22) is currently 0.91% behind target
(0.91% behind last month). Recovery action is being taken in line with the teams
robust recovery timetable. Recent awards of discretionary rate relief and backdated
amendments to the rating list have had an adverse impact on collection rates. These
revised liabilities will become payable and collected over the remainder of the
financial year. There is an additional 0.71% (of the overall annual collectable debit)
due and payable by instalments from ratepayers during February and March

Page 53

compared to last financial year. The team anticipate that the end of year target will be
achieved and that performance will be in line with last year.
2.0

Recommendation
That the contents of the report be noted

3.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

3.1

The Council’s performance is properly scrutinised.

4.0

IMPLICATIONS

4.1

Constitution & Legal
The report is made within the terms of reference of the Performance Monitoring
Panel.

4.2

Corporate Priorities
The report presents progress monitoring of performance of the corporate priorities.

4.3

Financial
The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey
some information relating to financial matters.

4.4

Reputation
Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence. It is the purpose
of this report to highlight performance issues at an early stage.

4.5

Risk Management
Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect
Council interests.

4.6

Staffing
The report contains information relating to staffing issues.

5.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

5.1

No Wards or Communities are affected

6.0

ACRONYMS

Page 54

LA – Local Authority

Background papers:- None
Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Ross Bangs – Corporate Improvement & Performance
Manager
07870835233
ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post:
Ross Bangs – Corporate Improvement & Performance
Manager
Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Quarter 3 Performance Report

Page 55

This page is intentionally left blank

2018/19 Q3 SHDC PMP Report
Generated on: 10 January 2019

Indicator

Gross income generated by EHT&C

The amount of gross

Same Period Last Year

income generated by the
Environmental Health,

Q3 2017/18

commercial trading arm

Current Performance

Page 57

Training and consultancy

Q3 2018/19
Current Target
£78,750.00

Trend Chart

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

N/A

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

£60,000.00

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we look to generate more

Figures contain orders which have been invoiced, plus existing

income from our environmental health training orders. The overall predicted out turn for Q3 will be around £10k
and consultancy department

under target.
The team are working on a number of pieces of work which include
the refresh of the website which targets the EHTC website to go live
early February.
Also will be looking at Search Engine Optimisation improvements (to
improve on-line visibility and conversion rates).
Additionally there will be revised and specific targets and objectives
re-issued to teams.
The EHTC Marketing plan will also be revised to focus on certain
products and target customers.

1

Indicator

Time to process DFG Applications

Overall average time

Same Period Last Year

in days from
appointment to
completion.

Q3 2017/18

Trend Chart

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

N/A

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

201

Current Performance

Page 58

Q3 2018/19
Current Target
Data Only

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to process

Processing time slightly higher in this quarter with no

applications in the shortest time

particular concerns highlighted

possible

2

Indicator
the percentage of the
complaints that were

% of complaints responded to within agreed timescales
Same Period Last Year

responded to within the
period, that were
responded to within the

Q3 2017/18

agreed timescales (15

Current Performance

day stage 1, 20 days

Trend Chart

Page 59

stage 2)
Q3 2018/19
Current Target
80%

Complaints in

Complaints

Value

Timescale

Responded To

33

54

61.11%

Complaints in

Complaints

Value

Timescale

Responded To

50

62

80.65%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we look to respond to Very positive response times can be seen in this quarter which
all our complaints within the agreed

can be attributed to the corporate improvement and

timescales set out on our website

performance teams focus on working with the services to help
understand complaints as well as work to ensure service
issues are identified and resolved as soon as possible.

3

Indicator

% of FOI requests responded to within time limit

Of the FOI's

Same Period Last Year

responded to in the
month, the
percentage of ones
that were
responded to within
the statutory 20 day

Number

Number due in

responded in

month

Trend Chart

Value

time
Q3 2017/18

59%

Current Performance

timescale

Page 60

Number

Number due in

responded in

month

Value

time
Q3 2018/19
Current Target
100%

54

69

78%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we aim to

Our FOI response times are the best they have ever

respond to all our FOI requests

been but with 15 out of the 69 received not

within the statutory times set out

meeting the response deadlines this leaves the
score still below the optimal targets, whilst positive
work has been undertaken with the services
especially in relation to reducing incoming numbers
further work has now commenced with services to
encourage the services to publish frequently
requested data online.

4

Indicator

Number of Vexatious Customer Registrations

This Performance

Same Period Last Year

measure monitors the
number of customers
who have been made

Q3 2017/18

vexatious in the time

Current Performance

period.
The vexatious
application is managed
via the Corporate

Page 61

Complaints team and

the Legal team.

Q3 2018/19
Current Target
Data Only

Trend Chart

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

0

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

0

What does good look like?

Latest Note

N/A

There have been no vexatious customer registrations in this
quarter

5

Indicator

% of Calls Abandoned

% of calls that are

Same Period Last Year

abandoned (call
terminated prior to
answering), excluding

Q3 2017/18

those abandoned within

Current Performance

5 seconds.
This is a combined
measure across

Page 62

Customer Contact,
Revenues and Benefits

calls

Q3 2018/19
Current Target
Data Only

Trend Chart

Calls Abandoned

Calls Received

Value

1,186

26,634

4.45%

Calls Abandoned

Calls Received

Value

1,295

26,644

4.86%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A lower % is better as we look to answer

Whilst call volume dropped by around 14% for Q3 from Q2 the

more calls

amount of calls abandoned dropped by 60% which is positive.
Q3 has seen the lowest abandonment rates of the year so far
but it is important to note call volumes are often lower at this
period in the year. Long term sickness has improved
significantly in the service which has had a really positive
impact and cross training of staff also continues to show
success.

6

Indicator

% of household waste recycled or composted

% of household waste

Same Period Last Year

which has been recycled
and composted

Numerator

(includes garden waste)

Q3 2017/18

against all the

Current Performance

household waste
collected

Denominator

Denominator

Q3 2018/19

31.77%

Value
32.29%

Numerator

Current Target

Trend Chart

Value
33.06%

Page 63

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A higher % is better as we look to recycle

% of household waste recycled or composted continues to

or compost more waste

perform above target and has not been affected by the winter
months

7

Indicator

Missed Waste Collection Rate

Number of missed

Same Period Last Year

collections per 100,000
people

Q3 2017/18

Trend Chart

Number of missed

Per 100,000 collection

Value

collections

figure

397

10.185

39

Number of missed

Per 100,000 collection

Value

collections

figure

440

10.185

Current Performance

Q3 2018/19
Current Target

Page 64

33

What does good look like?

43
Latest Note

A lower number is better as we look to ensure The number of missed collections have increased over the last couple
fewer waste collections are missed

of months due to the amount of road works being carried out in
various locations in the district. In addition some roads are
inaccessible due to parked vehicle blocking our vehicles access.
Work is in progress with the CIP team in respect to missed collections
to identify any process improvements that could be made to benefit
this indicator as well.

8

Indicator

Commercial Property Occupancy

Occupancy levels of

Same Period Last Year

the council's
industrial units

Q3 2017/18

Trend Chart

Number of units

Total number of

Value

let

units

49.667

50

99.33%

Number of units

Total number of

Value

let

units

48.333

50

Current Performance

Q3 2018/19

Page 65

Current Target
90%

96.67%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A higher number is better as we

Commercial property occupancy remains the same

look to rent out as many council

as the asset management strategy is under review

owned industrial units as possible

9

Indicator

Staff turnover %

% of total leavers

Same Period Last Year

against total number of

Number of leavers in Total number of staff Value

staff employed in period
(includes involuntary
leavers)
Target is 10% which has

Trend Chart

Q3 2017/18

period

in period

10

221

4.52%

Current Performance
Number of leavers in Total number of staff Value

been benchmarked
Q3 2018/19

Page 66

Current Target
4.3%

period

in period

3

237

1.27%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to retain staff

It is positive to note that there were only 3 leavers in Q3,
Overall number of staff employed remains high and the month
of December saw nobody leave the organisation and this is a
positive reflection of the review of services and procedures
within the organisation, such turnover can also be linked to
positive morale and the retaining of high quality staff but it
would be too early to pinpoint these turnover rates to one
single factor at this stage.

10

Indicator

Working Days Lost to Sickness per FTE

Total number of

Same Period Last Year

working days lost per

Number of days

Full Time Equivalent.
This is calculated by

Q3 2017/18

days lost to sickness

Current Performance

period

519.41
Number of days

number of full time
equivalent staff in the

Number of FTE

Value

201.08

2.58

Number of FTE

Value

217

1.72

lost

taking the number of
and dividing it by the

Trend Chart

lost
Q3 2018/19

Page 67

Current Target
2.5

374.84

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce

Overall working days lost to sickness has reduced

the amount of working time lost to

significantly in this quarter and it is very pleasing to

sickness

note that for Q3 the council is reporting the lowest
sickness rates that have been recorded on our systems,
this reflects on the positive changes made throughout
last year through service reviews as well as HR schemes
and training to help manage sickness and encourage
positive health and wellbeing in the workforce.

11

Indicator

Working Days Lost to Long Term Sickness per FTE

Number of working

Same Period Last Year

days lost per Full

Number of days

Time Equivalent for
long term sickness.
This is calculated by
taking the number

Q3 2017/18

Page 68

equivalent staff in
the period

Value

410.87

201.8

2.04

Number of FTE

Value

217.28

1.27

Current Performance
Number of days

term sickness and
number of full time

Number of FTE

lost - long term

of days lost to long
dividing it by the

Trend Chart

lost - long term
Q3 2018/19
Current Target
Data Only

267

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to

Instances of long term sickness reduced by 43%

reduce the amount of working time since last quarter which is significant and this can
lost to sickness

be attributed to the work done by HR with services
and managers (phased return to work processes,
frequent contact with managers, reasonable
adjustment procedures etc.)

12

Indicator

Working Days Lost to Short Term Sickness per FTE

Number of working

Same Period Last Year

days lost per Full

Number of days

Time Equivalent for
short term sickness.
This is calculated by
taking the number

Q3 2017/18

Page 69

equivalent staff in
the period

Value

108.55

201.8

0.54

Number of FTE

Value

217.28

0.49

Current Performance
Number of days

term sickness and

number of full time

Number of FTE

lost - short term

of days lost to long
dividing it by the

Trend Chart

lost - short term
Q3 2018/19
Current Target
Data Only

107.84

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to

Short term sickness wen up slightly for Q3 but this

reduce the amount of working time is quite expected for the months of November and
lost to sickness

December where winter colds and flu often affects
short term sickness stats

13

Indicator

Housing re-let (void) time (total ave. key to key) All Tenures

Total time in days

Same Period Last Year

from keys in to keys

Total # days void

out - including major
works for all tenures

Q3 2017/18

Sheltered Housing)

Current Performance

Page 70

vacant divided by the

number or properties

vacant in the period

2,066
Total # days void

total number of days
properties remain

Value

void

(General Needs and
This is calculated by

Total # properties

Trend Chart

63

33 days

Total # properties

Value

void
Q3 2018/19
Current Target
28 days

1,124

55

20 days

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to reduce

It is pleasing to note that housing re-let (void) times are

the number of days vacant and

at the best and lowest times we have recorded, the

therefore not receiving rent payments housing service have reported they are making better
use of their data within the service and using it to
manage time and efficiencies which is being supported
by the CIP team in their performance and improvement
work. The team within housing have also refined key
handover processes as well as a review of all areas of the
service to ensure they are achieving maximum efficiency
whilst also maintaining high tenant satisfaction.

14

Indicator

Cases Prevented from Homelessness

P1E Return -

Same Period Last Year

Prevention and
Relieving of

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

74

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

52

Homelessness

Q3 2017/18

Number of potentially

Current Performance

homeless cases
diverted from
homelessness in the
District

Q3 2018/19
Current Target

Page 71

Data Only

Trend Chart

What does good look like?

Latest Note

This is not a targeted measure. The

The systems and processes are now in place to

number does not reflect % of cases

effectively measure homelessness prevention within the

prevented from homelessness and

district, please note this figure is no longer per 1,000 as

therefore will fluctuate dependent

this is not how the new systems and returns measure

upon demand to the service.

the figure, going forward these figures will be analysed
and the homelessness procedures will be reviewed to
understand where efficiencies and improvements sit.

15

Indicator

Empty Properties - Back In Use

Number of empty

Same Period Last Year

properties brought
back into use
through
intervention by the

Q3 2017/18

Trend Chart

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

9

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

6

Current Performance

council

Page 72

Numerator

Q3 2018/19
Current Target
25

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we look to bring There has been a drop in the number of empty
as many empty homes back into

properties back in use when compared to the score

use as possible

of 43 for the last quarter, there will be a push from
the service to identify more properties and bring
them back into use for Q4 to ensure the target of
100 per annum is met.

`

16

Indicator

Businesses Assisted to Develop or Grow via Grants4Growth

Number of existing

Same Period Last Year

businesses assisted
to develop or grow

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

28

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

27

through Economic

Q3 2017/18

Development support

Current Performance

- Grants for Growth

Q3 2018/19
Current Target
6

Trend Chart

What does good look like?
N/A

Latest Note
Grants4Growth continues to perform above target as

Page 73

work continues with the inward investment team
supporting businesses within the district

17

Indicator

Number of Grants Awarded via Grants4Growth

Total number of

Same Period Last Year

grants that are
awarded - grants for
growth

Q3 2017/18

Trend Chart

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

34

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

19

Current Performance
Q3 2018/19

Page 74

Current Target

What does good look like?

13

Latest Note
19 grants were awarded in this quarter which sits above
the target of 13 minimum

Indicator

% of non-major applications determined within 8 weeks or agreed extension

This PI measures the %

Same Period Last Year

of non-major

Minor Applications in Total Minor Apps

applications that have
been determined within
8 weeks or agreed

Q3 2017/18

extension, this is in line

Current Performance

with national

Time

Decided

N/A

N/A

N/A

Minor Applications in Total Minor Apps

requirements.
Q3 2018/19

Value

Time

Decided

124

138

Value
89.86%

18

Trend Chart

Current Target
70%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

We look to achieve the highest amount

Figures is above target, this demonstrates a proactive

possible as we aim to determine all non-

approach to working with applicants by the Planning service.

major planning applications within 8
weeks or agreed extension as set out with
national requirements

Page 75

Indicator

% of Major applications determined within 13 weeks or agreed extension

% determined within

Same Period Last Year

13 weeks (or with
agreed extension or
PPA)

Q3 2017/18

# major apps

# major

Value

detrm in 13 or

applications

extn

determined

3

3

100%

# major apps

# major

Value

detrm in 13 or

applications

Current Performance

19

Trend Chart

Q3 2018/19
Current Target
60%

extn

determined

24

25

96%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we aim to

This measure continues to perform above target and

determine all major applications

also shows the significance and importance of agreeing

within 13 weeks or the agreed

extensions of time with planning applicants. There were

extension

25 applications to be determined for Q3 which is the
highest the service has had recorded on performance
systems, therefore it is pleasing to note determination

Page 76

times did not suffer as a consequence of the higher

Indicator

volumes.

Housing Benefit LA Error Rate

Trend Chart

20

Local Authority error in
Housing Benefit

Same Period Last Year
Error expenditure

overpayment
Amount of benefits

Value

expend

overpaid divided by

Q3 2017/18

benefits paid (% of overall

Current Performance

expenditure)

Total housing benefit

21,531.5

Error expenditure

12,743,846.27

0.17%

Total housing benefit

Value

expend
Q3 2018/19
Current Target
0.42%

21,097.54

12,077,781.59

0.17%

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Lower is better as we look to minimise the

It is pleasing to report a further decrease of 0.03% in the total LA

amount of money paid in error and reduce the error amount since the last quarter, which remains under the lower

Page 77
Indicator

risk of financial penalty (which occurs above

threshold and attracting full subsidy for 2018/19.

0.48%)

Business Rate In Year Collection Rate

Trend Chart

21

Amount of Business Rates
collected in the year

Same Period Last Year
In year collection

against the total
collectable debit

Total collectable debit

Value

22,201,381.92

26,505,982.58

83.76%

In year collection

Total collectable debit

Value

27,037,942.57

82.79%

amount
Q3 2017/18
Current Performance
amount
Q3 2018/19
Current Target
83.7%

22,385,898.92

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Page 78

Higher is better as we look to collect as much

We are currently 0.91% behind target (0.91% behind last month).

of the business rates debit as possible

Recovery action is being taken in line with our robust recovery
timetable. Recent awards of discretionary rate relief and backdated
amendments to the rating list have had an adverse impact on
collection rates. These revised liabilities will become payable and
collected over the remainder of the financial year. There is an
additional 0.71% (of the overall annual collectable debit) due and
payable by instalments from ratepayers during February and March
compared to last financial year. We anticipate that the end of year
target will be achieved and that performance will be in line with last
year.

Indicator

Council Tax In Year Collection Rate

Trend Chart

22

Amount of Council Tax
collected in the year

Same Period Last Year
In year collection

against the total
collectable debit

Total collectable debit

Value

37,032,507.62

43,307,692.28

85.51%

In year collection

Total collectable debit

Value

46,224,066.49

85.1%

amount
Q3 2017/18
Current Performance
amount
Q3 2018/19
Current Target
85.5%

39,336,808.2

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we look to collect as much

Performance is currently 0.40% below target (0.38 last month). Over

of the Council Tax debit as possible

the previous financial quarter we have seen in increase in the

Page 79

collectable debit a result of changes to discounts and new properties
entering the valuation list. Whilst this has been billed it is payable
over the remainder of the financial year. Recovery action is being
taken in line with our robust recovery timetable. We recognise that
the impact of Local Council Tax Support and the role out of Universal
Credit within the district is likely to have an adverse impact on
collection but this will be monitored closely over the year. We
anticipate that the end of year performance will be in line with
previous year's performance

23

Indicator
The number of new
homes enabled by the
authority from direct
intervention

New Homes Enabled

Trend Chart

Same Period Last Year
Q3 2017/18

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

31

Numerator

Denominator

Value

N/A

N/A

117

Current Performance
Q3 2018/19
Current Target

Page 80

What does good look like?

Latest Note

Higher is better as we look to deliver

For Q3 the 117 new homes have all been through

more new homes

enabling, from a mix of encouraging Registered Provider
partners to develop new schemes locally (St Johns Road,
Spalding), to permitting schemes with lower planning
obligations to improve the overall viability of the scheme
where there is verified evidence to support this.

24

Indicator

% of due rent collected on Welland homes properties

The percentage of

Same Period Last Year

rent collected from
maximum possible
rent to be collected

Q3 2017/18

Due rent actually

Due rent to be

collected

collected

10,400

10,400

100

Due rent actually

Due rent to be

Value

collected

collected

11,075

11,075

Trend Chart

Value

Current Performance

Page 81

Q3 2018/19
Current Target
95

100

What does good look like?

Latest Note

A higher % is better as we look to

Arrears exist on one property which the team are

collect as much of the due rent as

working with the tenants to resolve. However, due to

possible

tenants of another property paying two months in
advance, the actual rent collected remains at 100%.

25

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and/or Executive Director - Place

To:

Policy Development Panel, 15 January 2019
Cabinet, 12 February 2019

(Author:

Vikki Cherry Housing Services Manager)

Subject

Tenancy agreement update

Purpose:

To advise Members of the consultation process required to amend the
Council’s Introductory and Secure Tenancy Agreement and to seek approval
to begin this process.

Recommendation(s)
1) That the proposed changes to the Council’s Introductory and Secure Agreement are
approved for consultation
2) That a Preliminary Notice under section 103, Housing Act 1985 is issued to all Council
tenants
3) That approval of final amendments to the Tenancy Agreement following consultation is
delegated to the Executive Director Place (prior to final Notice of Variation being served).
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Tenancy Agreement was last reviewed in 2011 to reflect the implementation of
Introductory Tenancies (where tenants have a year’s trial with reduced rights (extended to
a maximum of 18 months)). All tenants were last consulted on changes to the Agreement
in 2005. (Tenants were not consulted on the 2011 Agreement as the changes only affected
new tenants).

1.2

The proposed new Tenancy Agreement is attached at appendix 1. The Agreement sets out
the rights and responsibilities of the Council and our tenants, and applies to Introductory
and Secure tenancies. There are no proposals to offer Fixed Term tenancies. Non-secure
tenancies are not currently being reviewed. Failure to adhere to the tenancy agreement
can result in warning letters, legal notices, fines and ultimately possession.

1.3

There is a legal requirement to consult with tenants on any changes to the Agreement (as
per the Housing Act 1985). Relevant internal stakeholders (including Legal, Housing and
Communities) have been consulted with.

1.4

The majority of changes proposed are around clarity and ability to enforce as well as
strengthening the rights and responsibilities of tenants. A summary of the material changes
the existing Agreement can be found in appendix 2.

1.5

The Agreement reflects the following new pieces of legislation:

Page 83





Antisocial Behaviour and Policing Act 2014
Localism Act 2011,
General Data Protection Regulation 2018.

1.6

The consultation for the Agreement review will be conducted in accordance with sections
102-103 of the Housing Act 1985. The Housing Services Manager will write to all tenants
informing them by a Preliminary Notice (appendix 3) that we wish to vary the terms of the
Tenancy Agreement. The intention is to issue this Notice in March 2019.

1.7

In addition to the Preliminary Notice, tenants will be provided with the following documents:
 draft copy of the Agreement (appendix 1),
 summary of changes (appendix 2),
 Frequently Asked Questions paper (appendix 4).

1.8

Tenants will be given a period of 28 days consultation. Methods of consultation will include
an online survey, and the option to send comments to a dedicated email address/by post.
Sheltered Housing residents will have the opportunity to comment at Meet and Greet
sessions also.

1.9

New tenants that sign their tenancy agreement after the Preliminary Notice is sent will be
issued with a copy of the Preliminary Notice at the point of sign up.

1.10

A page on the Council’s website will be produced setting out the proposed changes and the
consultation process.

1.11

All comments will be logged and will inform the final Tenancy Agreement. The report
requests that authority to sign off the final Agreement (following consultation) is delegated
to the Executive Director Place.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Approve the draft proposed Agreement and the service of a Preliminary Notice under
section 103, Housing Act 1985 to all Council tenants on an introductory or secure tenancy
(to begin the formal consultation process). Delegate permission for final amendments
(following consultation) to the Executive Director Place.

2.2

Do nothing, continue to operate under the conditions of the existing two out of date
Tenancy Agreements.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

The reason for reviewing the Agreement is to provide an updated Agreement for tenants to
reflect changes in legislation and operational practice. The revised document is clearer and
easier for tenants to understand, helping them to meet their obligations as a tenant and
sustain their tenancy. A revised Tenant’s Handbook will also be produced as part of this
work.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

One Agreement in place, reducing confusion for officers and tenants.

Page 84

4.2

Addressing concerns regarding fire safety including storage of items in communal areas
and bonfires.

4.3

Use of the Antisocial Behaviour and Policing Act 2014 through warnings and notices to
address issues such as untidy gardens and noise nuisance. Penalties include financial
penalties, orders for work to be carried out and charged to the tenant, and possession of
the property.

4.4

Reduction in rent arrears due to the requirement of payment of four week’s rent in advance
for all new tenants, and formal action being taken for the repeat late payment of rent.

4.5

Improved property condition through the ability to treat hoarding as a breach of tenancy and
considering overgrown gardens to be cases of anti-social behaviour/nuisance.

4.6

Reduction in complaints as a result of the flexibility on the number of pets depending on
property size, and also ability to withdraw permission if issues arise from pets. Dogs no
longer being allowed in flats (for new tenants). Existing tenants will be able to keep up to 2
dogs and 3 cats without permission until they move property.

4.7

Reduction in outgoings through a stronger emphasis on repairs and re-charging tenants for
work that is their responsibility. This will result in additional income to the Council. Photos
of the condition of the property at sign-up will support this process.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality &
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management;
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1
5.1.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
It is a legal requirement to serve the Notice and proposed Agreement on all tenants. This
requirement will be met by printing and posting papers out. The authority does not have
reliable contact details for tenants to send the papers by email and so could not guarantee
they have been served.

5.1.2

A section will be added to the website for tenants to update their contact details. The link to
this section of the website will be included in letters and tenants will be encouraged to
complete this as part of their response to the consultation. (This exercise will assist with
future communications to tenants by email on non-legal matters).

5.2
5.2.1

Constitutional & Legal
The review of the Tenancy Agreement meets a statutory requirement. There is a
requirement for the review to be conducted in accordance with sections 102-103 of the
Housing Act 1985.

5.2.2

The Council is at risk of legal challenge around fulfilling the terms of the Housing Act 1985,
section 103. A tenant may challenge the variation on the basis of not being consulted or

Page 85

not receiving a copy of the preliminary notice. The Notice will be posted to all tenants
(along with a copy of the proposed Agreement), and information will be added to the
Council’s website to mitigate this risk.
5.3
5.3.1

Corporate Priorities
The Agreement review underpins the relationship between the Council as a landlord and its
tenants, by delivering sustainable tenancies, and therefore more settled communities. This
helps to support the Council’s priority of having pride in South Holland by supporting the
district and residents to develop and thrive, and developing safer, stronger, healthier and
more independent communities whilst protecting the most vulnerable.

5.4
5.4.1

Crime and Disorder
The Agreement refers to the Antisocial Behaviour and Policing Act 2014. There are many
tools available under this act to address nuisance including the issue of Community
Protection Notices and fixed term penalties, injunctions and mandatory possession ground
in extreme cases of antisocial behaviour.

5.5
5.5.1

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
There is a potential for certain groups to be disadvantaged by the terms of the tenancy
agreement, for example, tenants on a low income.

5.5.2

Tenants may struggle to pay the required four weeks rent in advance. Officers have the
ability to reduce this amount in extenuating circumstances. Assistance is available (in the
form of a grant) to existing Housing Benefit/Universal Benefit claimants towards rent in
advance payments through the authority’s Discretionary Housing Payment scheme. Many
social landlords require rent in advance with local housing associations currently requiring
four weeks rent in advance also.

5.5.3

Affordable payment arrangements will be available to tenants to repay the charge for
repairs that are the responsibility of the tenant.

5.5.4

Tenants whose first language is not English may require additional support to ensure they
fully understand the terms of the Tenancy Agreement. Copies of the Agreement will be
translated upon request.

5.6
5.6.1

Financial
The Housing Revenue Account will incur the cost of printing and postage to send the
required notice and Agreements to all households.

5.7
5.7.1

Health & Wellbeing
Sustainable tenancies will support the health and wellbeing of residents of South Holland.

5.8
5.8.1

Risk Management
The Council must ensure that all tenants receive a copy of the Preliminary Notice and
sufficient information to understand the proposals being considered. Postage is considered
an acceptable means and the authority is not required to provide proof of postage/similar.

5.8.2

The terms of the Agreement must be seen to be reasonable, not interfere with the tenant’s
right to respect for family and private life and not discriminate on equality grounds
unjustifiably.

Page 86

5.9
5.9.1

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales
Internal stakeholders have been consulted and their feedback has been included in the
proposed Agreement. External stakeholders will be consulted at the same time as tenants.
The Agreement is intended to be ‘live’ by early summer 2019 (due to the legal timescales
involved with consulting and informing tenants).

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

The review of the Agreement affects all wards.

Background papers:-

None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Vikki Cherry Housing Services Manager
01775 764707
vcherry@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:
Exempt Decision:

N
N

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix 1
Proposed Agreement
Appendix 2
Summary of proposed changes
Appendix 3
Preliminary notice
Appendix 4
Frequently Asked Questions

Page 87

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1

South Holland District Council
Introductory/Secure
Tenancy Agreement
This document is an Introductory/a Secure Weekly Tenancy Agreement
Between
South Holland District Council
(The Landlord)
And
INSERT TENANTS NAMES
(The Tenant or Joint Tenant(s))
Of
INSERT ADDRESS
(The Address)

This is an important document and should be stored in a safe place.
Please contact us if you would like this agreement in other formats or languages.
Сообщите нам, пожалуйста, если Вам необходимо данное соглашение в других
форматах или на других языках.
Deverá contactar-nos caso pretenda este acordo noutros formatos ou idiomas.
Prosimy o kontakt, jeśli potrzebują Państwo umowy tej w innym formacie lub języku.
Susisiekite su mumis, jeigu pageidaujate gauti šią sutartį kitu formatu arba kita kalba.
Lūdzu, sazinieties ar mums, ja vēlaties saņemt šo līgumu citā formātā vai citā valodā.
Tenancy Agreement version 2019

Page
Page
1 of 89
27

Introductory/Secure Tenancy Agreement
This agreement makes you a tenant of South Holland District Council. This document is the
contract which sets out our responsibilities as your landlord and your rights and
responsibilities as a tenant.
This agreement is made between:
The Landlord: South Holland District Council, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE
The tenant(s): INSERT NAMES
In the case of joint tenants, the term ‘tenant’ or ‘you’ applies to each of you and the
names of all joint tenants should be written above. Each tenant individually has the full
responsibilities and rights set out in this tenancy agreement.
The address of the property rented in this agreement is: INSERT ADDRESS
The property is a INSERT NUMBER OF BEDROOMS AND PROPERTY TYPE, AND
WHETHER IT IS GENERAL NEEDS/SHELTERED.
The tenancy:
You have a secure tenancy under the Housing Act 1985 OR an introductory tenancy under
the Housing Act 1996. The tenancy starts on INSERT DATE and is a weekly periodic
tenancy.
Tenancy reference number: INSERT
Rent details
The weekly payments for your home (including any charge for services provided under this
tenancy) at the start of this tenancy are set out below. These are reviewed on an annual
basis.
Net rent
Water charge
Sewage charge
Heating charge
Service charge(s)
Total weekly charge:

£ INSERT
£ INSERT
£ INSERT
£ INSERT
£ INSERT
£ INSERT

Your rent reference number is INSERT. You may need to refer to this number when paying
your rent.
Debt from a previous tenancy – DELETE WHERE NOT APPLICABLE
I confirm that on DATE, I owe South Holland District Council a total of £INSERT for a
previous tenancy at ADDRESS and agree to pay £XXX every week, or such other rate as we
may agree from time-to-time, until the debt is cleared.
It is a term of this tenancy agreement that you repay the debt of your former tenancy at the
rate set out above. Nonpayment of this debt, will be considered a breach of your tenancy.
We have the right to ask the court to make an order against you for possession of your
home.

Page 90
Page 2 of 27

Property condition
Photographs are attached to this document to show the condition of the property at point of
tenancy commencement. ENSURE PHOTOS ATTACHED
Garden details
None / Shared / Sole use.
Utility meter readings
Electric
Gas (where applicable)
Water (where applicable)

INSERT
INSERT
INSERT

Issue of keys:
You have been issued with XX set(s) of keys for doors. Keys for the windows will be in the
property. You are responsible for the safekeeping and replacement of all keys for the doors
and windows.
I confirm that:
 The information I gave in my housing application or transfer application was and is still
true.
 I understand that sharing inaccurate information may be considered a breach of
tenancy and I may lose my home.
 I do not own any residential property elsewhere in the world.
 I agree to accept the property in its current condition.
I have been given an opportunity to read the tenancy agreement and now agree to follow the
terms and conditions.
Tenant’s signature

Tenant’s name

Date

Tenant’s signature

Tenant’s name

Date

Signed on behalf of South Holland District Council
Officer’s signature

Officer’s name

Page
Page
3 of 91
27

Date

Contents
1. About your tenancy agreement
2. Your rent and other charges
3. Living in your home
4. Fire safety
5. Communal areas
6. Access to your home
7. Looking after your garden
8. Keeping animals and pets
9. Vehicles and parking
10. Repairs and maintenance
11. Structural changes, alterations, improvements or additions
12. Criminal and anti-social behaviour
13. Ending your tenancy
14. Succession
15. Assignment
16. Additional rights (secure tenants only)
17. Charging you
18. When you need our written permission
19. Tenant Involvement and Consultation
20. Service of notice
21. How we use your information
22. Contact us
23. Definitions

Page 92
Page 4 of 27

1. About your tenancy agreement
1.1 Welcome
It is important that we make it clear from the start of your tenancy what you
can expect of us and in turn, what we can expect from you during your
tenancy.
This document sets out your rights and responsibilities, and our
responsibilities to you as your landlord under this tenancy agreement.
We are committed to ensuring that your home and the services we provide are of
high quality. We want you to live in a peaceful neighbourhood free from anti-social
behaviour.
We expect you to take pride in your home and garden, and allow us to carry out
repairs and inspections when required. You must be a good neighbour by not
causing nuisance, annoyance or disturbance to people nearby. We expect you to
respect our staff, agents and contractors. You must pay your rent and any service
charge in full and on time.

This
agreement
should be
read in
conjunction
with the
Tenants’
Handbook.
Further
information
on each item
is included in
the Tenants’
Handbook.

1.2 Your agreement
This tenancy agreement is a legal contract describing the terms and conditions of
your tenancy and your rights and responsibilities as a tenant. This document
describes either your secure tenancy under the terms of the Housing Act 1985, or
your introductory tenancy under the Housing Act 1996.
You are responsible for the behaviour of every person in your household
including children and people living in or visiting the property. You are
responsible for their behaviour in the property, in communal areas and in the
locality.
If we fail to meet our responsibilities under this agreement, we expect you to
tell us and give us the opportunity to put things right. If you break your side of
the agreement, we will tell you and, wherever possible, give you a chance to
put things right. If you fail to take this opportunity then we will take legal
action and you may lose your home. We feel this approach is fair to ensure
that all our residents can live happily in their homes.

Some of the rights and responsibilities of the Council under this tenancy agreement
may be exercised or provided by other agencies on behalf of the Council. Those
agencies may enforce this tenancy agreement on the Council’s behalf including
recovery of any payments due.
Where any term or condition of this tenancy agreement requires you to get
permission from the Council, such permission will not be unreasonably withheld, but
it may be given subject to conditions. Permission may be withdrawn if conditions
are not met.
Any reference to an Act of Parliament or regulation within this tenancy agreement
includes any subsequent amendments to such legislation or regulations.

Page 93
Page 5 of 27

Unless the contrary is stated or implied, the rights and obligations set out in this
tenancy agreement are intended to replicate the rights and obligations established
by statute, such as by the Housing Act 1985, Part IV and the Housing Act 1996 Part
V. The contrary may be implied where, for example, rights and obligations are set
out in the contract that either are not addressed by statute or where the statute gives
the Council a discretion.
In the event that any part of this tenancy agreement becomes, illegal, invalid or
unenforceable, the remainder of this agreement will continue to be valid and
enforceable.

The Council
has the
option of
extending
your
introductory
tenancy by
an additional
six months if
you have not
kept to the
terms and
conditions of
the tenancy.

1.3 What is an introductory tenancy?
An introductory tenancy is a trial period for the first 12 months (unless extended).
You will automatically become a secure tenant at the end of the introductory period
if you keep to the terms and conditions of this tenancy agreement, and the Council
has not started possession proceedings during the introductory period.
As long as you do not breach the terms of this agreement, you will become a
secure tenant on: XXXDATE
An introductory tenant has fewer rights than a secure tenant and you can be evicted
much more easily than a secure tenant if you do not comply with the terms and
conditions of your tenancy.
Before taking action to extend your introductory tenancy or evict you, the Council
must advise you of the following:
 the intention to evict you/extend the tenancy
 the reasons why
 how you can request a review of the decision.
1.4 What is a secure tenancy?
As a secure tenant, you can live in the property for as long as you wish, so long as
you follow the conditions of your tenancy. We can end your tenancy by applying to
court for an order for possession as per the Housing Act 1985 or we can apply to the
court to demote your tenancy so you have fewer rights.
With our permission, secure tenants have the right to:
 buy their home
 exchange their home
 take in a lodger
 sub-let part of their home
 make improvements to their property.

Your rent is
due until the
end of your
tenancy. See
ending your
tenancy
section 13.

2. Your rent and other charges
2.1 Rent
This is a weekly periodic tenancy which may start on any day of the week. The term
“rent” includes the weekly rent, service charges and any other weekly charges due
for the property.

Page 94
Page 6 of 27

When you sign the tenancy agreement you will be required to pay up to four weeks
rent in advance including any proportion of a week’s rent if this tenancy commences
on any day other than a Monday. This is a prepayment of rent and not a deposit.
2.2 Paying your rent – your responsibilities
Thereafter you must pay the rent and any other charges due for the property under
this tenancy agreement.
Please see your Tenants’ Handbook for ways to pay your rent.

You may be
entitled to
help with
your rent in
the form of
Housing
Benefit or
Universal
Credit. Your
Housing
Officer can
advise you
how to claim
these
benefits.

You may pay your rent weekly or for a longer period such as fortnightly, four-weekly
or monthly but it must be paid at least one week in advance.
If you are joint tenants you are each responsible for all the rent, other charges
and for any arrears. The Council can recover all rent, other charges and any
arrears owed for your tenancy from any individual joint tenant (whether they
remain living at the property or otherwise).
It is your responsibility to claim for Housing Benefit/Universal Credit. You must
ensure that you provide all the information requested and update the provider of any
changes in your personal circumstances.
2.3 Service charges
We have the right to change any of the services we provide and the charges we
make for these services. We can change the services at any time, but will consult
with you first. We will give you four weeks' notice of any changes. We also have the
right to change the amount we charge you for services.
We will give you at least 4 weeks’ notice in writing if we change the service
charge. The Notice will state the new service charge and when you must start
paying it.
You must accept the level of services we provide. Failure to engage with/pay for the
services provided will be considered a breach of this agreement. We have the right
to take court action to enforce this agreement or seek possession of your home. We
will charge you the costs of taking you to court.

We review
your rent
amount
annually.

2.4 Changes to the rent
We may change your rent at any time – this usually happens in April. We will give
you at least four weeks' notice in writing if we change the rent. The Notice will state
the new rent and when you must start to pay it.
2.5 Difficulty paying your rent
You must inform the Council immediately if you have any difficulty paying your
rent. We can support you to get back on track.

You cannot
be evicted
from your
home without
a court order.

If you do not pay your rent, or repeatedly pay it late, we may apply to the court for a
possession order as per the Housing Act 1985 and 1996. This could result in your
tenancy ending and everyone living in your home being evicted. We can ask the
court that you pay the Council’s legal costs.

Page 95
Page 7 of 27

The Council reserves the right to deduct money for rent, former tenant arrears, or
outstanding court Costs from any money paid to you by the Council as your
landlord, for example, as compensation for damage to your property or
decorations, or for home loss and disturbance.
Utilities
include your
gas, electric,
water,
sewerage
provisions
and council
tax.

2.6 Utilities
You are responsible for paying direct to the supplier, other organisation, or authority
all the charges that apply to your home.

3. Living in your home
3.1 Your only home
You must occupy the property as your only or principal home. You must move
into your property on the day the tenancy starts.
If you don’t use the property as your only or principal home, we will take action to
end the tenancy by serving a notice to quit. This notice can take any form.

We will
conduct
periodic home
visits.

If requested by the Council, you must provide proof:
 of your identity and the identity of anyone living with you; and
 that you are living in the property as your only or principal home.
3.2 Joint tenants
If you are a joint tenant, you have the same rights and responsibilities as the
other joint tenant. You cannot split those rights and responsibilities. If one
tenant breaks the tenancy agreement, we hold all the joint tenants
responsible. While your name is on the tenancy agreement, you are
responsible for all the tenancy conditions, including paying the rent, even if
you no longer live at the property.
If one joint tenant gives notice in writing to end the tenancy, it ends the whole
tenancy, even if it was given without the knowledge or consent of the other joint
tenant. You cannot withdraw the notice. The remaining tenant will not have an
automatic right to stay in the home after one of the joint tenants has ended the
tenancy.
3.3 Being away from your home

This includes
if you are in
hospital or
prison

If you plan to be away from your home for more than 28 days, you must notify
your Housing Officer of:
 the dates of your absence; and
 the name and contact details of a nominated key holder in case of
emergencies.
 You must ask our permission to appoint a caretaker. Permission will
not unreasonably be withheld.

Page 96
Page 8 of 27

3.4 Abandonment
Please see
section 3.3
about being
away from
your home

We may serve a notice to quit to end your tenancy if you cease to occupy your
home as your only or principal home, and do not return the keys to us/let us
have written notice that you are leaving.
If you do not contact us before this notice to quit expires and do not take up
occupation of the property, we will consider that your tenancy has ended and take
possession of the home.
We will store any items left in the home, but not rubbish or damaged goods. We will
serve a notice under the provisions of section 41 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, telling you when you must collect your
possessions. We will give you at least 28 days to do this. We will send the notice to
your last known address or any forwarding address that you have given to us, or in
the absence of such an address, may affix it to the property. If the items are not
collected, we will dispose of them and charge you our reasonable costs of disposal
and storage.

A copy of the
Allocations
Policy is
available at
www.sholland.
gov.uk

3.5 Overcrowding
You must not allow new occupiers to move into your home where this would result in
overcrowding under the Council’s Allocations and Lettings policy.
3.6 Running a business from home
You or any member of your household must not run a business from your home
without obtaining prior written permission from the Council. Permission is at our
discretion, may be conditional, and may be revoked at any time.
3.7 Personal property and insurance
You are responsible for your personal property and the decoration of the interior of
your home. We are not responsible for the loss or damage to any personal property
unless the damage or loss is caused by the Council’s negligence.
We strongly recommend that you have contents insurance in place.

Please
contact your
Housing
Officer if you
need support
managing
your tenancy

3.8 Support providers
You or any member of your household must co-operate with any assessment for, or
offer of support providers to enable you to maintain your tenancy.
3.9 Covenants
Where the Council is notified of a covenant affecting the land, tenants will be asked
to adhere to the restrictions of this covenant. We will notify you in writing of any
covenants in place.

4. Fire safety
4.1 Bonfires
You or any member of your household or visitors must not light bonfires in your
garden or in any communal area. Any fireworks must be used safely and in line with
manufacturer’s instructions. Fire pits, barbeques, chimineas and braziers must be
used in accordance with manufacturer’s instructions.

Page 97
Page 9 of 27

4.2 Flammable material
You or any member of your household or visitors are only permitted to keep bottled
gas, paraffin, petrol, LPG, acid or any other hazardous material in safe and secure
storage and in suitable storage containers. You can only keep a limited amount of
such material that is reasonable for domestic use. You must not keep such
materials in any communal areas.
4.3 Gas and electricity safety
You or any member of your household or visitors must not tamper with gas or
electricity supplies or with utility meters.
4.4 Smoke and carbon monoxide detectors
You are responsible for maintaining any battery-operated smoke or carbon
monoxide detector(s) that we have installed. You are responsible for ensuring the
detectors are in good working order. You must not tamper with or damage any
smoke or carbon monoxide detector(s).
4.5 Emergency services access
You or any member of your household or visitors must not obstruct access to
emergency service vehicles in any way. Your vehicle may be removed if it is
blocking such access.

5. Communal areas
You or any member of your household or visitors must not interfere with security
or safety equipment in blocks of flats. You must not jam, prop or leave shared
entrance doors open. You must not use any power supplies in communal
areas for your own use.
5.1 Smoking
You or any member of your household or visitors must not smoke or use e-cigarettes
in communal areas of the building.
Information on
rubbish
collection is
available at
www.sholland.
gov.uk

5.2 Rubbish
You or any member of your household or visitors must dispose of rubbish correctly
in containers/bin areas provided by the Council. You or any member of your
household or visitors must not leave refuse bags, sacks, containers of recycling or
any other items outside your front door or in the communal areas.
5.3 Storage of items
You or any member of your household or visitors must not store items in any
communal areas such as hallways and landings. This includes personal belongings
(such as bicycles, mobility scooters and push chairs), rubbish or dangerous items.
We will remove and dispose of any objects found in communal areas. You may be
required to pay for the cost of the removal and disposal of such items.
5.4 Lifts
You or any member of your household or visitors must not interfere with the lift
system or wedge lift doors open. You or any member of your household or visitors
must not urinate, defecate, graffiti or leave rubbish in the lifts.
5.5 Exterior of buildings
You or any member of your household or visitors must not fix any item to the outside

Page 98
Page 10 of 27

walls. You or any member of your household or visitors must not allow or permit
external window boxes or plants to be placed on any window sills.

6. Access to your home
You have a right to occupy your home in peace so long as you comply with this
tenancy agreement. You are required to give access to the Council, our agents or
contractors as required by this agreement.
Contractors
and staff will
wear
identification.
Please ask to
see
identification.

You or any adult member of your household must allow Council employees,
their contractors, agents or other statutory bodies to enter your home (at
reasonable hours) when you have been given reasonable written notice
(usually 24 hours). Examples include, but are not limited to:
 carrying out maintenance, repairs, improvements or other works
 carrying out gas safety checks or electrical safety checks,
 inspecting the condition of the property.
You or any member of your household must make sure your property is safe for
anyone accessing your home for any lawful reason, including gaining access to
roofs and loft spaces. You must ensure that your belongings do not affect access.
You, members of your household or visitors must ensure that all animals are kept
under control at all times, including when you are visited by the Council’s
employees, contractors or agents.
We will take legal action to gain access to your home, if you or any member of
your household refuses access. You may also have to pay the costs of this
legal action.
6.1 Emergency access

It is important
that we have
your most
recent contact
details.

In an emergency, we will make all reasonable attempts to contact you (by the
contact details you have provided) to obtain access to your home. However,
should we fail to make contact, or it not be reasonable in the circumstances to
contact you, the Council, or any person authorised by the Council, has the
right to enter your home without giving any notice.

We have a duty of care to residents so it is important that we have rapid access to
the property in emergency situations.
An emergency includes but is not limited to situations where:
 there is an imminent risk of physical harm to any person, or
 there is significant damage to the property or any other property in the
locality, or
 the property is unoccupied and inadequately secured against unauthorised
entry or vandalism.
We, our contractors or agents may do whatsoever is reasonably required to deal
with the emergency in an appropriate manner. We will make good any damage

Page Page
99 11 of 27

caused when entering the property. We will secure the property against
unauthorized entry.
You may be liable for any costs incurred by your failure to provide reasonable
access in an emergency, when access has been unreasonably refused, or if the
emergency is caused from neglect.

7. Looking after your garden
We will
complete
periodic
inspections of
your garden.

You must keep all paths and garden areas within your home neat and tidy lawns must be cut, hedges trimmed and trees pruned. The garden area must
be tidy and free from rubbish, pests, and animal waste or faeces.
You must ensure that trees, hedges or bushes do not cause damage,
nuisance or obstruction.
You are responsible for maintaining fences.
We will contact you if we have concerns about your garden and ask you to complete
work within a reasonable timeframe. We may complete the work and charge you for
this if you are not willing to complete the work and there is no good reason why you
or a member or your household cannot do the work. If you are not willing to
complete the required work, we may also take legal action. Please see section 12,
Criminal, Nuisance and Antisocial Behaviour, of this agreement.
You must get our written permission before you:
 install decking, a conservatory, greenhouse, fence, wall, garage, shed, patio,
animal enclosure, fishpond, pool or other structure in your garden
 remove, damage or destroy any trees
 remove, alter or replace any fencing or boundary
 plant trees.

8. Keeping animals and pets
You may keep, up to 2 small caged birds, 1 small fish tank or 1 small caged
rodent. You must not keep any other type of animal at the property without
prior written permission from the Council. Property type and animal type will
be taken into account. Any permission given relates to this property only and
will be reviewed if you move house.
Permission to keep dogs will not be given to tenants living in flats or bedsits with a
communal entrance, unless the animal is recognised as an official support
companion. Permission will not be given to store cockerels.
You must not:
 breed animals at the property
 keep any breed of dangerous dog as per section 1(1) of the Dangerous Dogs
Act 1991, or keep any illegal breed of animal as per Dangerous Wild Animals
Act 1976 or similar
 tether any livestock on any Council land
 allow any animal to cause a nuisance, annoyance or disturbance to

Page 100
Page 12 of 27





neighbours or others lawfully in the locality of your home,
allow any animal to behave in an intimidating, aggressive or dangerous
manner
carry out acts of cruelty to animals. Cases will be reported to the RSPCA or
the police
build any animal enclosures without our permission.

Any permission given relates to this property only and if you move house, you must
request permission for all animals. We have the right to withdraw at any time any
permission implied by this agreement or expressly given. If permission is withdrawn,
you must remove the animal from the property immediately.

9. Vehicles and parking
You or any member of your household must not keep more than 3 motor
vehicles at your property without written permission. Motor vehicles must be
parked on hardstanding (not grass).

Please see
your Tenants’
Handbook for
information
around
arranging for
a dropped
kerb.

Written permission must be sought from the Council before parking a trailer,
caravan, campervan, large van, lorry, food truck, or boat within the boundary of your
property. This is to ensure appropriate space and hardstanding is available. We
have the right to withdraw this permission.
You or any member of your household or visitors must not drive across a kerb or
grassed areas to access the property. We will inform Lincolnshire County Council’s
Highways Department of tenants that repeatedly drive over raised kerbs.
You or any member of your household or visitors must not dismantle or carry out
major repairs to vehicles at your property. You must not allow the premises to be
used as a scrap metal or rubbish store, vehicle store or tyre store. Any repair work
required to the property as a result of storage of vehicles or repairing vehicles will be
charged to you.
You or any member of your household or visitors must not keep mopeds or
motorbikes or any other vehicle inside the property or in indoor communal areas.

10. Repairs and maintenance
Information on
rubbish
collection is
available at
www.sholland.
gov.uk

10.1 Condition of your home - your responsibilities
You must keep your home clean, free from pests and in reasonable condition.
You or any member of your household must dispose of rubbish appropriately.
You and any member of your household must not allow a build-up of personal
property, rubbish or other items in the property that:
 causes or is likely to cause damage or deterioration to the property; or
 poses a health or fire risk; or
 prevents safe access to or exit from your property.
You must not access or store any belongings in loft spaces. You must keep access

Page Page
10113 of 27

to the loft clear so that contractors or our officers can carry out inspections or
repairs.
You must comply with any health and safety advice we give you during your
tenancy.
You are responsible for decorating the interior of your home. You must obtain the
Council’s prior written permission before you install floor tiles, laminate/wooden
flooring, or flooring of a similar nature. Permission will not be granted (unless in
exceptional circumstances) to tenants living in flats and bed-sits.
You must request permission to install satellite dishes. Permission will be subject to
conditions and may be revoked at any time.
You, any member of your household, or visitor must not deliberately or
negligently damage your home or any communal areas. You may be
responsible for the costs involved with repairing any such damage.
You must not do anything which increases the risk of fire, flood or damage to your
property or adjoining properties. You may be responsible for repairing any damage
as a result of not using your home in a responsible manner.
You must keep all grates, grids, drains and gullies clean and clear, except gutters
that catch water from the roof, which are our responsibility.
Your
handbook
contains
information on
how to
ventilate your
property

You can report
a repair by
calling 01775
761161 or
emailing
info@sholland.
gov.uk

You must make sure that at all times there is adequate ventilation and heating
within your home and follow any advice given by the Council to prevent
condensation. You may be responsible for any repair work if condensation
occurs as a result of failing to adequately heat or ventilate your home, unless it
occurs as a result of disrepair in the property.

10.2 Repairs - The Council’s responsibilities
The Council is responsible for repairing and maintaining:
 the structure and exterior of the property (including drains, gutters, external
pipes, windows, outside doors, roofs and external decoration);
 the installations in the property for the supply of water, gas and electricity
and for sanitation (including basins, sinks, baths and sanitary conveniences
but not other fixtures, fittings and equipment for making use of the supply of
water, gas or electricity);
 the installations in the property for space heating and heating water.
 all communal areas such as shared entrance doors, staircases, hallways,
lighting in corridors and door-entry systems.
You or someone acting on your behalf must immediately report any repairs,
defects or damage to your home which are the Council’s responsibility. You
The
Council
materials
andrepair(s)
equipment
from
the
must
allowwill
theremove
Councilits
to rubbish,
arrange building
for inspection
and/or
to be
carried
property
upon
completion
of
the
work.
You
may
be
entitled
to
compensation
if we
out.
fail within a reasonable time to carry out a repair that is our responsibility.
10.3 Moving out temporarily (decanting)
You may be required to temporarily move out of your home if we need to carry out

Page 102
Page 14 of 27

repairs or other works to your home, and we cannot reasonably do so while you live
there. We will provide you with alternative temporary accommodation while we do
the work. Once works are completed, you will be required to leave your temporary
accommodation and move back to your original permanent property. We have the
right to take possession of your temporary property once work on your original
property is finished.

Examples of
repairs that
are the
tenant’s
responsibility
are set out in
your Tenants’
Handbook.

10.4 Repairs - your responsibilities
Not all repairs are the Council’s responsibility. If the repair is your responsibility, we
will give you the opportunity to carry out the repair yourself (to a set standard and
within a reasonable time) or pay us to complete the repair for you. You must allow
access to the property for inspection and/or repair.
If you are the victim of criminal damage to any part of your home, you must report
the matter to the Police and get a crime reference number. We will carry out the
repair at no charge to you if we are satisfied that the damage was not caused by
you, for example vandalism. If we are not satisfied, we will charge you for the cost of
the repairs.
10.5 Charges
Any reasonable costs or liability incurred by the Council as a result of you
breaching or failing to perform any part of this tenancy agreement will be
repayable in full by you upon your receipt of an invoice from the Council.
The Council or its contractors may, but are not obliged to, carry out any clearing,
remedial works or repairs as a result of any breach by you of any part of this tenancy
agreement. You may be charged the cost of any remedial or clearing works or
repairs carried out by the Council or contractors. You may be charged these costs
after the tenancy ends if the work is done after you have moved out of your property.

You will be
required to
pay for repairs
up front, or set
up a payment
arrangement,
before the
repairs are
completed.

Work that we will charge includes (but is not limited to):
 repairs that are not the responsibility of the landlord;
 rectifying any work to the property that you have carried out without
the necessary written permission of the Council or any substandard
work;
 rectifying damage caused deliberately or by your failure to comply
with your repairing duties or failure to maintain your own equipment;
 changing the locks of and otherwise securing the property if you
abandon it;
 abuse of the emergency out of hours repair service for nonemergency repairs;
 clearing the property of belongings or rubbish (including animals);
 replacing missing or broken keys;
 clearing the garden;
 any repairs that are agreed by the landlord and tenant to support
the sustainment of the tenancy.

You agree that we can use any money at any time due to you from the Council as
your landlord, towards any liability you have to pay charges under this section.

Page Page
10315 of 27

10.6 Gas safety checks
We will annually inspect gas service pipes and gas fired equipment for which
the Council has a statutory duty to inspect and maintain. You must provide
access for this and for any repairs that are required.
We will apply for an injunction through the courts if you refuse access. If access is
refused after an injunction is obtained we will ask the court to make a possession
order. The court costs can be passed onto you.
10.7 Electrical inspections
We will periodically inspect electrical wiring and installations that the Council
has a statutory duty to inspect and maintain. You must provide access for this
and for any repairs that are required.
We will apply for an injunction through the courts if you refuse access. If access is
refused after an injunction is obtained we will ask the court to make a possession
order. The court costs can be passed onto you.

11. Structural changes, alterations, improvements or
additions
Introductory
tenants do not
have the right
to make
alterations or
improvements
to their home,
but are able to
decorate.

11.1 Your right to make alterations or improvements
If you are a secure tenant, you must not make improvements, additions or
structural alterations to the property without getting the Council’s written
permission first. You must not make any improvements, additions or structural
alterations to communal areas.
It is your responsibility to obtain the relevant planning, building control or any other
legal permission prior to starting any work. Improvements, structural alterations and
additions include (this list is not exhaustive):
 alterations to the gas, electrical and water installations including central
heating;
 installing security grills on doors and/or windows;
 kitchens and bathrooms alterations;
 internal door alterations ;
 installing floor tiles, laminate or wooden flooring (or flooring of a similar
nature);
 installing security lighting and CCTV;
 installing sheds, other structures, ponds, pools, garden walls or patios;
 removing, replacing or installing fencing;
 installing wood burning stoves;
 adding textured coatings to the internal walls and/or ceilings of your home;
 painting, adding render or other external finish to the exterior of your home.
You must not make any installations or alterations which may be unsafe or
dangerous to anyone. This includes deep ponds, swimming pools, removing or
knocking down walls or parts of walls.

Page 104
Page 16 of 27

We can tell you to return the property to how it was before if you do not have
permission to make an improvement, addition or structural alteration, or do not
complete the work to the required standard. We may do the work and charge you
for it, or may seek possession of your home.
11.2 Consultation
We will consult tenants who are likely to be substantially affected by any proposed
major repairs and/or improvement schemes.
11.3 Rebuilding
We are not required to rebuild or reinstate your home in the case of destruction,
serious structural damage or deterioration. We will ensure alternative housing is
provided so long as the destruction, serious structural damage or deterioration is not
as a result of a tenancy breach.

12. Criminal and anti-social behaviour
The Council does not tolerate anti-social behaviour and will take action
whenever necessary and/or when appropriate.
Further
information on
nuisance and
harassment is
available in
the tenants’
handbook.

Anti-social behaviour includes a wide range of unacceptable behaviour that affects
the quality of life for residents and others living or working in the community. The
types of behaviour that we consider anti-social include:









Domestic violence and abuse
Physical violence
Hate-related incidents (e.g. based on race, sexual orientation, gender,
disability or belief)
Verbal abuse, harassment, intimidation or threatening behaviour
Vandalism and damage to properties
Prostitution, sexual acts or kerb crawling
Criminal behaviour
Misuse of communal areas, public areas or loitering.

12.1 Our responsibilities
In the first instance, we expect you to do all that you can to resolve any issues
that arise regarding your neighbours.
If a problem persists, we will take appropriate action and involve other agencies, if
necessary, to bring matters to a conclusion.
We can address anti-social behaviour through a range of legal mechanisms
including demoting tenancies, fixed penalties, court orders and gaining
possession of your home. This list is not exhaustive and the Council will
consider which action is proportionate in all the circumstances. You are
expected to engage with mediation services if this is recommended by the
Council.

Page Page
10517 of 27

We may apply to the court for possession of your home if you or a member of your
household or visitor:
 is convicted of an indictable offence or a serious offence committed in the
locality of your property, or
 is convicted of an indictable offence related to rioting anywhere in England or
Wales.
12.2 Your responsibilities
You or any member of your household or visitors must not engage in
behaviour which causes or is likely to cause a nuisance or annoyance to
anyone else in the locality.
You or any member of your household or visitors must not carry out or use
your home or any communal areas or locality for any criminal, immoral,
unlawful or anti-social activity.
You must be considerate of your neighbours and not unreasonably
interfere with enjoyment of their property.
You and anyone who lives in or visits your property must not do anything
or anything likely to harass, intimidate, abuse or cause a nuisance,
annoyance or disturbance to any of the following:
 neighbours
 local residents
 visitors to the area
 employees, agents or contractors of the Council
 any other person living in, visiting or engaging in a lawful activity.
This includes within your home, garden, communal areas, and the locality
of your home.

Please
contact your
Housing
Officer if you
are
experiencing
domestic
abuse. We
can support
you.

You must not make malicious or false allegations against another person. If you do,
this may result in legal action being taken against you.
12.3 Domestic Abuse
You or anyone who lives in your home must not use or threaten to use
violence or abuse (including physical, psychological, sexual, emotional abuse,
restricting
financial
intimidate
any
person
children)
Weormay
take legal
actioncontrol),
againstor
you,
if anyone
living
with(including
you or visiting
you who
livingacts
with of
you.
carries
domestic abuse. This could result in us evicting you from your home.

13. Ending your tenancy
13.1 When the Council plans to end your tenancy
Introductory tenancies:
The Council will only take steps to recover possession of your home in the following
circumstances:
a) If you break any of the terms or conditions of this tenancy agreement. (If the
court grants the Council a possession order this could ultimately result in the
termination of your tenancy and everyone living in your home being evicted)

Page 106
Page 18 of 27

b) Where the sole tenant dies and there is no person who is qualiﬁed to
succeed to the tenancy
c) If the property ceases to be your only or principal home or you sub-let the
whole of the property or you otherwise abandon the property. In this case,
the Council may end the tenancy by serving you with a ‘notice to quit’.
Secure tenancies:
The Council will only take steps to recover possession of your home in the following
circumstances:
a) If you break any of the terms or conditions of this tenancy agreement. (If the
court grants the Council a possession order this could ultimately result in the
termination of your tenancy and everyone living in your home being evicted)
b) Where any of the grounds of Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1985, as in force
from time-to-time, are made out
c) Where the sole tenant dies and there is no person who is qualiﬁed to
succeed to the tenancy
d) If the property ceases to be your only or principal home or you sub-let the
whole of the property or you otherwise abandon the property. In this case,
the Council may end the tenancy by serving you with a ‘notice to quit’.
13.2 When you plan to end the tenancy
You must give the Council at least four weeks written notice if you wish to end
your tenancy.
The tenancy and notice must end on a Sunday. If you are joint tenants, one tenant
can end the tenancy by giving the Council notice to quit, whether or not that notice is
given with or without the consent and knowledge of the other joint tenant. This will
end the tenancy for all joint tenants regardless of who has given the notice. You
cannot withdraw the notice.
The Council may accept shorter notice or notice ending on a day other than a Sunday,
but we are not obliged to do so. Both parties will need to be in agreement if the tenancy is
a joint tenancy.
13.3 After notice has been served
You must allow Council staff access to the property (at a pre-arranged date) for an
inspection and to conduct viewings for future tenants. At least 24 hours notice will
be given.
You must return all keys for the property (including gas and electric meter keys
where appropriate) to South Holland District Council Offices, Priory Road,
Spalding by 12 noon on the working day after your notice expires.
If you hand your keys back before the notice date expires:
 you will still be charged rent until the date the notice expires; and
 you hereby give us permission to enter the property during the notice period
to undertake any inspections work.
You agree that we may accept the keys from another person where it reasonably
appears that the other person is returning the keys on your behalf.

Page Page
10719 of 27

If you leave the property after giving notice and fail to return the keys, we will
change the locks and charge the cost to you.
You must not leave anyone else living in the property when you move out. If you
leave anyone in the property, we will treat them as a trespasser and take legal
action to evict them.
13.4 Rent and charges to be paid
You must pay your rent in full before you leave. If you cannot clear your rent in
full, you must ensure that you leave a forwarding address and make an
arrangement to pay the balance.
You will be responsible for paying the rent or a sum equivalent to rent until whichever
of the following dates is the latest:
 the date upon which any notice to terminate expires, or
 the date upon which you leave the property and give back vacant possession
of the property, or
 in the event of you failing to give written notice or to return the keys, the date
upon which we take possession.
We will take action to recover outstanding rent or recharges by:
 deducting the debt from any money that we owe you
 issuing you with an invoice for the debt
 sharing your details with a debt collection agency
 applying for a County Court Judgment.
You must also make regular payments towards any other debts such as chargeable
repairs, or arrears and other debts from a former South Holland District Council
tenancy. By signing this agreement, you are agreeing to repay this debt. If you do
not repay the debt, you will be in breach of this agreement and we have the right to
ask the court to make an order against you for possession of your home.
13.5 Property condition
You must leave the property in a clean and tidy condition, clear of all personal
property, furniture and rubbish. This includes the loft space, garden, garage,
shed or any other outbuilding or land you are responsible for. You must leave
the fixtures and fittings and any furnishings we have provided in reasonable,
clean condition also.
If you have kept pets, you must ensure the property is free of any flea
infestation.
You must repair any damage (however caused) prior to leaving the property. If you
fail to repair any damage, you must pay the costs incurred by the Council in carrying
out those repairs. This also includes rectifying any alterations or additions you have
made without permission or which have not been carried out correctly, or to the
required legal standard.
We will store any items left in the property, but not rubbish or damaged goods.
Animals will be removed. We will serve a notice under the provisions of section 41 of

Page 108
Page 20 of 27

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, telling you when you
must collect your possessions. We will give you at least 28 days to do this. We will
send the notice to your last known address or any forwarding address that you have
given to us, or in the absence of such an address, may affix it to the property. If the
items are not collected, we will dispose of them and charge you our reasonable
costs of disposal and storage.
You must notify utility companies once you have moved out and provide them with a
copy of your meter reading at the point you leave or you may incur additional
charges.
13.6 Additional charges

Please remember that we will charge you and you agree to pay for any of
the following at the end of your tenancy:
 rent up until the day your tenancy should have ended (if you do not
end the tenancy properly)
 the costs to clear rubbish or personal belongings left behind in the
property or within the boundaries of the property
 the costs to clean the property if left in an unhygienic condition
 the costs involved in repairing damage to the property including
putting right any alterations made to the property without permission,
or changing locks
 the legal cost to remove anyone that you leave remaining in the
property.

14. Succession
In all cases,
your Housing
Officer will be
able to offer
further
advice.

Succession is the transfer of your tenancy to someone after you have died.
The law states that only certain people can succeed to your tenancy and
certain conditions have to be met.
There can only be one succession to an introductory or secure tenancy.
Some assignments count as a succession.
If you inherited your tenancy from a relative, there is no further right to
succession.
If you are a joint secure tenant or a joint introductory tenant, the tenancy will
automatically pass to the surviving tenant when you die.
The spouse (husband/wife), civil partner or cohabiting partner of a sole tenant can
succeed to the tenancy if they were living in the property (as their only or principal
home) at the time of death of the tenant. In the case of introductory tenants, the
cohabiting partner will have to show that they lived together for atleast 12 months
before the tenant’s death.
If there is no spouse, civil partner or cohabiting partner, no one else can succeed to
a secure tenancy.

Page Page
10921 of 27

Another family member (as defined by s140 of the Housing Act 1996) may be able
to succeed to an introductory tenancy, provided that they resided at the property as
their only or principal home at the time of the tenant’s death, and resided with the
tenant for at least 12 months before their death.
We may seek possession of the property where, following succession, the property
becomes under occupied or the property is occupied by people that do not have a
need for the property type or adaptations. In such cases, we will provide suitable
alternative accommodation in accordance with our allocations policy.

15. Assignment
In all cases,
your Housing
Officer will be
able to offer
further
advice.

As a secure or an introductory tenant, you may be able to assign your
tenancy to another person. You must get our written permission before doing
assigning your tenancy (unless the court orders the assignment).
Tenancies can be assigned in the following ways:
 by way of a ‘mutual exchange’
 by assigning the tenancy to a person that would be able to inherit the
tenancy by way of succession if you died. (This will count as a
succession)
 a court order following a relationship breakdown.

You must gain written permission to assign your tenancy. Assignments will not be
granted where the tenant has:
 rent arrears
 the Council has started eviction proceedings against the tenant
 the property has been adapted for a person with disabilities and there would
no longer be a person with those disabilities living in the property
 the tenant is otherwise in substantial breach of the tenancy agreement, for
example the property is in a poor condition due to damage or neglect by the
tenant or the tenant’s failure to notify the Council of repairs that are required.
This section
applies to
secure
tenants only.
Further
information is
available in
the Tenants’
Handbook.

16. Additional rights
Right to take in a lodger
You can take in lodger(s) to share your home with you as long as you do not
overcrowd the property.
You must provide us with the name and age of the person before they move in. You
agree not to allow a person to move in or will ask them to leave, if we notify you that
they are an unsuitable lodger by way of previous anti-social or criminal activity that
is known to us.
Right to sub-let
You can sub-let part of your home but you must get our written permission first.
You must not sub-let all of your home. If you sub-let the whole of your home you will

Page 110
Page 22 of 27

lose security of tenure, which cannot be regained, and we can evict you by serving a
Notice to Quit.
Right to exchange
You can exchange your home with another tenant of a local authority or
provider.
We can refuse to consent to an exchange on grounds set out in legislation. We may
grant permission subject to property condition being improved. You and the other
tenant must have written permission from each landlord before you exchange.
Right to buy
You can buy your home, if you qualify to do so.

Right to improve
You can make improvements as long as you get our written permission first.
We will only refuse permission if we have a good reason for doing so.
Right to manage
You can set up a Tenant Management Organisation to manage the Council’s
housing stock.

17. Charging you
We will not make any charges if the court or the law says that we cannot do so.
If any of the conditions say that we can charge you our costs, we will only charge
you our reasonable costs, which you agree to pay. We will write to you, letting you
know the amount of costs in each case. We will also explain why we are asking you
to pay them.
If we are aiming to recover our legal costs because of legal action we are taking
against you, this means that we will ask the court for reasonable costs. The court
will decide if you should pay the costs and if so, the amount.

18. When you need our written permission
Permission
must be given
in writing to
be valid.

In this agreement, we have set out when you need our written permission. This
means that you must request permission first. We will not unreasonably withhold
permission. If we give permission, we may set certain conditions that have to be
met.
The following require written permission:
 making structural changes, alterations, improvements or additions to
the property
 installing floor tiles, laminate/wooden flooring or similar
 running a business from your home

Page Page
11123 of 27

The following require written permission:
 removing, replacing or planting any fence or tree at the property
 installing decking, a conservatory, greenhouse, fence, wall, garage,
shed, patio, animal enclosure, fishpond, pool or other structure in
your garden
 keeping any pet (other than small caged birds, fish in tanks or small
caged rodents) in your home
 fitting a satellite dish or closed-circuit television system in the
property or within its boundaries
 sub-letting any part of your home
 exchanging or transferring your home
 keeping more than three motor vehicles at your property
 being away from the property for more than 4 weeks
 parking any trailer, caravan, large van, lorry or boat within the
boundary of your property
 applying for a firearms license.

19. Tenant Involvement and Consultation
We operate a
complaints
procedure.
You can find
out more at
www.sholland.
gov.uk.

We will consult you about important changes that are likely to affect you. We
will take your comments into account before we make any decision.
We will ask your views about any changes to this tenancy agreement (other than
changes to rent or service charges). Changes can be made:
 by written agreement between you and the Council. We do not require your
agreement to make changes to rent or charges; or
 in accordance with the law including service of a preliminary notice giving
you details of any intended changes and inviting your comments. Following
consideration of your comments, a final notice will be served detailing the
changes and the date they take effect.

20. Service of notice
Under Section 48(1) of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987, the Council notifies you
that its address for service is:
South Holland District Council
Priory Road
Spalding
Lincs, PE11 2XE
Any Notice required by law to be served on the Tenant or Occupier shall be validly
served if it is:
a) left at the property or affixed to a prominent part of it;
b) personally handed to the tenant or anyone at the property;
c) posted to the property; or
d) posted to any other last known address.
The Council can choose which method of service to use.

21. How we use your information
South Holland District Council processes personal data in compliance with the
General Data Protection Regulations and the Data Protection Act.

Page 112
Page 24 of 27

Our data
protection
policy provides
more
information
about how we
handle your
personal data.
A copy of this
policy is
available at
www.sholland.
gov.uk

In order to provide you with the service you need, we have to collect, store and use
your personal information. We will hold information about you such as your name,
address and contact details. We may also hold financial, household and sensitive
personal information relating to your health, special needs or alleged or actual
criminal offences, if relevant. Information will be accurate, where necessary kept up
to date and will be kept for no longer than necessary, in line with our retention policy.

22. Contact us
You can contact us in the following ways:

Telephone: 01775 761161 and ask to speak to your Housing Officer

Email: info@sholland.gov.uk

Visit us: Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, PE11 2XE

23. Definitions
This section explains what some of the words and expressions in this document
mean.
Anti-social behaviour
Anti-social behaviour is any act, or failure to do something, which causes, or is likely
to cause nuisance, harassment, alarm or distress or which interferes with the rights,
peace, comfort or convenience of other people living in, working in or visiting the
local area.
Assign/Assignment
A method of transferring your tenancy to someone else, including by way of mutual
exchange with another tenant.
Boundary
This is an enclosed area or the edge of the land around your home that is part of
your tenancy.
Council
This means South Holland District Council including officers of the Council and
agents or contractors acting on the Council’s behalf.
Communal areas
These are parts of the building which all tenants have the right to use in connection
with their property, for example, halls, stairways, entrances, landings, shared
gardens, lawns and landscaped areas, bin areas, drying areas and so on.
Covenant
An order that affects or limits the use of a piece of land. An example would be a
requirement to not store caravans or commercial vans at the property.
Demoted tenancy
A demoted tenancy replaces a secure tenancy after the court has made an order as
a result of anti-social behaviour. As a demoted tenant you lose certain rights,
including the right to buy and the right to exchange.
Fixtures and fittings
These items include kitchen units, bathrooms and sanitary ware (sinks, toilets,
basins and so on), plumbing systems, electrical circuits, sockets, switches, lamp
holders, doors and locks, and glass in windows and doors.

Page Page
11325 of 27

Garden
This means lawns, hedges, flowerbeds, trees, shrubs, outside walls, fences, paths
and any piece of land belonging only to the property and forming part of your
tenancy.
Home/the property
This means the property let to you including any fixtures and fittings and the garden.
Household
You, your family and any other people living in your home including any adult family
members, other adults, children under 18 years old, lodgers, sub- tenants and
visitors to your home.
Housing Officer
Person(s) employed by South Holland District Council to administer these tenancy
conditions.
Indictable Offence
Any criminal offence which is capable of being tried in the Crown Court.
Introductory Tenancy
An introductory tenancy is a periodic weekly tenancy granted under the Housing Act
1996. An introductory tenant is a tenant under an introductory tenancy, and the
introductory period is the duration of the introductory tenancy.
Lodger
A person that lives in your home but does not have exclusive rights to any part of it.
Motor Vehicle/vehicle
This includes cars, motor bikes/scooters and vans weighing less than 1500kg
(unladen). It does not include trailers, caravans, goods vehicles of more than 1500
kg (unladen weight) or boats.
Neighbours
Your neighbours include everyone living in the local area, including people who own
their own homes, tenants of other landlords and their families and visitors.
Neighbourhood or Locality
The local area where you live, for example Spalding. The area will include property
which is privately owned or rented and property which is owned or managed by the
Council or housing associations and may include local shops and facilities for
example schools, leisure centres and open spaces.
Notices
A formal notice is in writing (which could be in the form of a letter) from us to you or
from you to us. For example, a Notice of Seeking Possession, ending a secure
tenancy or applying for the right to buy.
Personal information
This means any information we may hold about you (and other people who live in
the property). If you have any queries about how we collect or use your personal
information you should write to us.

Page 114
Page 26 of 27

Personal property
All personal items which belong to you or a member of your household including
curtains, furniture and floor coverings such as carpet.
Possession
This means the right to live in your home.
Possession order
An order the court makes that gives possession of your home back to us.
Secure tenancy
In the context of this tenancy agreement this means a secure periodic weekly
tenancy granted under the Housing Act 1985.
Serious offence
An offence listed in Schedule 2A Housing Act 1985.
Sublet
To give another person the right to live in your home. You are not allowed to sub-let
all of your property.
Structural changes/alterations/improvements/additions
This is anything you want to do which would change the layout or the features of
your home including changes to fittings such as in the kitchen or bathroom. It is very
important that you do not remove any walls.
Succession
Passing on the tenancy to someone who has the right to it by law, after the first
tenant has died. If you take over the property and it is too large for your needs, we
may ask you to move to a smaller home. If you don't agree to move, we will get a
court order.
Tenants’ handbook
This contains useful information for tenants and should be read in conjunction with
this agreement.
They
This means anyone else living in or visiting your home.
Us or We
This means South Holland District Council.
Visitor
Any person who does not live with you but who has come to see you at your home,
is staying with you, is visiting your neighbours, or is passing through or staying in the
local area.
Written permission
This is confirmation in writing from the Council giving you permission to do
something. Any permission will not be unreasonably withheld, but may be given
subject to reasonable conditions and may be withdrawn if those conditions are not
met. Permission must be given in writing to be valid permission.
You
This means the tenant, and if you are joint tenants, any one or all of the tenants.

Page Page
11527 of 27

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2
Tenancy Agreement Review 2019: Summary of proposed changes
Please find below the new and updated clauses of the proposed variation to the Tenancy
Agreement.
This document should be read in conjunction with the draft Tenancy Agreement and
Preliminary Notice that you have received with this document.
Section Subject
1.1
Welcome
1.2

Your
agreement

1.3

Introductory
tenancies
Secure
tenancies
Rent in
advance due
before tenancy
starts
Paying your
rent

1.4
2.1

2.2

2.3

Service
charges

2.4

Changes to
the rent

2.5

Difficulty
paying your
rent

2.6

Utilities

3.1

Your only

Effect
New – welcome paragraph briefly setting out rights and
responsibilities of tenants and us as your landlord
A new version of the Tenant’s Handbook has been produced.
This contains useful information about the standards tenants
can expect from the council and practical advice for tenants.
The Handbook will be available on the Council’s website and
in hard format on request.
Introductory tenancies have been issued to new tenants since
2011. This features in the current tenancy agreement.
This features in the current tenancy agreement.
NEW Tenants are required to pay 4 weeks rent in advance
before the tenancy starts. Where a new tenant genuinely
cannot afford to pay rent in advance then their case will be
examined on a case by case basis.
Your rent must be paid at least one week in advance. The
previous tenancy agreement stated rent was due in advance.
The legal rules around collection of rent from joint tenants
features in the current tenancy agreement.
NEW It is your responsibility to claim relevant benefits and to
update the providers of any change in your circumstances
This features in the current tenancy agreement.
We have the right to change any of the services we provide
and the charges we make for these services. We can change
the services at any time, but will consult with you.
NEW Sheltered Housing residents currently pay a service
charge but this is not set out as a separate item in the current
agreement.
NEW Failure to engage with the service we offer/to pay for the
services will be considered a breach of tenancy.
Failure to pay service charges features in the existing tenancy
agreement.
This features in the current tenancy agreement.
We may change your rent at any time. We will give you at
least four weeks' notice in writing if we change the rent.
NEW The Council has legal grounds to apply for possession
of a property where tenants repeatedly make late payment of
rent, however this was not specifically stated in the tenancy
agreement.
NEW The Council reserves the right to deduct money for
rent/arrears/Court Costs from any money owed to you.
NEW reference to your responsibility to arrange and pay for
utilities
This features in the current tenancy agreement. (This is a

Page 117

home

3.2
3.3

Joint tenants
Being away
from your
home

3.4

Abandonment

3.5

Overcrowding

3.6

Running a
business from
home

3.7

Personal
property and
insurance
Support
providers
Covenants

3.8
3.9
4.1
4.2

Bonfires
Flammable
material

4.3

Gas and
electricity
safety
Smoke and
carbon
monoxide
detectors

4.4

4.5
5.1

Emergency
services
access
Smoking in
enclosed

legal requirement). The council will undertake periodic visits
to the properties it rents to tenants.
NEW You must move into your new home immediately
following the tenancy starting
This features in the current tenancy agreement.
NEW The current tenancy agreement requires you to inform
us if you are going to be away from the property for more than
28 days. Tenants will also be required to provide contact
details of a key holder.
This features in the current tenancy agreement, but has been
expanded.
We will end a tenancy where we believe the tenant is no
longer living in the property. Thorough checks are completed
to confirm this is the case.
Belongings remaining in the property will be stored for a
period of time as per the Local Government Miscellaneous
Provisions Act 1982.
(This is standard practice).
NEW This features in the existing tenancy agreement and is
defined as per s324 of the Housing Act 1985. The definition
for overcrowding has been amended for this agreement to
reflect the same standards that the Council follows when
letting a property. This does not apply to overcrowding arising
from the natural growth of the family, for example the birth of a
child.
This features in the current tenancy agreement.
Tenants can, with the council’s written permission, run a
business from their council property. The Council will revoke
permission for running a business if it causes a nuisance.
This features in the current tenancy agreement. The Council
strongly recommends that you have insurance for your
personal belongings.
NEW You must co-operate with support providers when the
Council feels they are necessary
NEW tenants will be required to keep to rules affecting the
land where necessary
NEW Bonfires are not allowed.
This features in the existing tenancy agreement.
Flammable materials should not be kept in excessive
quantities, only be for legitimate domestic use, should be
stored appropriately and not in communal areas.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement.
NEW You are responsible for maintaining any batteryoperated smoke or carbon monoxide detector(s) and ensuring
it is always in good working order. You must not tamper with or
damage any smoke or carbon monoxide detector in the
property.
NEW You or any member of your household or visitors must
not obstruct access to emergency service vehicles in any way.
Your vehicle may be removed if it is blocking such access.
NEW You or any member of your household or visitors must
not smoke or use e- cigarettes in communal areas of the

Page 118

5.2

communal
areas
Rubbish

5.3

Storage of
items

5.4

Lifts

5.5

Exterior of
buildings

6

Access to your
home

6.1

Emergency
access

7

Looking after
your garden

8

Keeping
animals and
pets

9

Vehicles and
parking

building.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement. Rubbish
must be disposed of correctly and not left in communal areas.
NEW You or any member of your household or visitors must
not store items in any communal areas such as hallways and
landings. This includes personal belongings (such as bicycles,
mobility scooters and push chairs), rubbish or dangerous
items.
NEW Lifts must not be blocked or interfered with.
Unacceptable behaviour such as urinating and graffiti is not
permitted in lifts and will be treated as criminal damage.
NEW You must not fix any item to outside walls or brickwork,
or from place window boxes or plants to external window sills
of communal properties as this may damage the property.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement.
You must allow access to the Council (including Council
employees, contractors, agents or other statutory bodies) to
enter the property in the following circumstances:
 where the Council is otherwise legally required to allow
access to the property by a third party
 electrical and gas safety checks
 periodic (annual) home visit.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement.
We will attempt to contact you in an emergency. If we are not
able to contact you, we enter the property. Examples of what
may be classed as an emergency are given, including
suspected fire, burst water pipe, sewage leak, gas leak or
electrical fault or where there are welfare concerns.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement but has been
expanded to include requirement for permission for certain
alterations.
Gardens must be cultivated and free of rubbish and animal
waste / faeces. Trees and shrubs must not be allowed to
become overgrown. You must ensure that trees, hedges or
bushes do not cause damage, nuisance or obstruction.
The council may charge the tenant in advance for clearing
their garden if there is no good reason why the tenant is
unable to clear it themselves. Overgrown gardens may be
considered a ‘nuisance’ and legal action taken.
NEW requests for pets (other than 2 small caged birds, 1 fish
tank or 1 small caged rodent) must be made in writing.
Permission will be granted subject to certain requirements
such as microchipping and neutering.
Existing tenants will continue to be allowed 2 dogs and 3 cats
whilst they remain in the same property.
Animals must not cause a nuisance.
This section features in the existing tenancy agreement but
has been expanded.
Caravans, campervans, motor homes, large vans, lorries, food
trucks, trailers or boats must not be parked without the
Council’s permission.
Tenants must not drive across a kerb to access the property
unless it has been lowered with permission.

Page 119

10.1

Condition of
your home your
responsibilities

10.2

Repairs – the
Council’s
responsibilities
Moving out
temporarily

10.3
10.4

Repairs - your
responsibilities

10.5

Recharges

10.6

Gas safety
checks

10.7

Electrical
inspections

11.1

11.2

Your right to
make
alterations or
improvements
Consultation

11.3

Rebuilding

12

Criminal,
nuisance and
anti-social
behaviour

12.1

Our
responsibilities

Major repairs and storage of scrap car parts is not permitted.
This features in the existing tenancy agreement with the
following additions:
 NEW reference to hoarding. Personal property not to
prevent access, pose an environmental health/health
and safety risk, or to cause a nuisance.
 You must not store items in the loft
 NEW You must request permission to install floor
tiles/laminate flooring. (This is due to the sound
travelling through hard flooring.)
 You must keep all grates, grids, drains and gullies
clean and clear (except gutters that catch water from
the roof).
This features in your existing tenancy agreement, but has
been expanded to include details of repairs that fall to the
Council.
NEW You may be required to move out of your property
temporarily if we cannot complete repairs whilst you are
resident.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement. Examples of
tenants responsibilities will be included in the Tenants
Handbook along with the costs for the Council repairing them
on your behalf.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement but has been
expanded. This section covers any reasonable costs or
liability incurred by the Council as a result of you breaching or
failing to perform any part of this tenancy agreement and can
be deducted from any money that the Council owes you. You
may have to pay for the repairs before the work is carried out.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement. You must
allow access to the property for an annual gas safety
inspection. (This is a legal requirement).
NEW you must provide access for periodical
Inspections of electrical wiring and installations. (This is a
legal requirement)
This features in your existing tenancy agreement. Alterations
must not be made without written permission. Alterations
made without permission will have to be put right at a cost to
the tenant.
NEW We will consult tenants who are likely to be substantially
affected by any proposed major repairs and/or improvement
schemes.
NEW We are not required to rebuild or reinstate your home in
the case of destruction, serious structural damage or
deterioration.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement, but has
been amended to reflect new legislation.
The Antisocial Behaviour and Policing Act 2014 gives the
Council the power to evict tenants who have committed
certain types of serious crimes or anti-social behaviour. The
Council already has this power, however it is included in the
Tenancy Agreement to make this clear.
NEW This sets out how we will manage complaints of antisocial behaviour/nuisance

Page 120

12.2
12.3
13.1

13.2
13.3

Your
responsibilities
Domestic
abuse
When the
council plans
to end your
tenancy
When you plan
to end your
tenancy
After notice
has been
served

13.4

Rent and
charges to be
paid

13.5

Property
condition

13.6

Additional
charges

14

Succession

15

Assignment

16

Additional
rights (secure
tenants only)
Charging you

17
18
19

20

When you
need our
permission
Tenant
involvement
and
consultation
Service of
notice

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement.

This features in your existing tenancy agreement.
NEW Tenants cannot revoke notice (this is stated in
legislation).
This features in your existing tenancy agreement.
NEW if you hand your keys back before notice expires, you
give us permission to enter the property to carry out
inspections and repairs work.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement.
NEW We will take formal action to recover outstanding rent or
recharges.
NEW You will be required to set up a payment arrangement to
repay any outstanding housing related debt if you take up
another Council tenancy
This features in your existing tenancy agreement.
NEW You must notify utility companies when you move out
and provide them with a copy of your meter readings.
NEW You must remove all floor coverings, unless advised
otherwise
NEW If you have kept pets, you must ensure that the property
is free of any flea infestation.
This features in the existing tenancy agreement. This lists
what costs will be recharged to you if you do not leave the
property in a suitable condition.
NEW This section has been updated to reflect the legal
position under the Localism Act 2011. This may change with
the implementation of the Housing and Planning Act 2016
(which is yet to be implemented by the Government).
NEW This section has been updated to reflect the legal
position under the Localism Act 2011. This may change with
the implementation of the Housing and Planning Act 2016
(which is yet to be implemented by the Government).
This features in the current tenancy agreement. These include
the Right to Buy, Right to Exchange, Right to Improve, Right
to Manage, Right to Sub-Let and the Right to take in a lodger.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement but has been
expanded. We will not make any charges if the court or the
law says that we cannot do so.
NEW This summarises points in the tenancy that state that
permission is needed
This features in your existing tenancy agreement. We will
consult you about important changes that are likely to affect
you. We will take your comments into account before we
make any decision.
This features in your existing tenancy agreement and is a
legal requirement.

Page 121

21
22

How we use
your
information
Contact us
Definitions

This features in your existing tenancy agreement and has
been updated to reflect changes in data protection legislation.
NEW This explains the ways to contact us.
Lists the terms used in the Agreement to explain their legal
meaning

Page 122

APPENDIX 3
date:

DATE

ask for:

Housing Services Team

email:

INSERT@sholland.gov.uk
Council Offices
Priory Road
Spalding
Lincolnshire PE11 2XE

Miss xxx

tel: 01775 761161
fax: 01775 723496
711253
www.sholland.gov.uk

Dear
Preliminary Notice of Variation to your Tenancy Agreement (Housing Act 1985
Section 103 (2))
We are proposing to make changes to your tenancy conditions and would like your
comments on these changes. This letter is the formal notice to you.
The law states that we must tell all South Holland District Council tenants about the
changes and give you the opportunity to comment on the proposals. We will consider all
comments received before finalising any changes to the Tenancy Agreement.
Please note that we are not proposing to end your tenancy. We are only changing the terms
of your existing tenancy agreement. You will not be asked to sign a new tenancy
agreement, but these changes will still apply to you from the date that the new tenancy
terms are introduced.
Have your say
We have enclosed a summary of the changes, a copy of the new proposed tenancy
agreement and a fact sheet on Frequently Asked Questions.
You are invited to make any comments you may have on the proposed changes by DATE.
Please complete the online survey at WEBSITE ADDRESS. If you do not have internet
access, please contact us on 01775 761161 or email us at
tenancy.agreement.review@sholland.gov.uk for a response form. Sheltered Housing
residents can also discuss the proposals with their Housing Officer at the Meet and Greet
sessions.
We are currently reviewing the Tenants’ Handbook. If you would like to be involved with
this review, please email tenancy.agreement.review@sholland.gov.uk or speak to your
Housing Officer on 01775 761161.
What happens next?
We will consider all comments we receive. After this, we will serve you with a formal Notice
of Variation (under section 103 of the Housing Act 1985). This will include a copy of the new
tenancy agreement and will tell you the date that the changes will become effective.
Contact details update
It is important that we have your up to date contact details. Please submit these online at
WEBSITE LINK or contact your Housing officer on 01775 761161.
Yours sincerely

Page 123

Vikki Cherry
Housing Services Manager

Page 124

APPENDIX 4
Frequently Asked Questions about the review of the Tenancy Agreement
Why are you reviewing the tenancy agreement?
The Tenancy Agreement was last reviewed in 2011. We need to update it:
• To take into account new legislation such as the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014, Localism Act 2011 and the General Data Protection Regulation
2018.
• To reflect up-to-date policy and practices
• To make it easier for tenants to understand their rights and responsibilities
Is it just me that’s received a letter?
No, we have written to all council tenants.
Who are you consulting with?
We are consulting with all South Holland District Council Introductory and Secure tenants.
How long does the consultation run for?
The consultation will run until DATE. Any comments arriving after this date will not be
considered.
What documents should I receive?
You will receive a Preliminary Notice (letter), a summary of changes and a copy of the
proposed Tenancy Agreement to comment on.
Why have you served a Notice?
Under Housing Act 1985 we need to serve a Preliminary Notice outlining the changes being
proposed for tenants to respond to.
Is it an eviction notice?
No, we have sent a Preliminary Notice to advise you of proposed changes to the Tenancy
Agreement.
I’ve just signed up for a new tenancy, does this affect me?
Yes, all tenants are affected by the proposed changes.
I’ve just completed a mutual exchange, does this affect me?
Yes, all tenants are affected by the proposed changes.
My details on the letter is wrong, what do I do?
Let us know the correct details and we will update our records. We may need supporting
evidence to make the changes.
I need the information in a different format
Let us know what format you require and we will aim to assist.
How do I respond to the consultation?
A dedicated email address has been set up for responses:
tenancy.agreement.review@sholland.gov.uk
You can also telephone or write in with your response. Details are on the Preliminary
Notice.
What’s the Tenant Handbook?
The Tenant Handbook is a booklet given to new tenants that includes useful information
about managing their tenancy. This is currently being reviewed. Please let us know if you
would like to be involved in this process.

Page 125

I don’t understand the proposals
The changes being proposed to your existing tenancy are listed in the ‘summary of
changes’ document. We have also sent a full copy of the draft Tenancy Agreement which
incorporates all the proposals and includes a ‘Definitions’ section which explains some of
the terms used.
I’ve been a tenant for years, so why does the Tenancy Agreement say welcome to
your new tenancy?
The introduction to the tenancy agreement welcomes new tenants who are signing up to be
a tenant for the first time, but the final version of the agreement will be issued to all tenants.
How will my views be taken into account?
All responses received during the consultation will be logged and your comments will be
taken into account when the final agreement is drawn up.
What if I don’t agree with the proposed changes?
This is your opportunity to have your say. You can respond to the consultation and your
comments will be taken into account when the final agreement is drawn up.
When will I receive the new Tenancy Agreement?
We expect to be issuing new agreements in May 2019, but this may change. We will write
to you again with a copy of the final Tenancy Agreement at least 4 weeks before it comes
into effect.
Do I need to sign a copy of the new Tenancy Agreement?
No, once the revised Tenancy Agreement takes effect, it will become your new Tenancy
Agreement. You will not need to sign a new agreement with us.
Will the review change my security of tenure?
No, the Tenancy Agreement review will NOT introduce fixed term tenancies or remove your
rights to your periodic tenancy (commonly known as ‘lifetime tenancies’).
I want to raise an issue about my tenancy, what do I do?
If your query relates to a general tenancy issue, such as reporting a repair, please report it
in the usual way.
I have a question that is not covered here
Please contact us with your question and we will try to answer it. You can email us at
tenancy.agreement.review@sholland.gov.uk. You can also telephone or write in. Details
are on the Preliminary Notice.

Page 126

Agenda Item 10.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Finance and the Executive Director
Commercialisation (S.151)

To:

Cabinet 12 February 2019

Author:

Carl Holland – Strategic Business Partner (Compass Point
Business Services)

Subject:

Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy

Purpose:

To consider the Draft General Fund and Housing Revenue
Account 2019/20 revenue and capital estimates and the Draft
Financial Medium Term Plan (for Recommendation to Council)

Recommendations:
1.

To recommend to Full Council:
a. That the Revenue Estimates for the General Fund, Housing Revenue
Account and Spalding Special Expenses for 2019/20 (Appendices A, B and
C) be approved.
b. That the use of reserves (Appendix D) be approved.
c. That the Council Tax for a Band A property in 2019/20 be set at £116.52 a
£3.30 per annum increase on 2018/19 levels (band D £174.78 for 2019/20,
a £4.95 per annum increase on 2018/19 levels).
d. That the Spalding special expense for a Band A property be set at £15.78
for 2019/20, (previously £15.66 in 2018/19) and Band D £23.67for 2019/20,
(previously £23.49 in 2018/19).
e. That the Medium Term Financial Strategy (Appendix B) be approved.
f. That Housing Revenue Account weekly dwelling rents reduce by 1% over
the previous year, 2018-19, rent with effect from Monday 1st April 2019.
This is in line with current government guidelines and legislation.
g. That the Capital Strategy and Capital Programme (Appendices E and F) be
approved.
h. That the Treasury Management Strategy, including the Minimum Revenue
Provision policy and Investment Strategy be approved. (Appendix G).
i. That the fees and charges shown in Appendix H be approved for adoption
from 1 April 2019.

2. To increase the establishment by 1.0 FTE (shared with BDC, 60% BDC and 40%
SHDC), to create a post that adds capacity to support the Chief Executive and
Directors at a senior level to move forward a number of strategic priorities and
helps to identify the key impacts of emerging national and local policy on the
organisation(s) from a corporate point of view, enabling effective mitigation as
required (as detailed in Appendix A, paragraph 3.7.2).
3. Approve the additional council tax premium for long term empty properties as
detailed in 1.19
4. That Cabinet approve the administration of the Retail Discount scheme in line with
Government guidance (Appendix I), and that the Discretionary Rate Relief Policy
is updatedFUND
to reflect this scheme with final approval delegated to Section 151
1.0
GENERAL
Officer and Portfolio Holder.
5. That delegated authority be given to the Executive Director Commercialisation
Page
127Holder for Finance, to make any
(s151), in consultation with the
Portfolio
necessary amendments to the budget prior to council due to late notifications.

Purpose of Report
1.1

This report sets out the 2019/20 Budget and associated Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS) for the South Holland District Council General Fund and Housing
Revenue Account (HRA). The Budget and MTFS are based on the latest information
currently available. The budget has been through a budget consultation process with
the public and members, draft budget proposals were subject to review by Scrutiny at
its meeting on 9th January 2019. Feedback from that meeting and the public
consultation is available for members to consider as part of their review of the
proposed budget and their recommendations to Full Council.
Background

1.2

2019/20 is the fourth and final year of Government’s four year Local Government
Finance Settlement, for which the Council successfully applied in 2016/17, using the
Moving Forward programme as the basis of the required efficiency plan. The future of
funding, however, is extremely uncertain with an unprecedented level of change
anticipated in 2020/21 and onwards.

1.3

The Moving Forward Programme builds on prudent financial management of the
council and innovative income generation, with savings targets in phase 1 of the
programme totalling £1.105m by 2020/21 as a result of transforming Council Services
to:
- generate additional revenue streams via commercial activities (Welland
Homes, Garden Waste), investment assets (Investment and Growth reserve,
Holbeach Food Enterprise Zone), and economic and housing growth
(Investment & Growth reserve) and
- invest in service improvements to improve value for money through
Digitalisation (online payments, improvements in ICT), partnership and
collaboration (Co-location, Breckland District Council, Department of Works
and Pensions and Priory Road project) and organisational design (10%
reduction in costs over 4 years)

1.4

A number of projects from phase 1 of the Moving Forward programme are now
substantially complete including the Place Review and the initial investment in
Welland Homes, which is progressing well against the Business Plan.

1.5

In 2015/16 £1.1m of funding was agreed and set aside to provide up-front investment
for the Moving Forward phase 1 programme, which is now in progress. The current
forecast assumes all the available funding held in reserves will be used by the end of
2019/20.

1.6

Phase 2 of the Moving Forward programme will extend the savings agenda to
address a number of additional significant projects to deliver further ongoing savings
within the MTFS. These projects reflect the Council’s developing agenda for growth
and commercialisation and projected savings for some aspects of the proposed
programme are built into current forecasts.

1.7

As part of Moving Forward phase 2 this draft budget continues the principle of
contributing to an “Investment & Growth” fund to deliver on-going revenue income
streams over the medium term. This will reduce the reliance on uncertain sources of
funding and will make the Council a more stable organisation, able to deliver services
to residents with more certainty in the longer term.

Page 128

2019/20 Draft Budget & Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
1.8

The key elements of the draft 2019/20 Budget and MTFS are summarised in the
following paragraphs and set out in detail in the attached appendices which show:







the 2019/20 revenue and capital estimates for the General Fund and Housing
Revenue Account (Appendices A & B),
draft budgets in relation to Spalding Special Expenses (Appendix C),
the schedule of movements in Council Reserves (Appendix D),
the Capital Strategy and Capital Programme (Appendix E & F),
the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy (Appendix G), and
the fees and charges schedule (Appendix H).

2019/20 Local Government Finance Settlement
1.9

The final Finance Settlement for 2019/20 was released on 29 January 2019. There
were a few areas of change affecting the 2019/20 budget and future years including:





In 2018/19 the District was part of a successful bid to the Government to trial
100% business rates retention for 2018/19 only. The Lincolnshire Pilot
authorities submitted a further bid to try and extend the existing pilot
arrangements for 2019/20, but this was not successful. However, South
Holland still benefit from the substantive Lincolnshire Business Rates Pooling
arrangements that are in place. The 2019/20 estimates are therefore based on
the retention of business rates growth at 50%. The Government has indicated
that Business Rates retention will be set at 75% from 2020/21 onwards and
Revenue Support Grant will be incorporated into the baseline level of funding.
Uncertainties still remain around the exact design of future schemes.
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Rural Services Support Grant (RSDG) are
included as per the values indicated by the Government in the four year
settlement. These Government grants are not assumed to continue beyond
2019/20.
New Homes Bonus (NHB) has been modelled on the assumption that this is
the final year of any new awards for growth, and that future year levels are
only made up of the declining legacy payments.

2019/20 Council Tax Base
1.10

The Council Tax base for 2019/20 is 27,931 properties, an increase of 629 (2.3%)
properties over the 2018/19 tax base giving additional income of approximately £245k
illustrating the current uplift in housing delivery. An ongoing increase at 1.5% per
annum is assumed over the MTFS period.

1.11

The Band D Council Tax has been budgeted at £174.78. This is a £4.95 (2.91%)
increase on 2018/19 and in line with that previously recommended by members to be
included as an annual increase within the MTFS. The Finance Settlement confirms
there has been no change to the capping regime for local authorities.
2019/20 Collection Fund Surplus

1.12

Each year the Council is required to calculate the balance on its Collection Fund,
current estimates indicate a £99k surplus in 2019/20 for council tax with a zero
balance assumed in future years.

Page 129

1.13

In addition there is a projected Business Rates surplus of £1.276m in the 2019/20
budget, as a result of an in year review of appeals provision, with a zero balance
assumed in future years. Volatility in business rates is a feature of the system design
of funding for local authorities. As was proposed in the 2018/19 budget if future oneoff surpluses are created these will be allocated to reserves to assist with the funding
of future deficits. This is a prudent approach for managing Business Rates income
volatility and has been approved by the External Auditor and S151 Officer.
SHDC Detailed Budget Changes

1.14

Key assumptions made within the current 4 year MTFS include:











An annual increase in Council Tax of £4.95 and a 1.5% assumed growth in
the tax base.
An anticipated reduction in retained Business Rates due to loss of pilot status
and the projections for levels of business rates collection for 2019/20.
The impact of a 2% pay award, incremental growth, an increase in the
pension fund deficit charge, and other staffing changes.
A 2% increase in the Drainage Board levies.
Allowance for unavoidable growth on services (i.e. new statutory obligations
and pay & contractual inflation) but no allowance for any increase for general
inflation.
Additional Investment interest income.
Savings from the new Leisure Services management contract.
Maximising income generation through Investment & Growth.
Maximising income from fees and charges through undertaking a cross cutting
service review.
Ongoing Budget challenge to ensure that budgets are aligned with corporate
priorities.

1.15

The 2019/20 estimates currently shows a balanced position, although this is subject
to any final budget adjustments.

1.16

All budgets have been subject to “budget challenge” by the Section 151 officer which
has allowed operational budget reductions to be made in order to deliver a balanced
budget in 2019/20. There has been a further budget verification process to ensure
that final budgets are robust for the next financial year.

1.17

The current forecast for 2020/21 to 2022/23 shows a deficit up to 2022/23 when a
surplus is estimated. This position is subject to further work to develop the Council’s
investment and growth strategy as it impacts on business rates, commercial income
and growth in the tax base. It is also subject to the final scheme that is developed for
the retention of business rates and the proposed business rates reset.

1.18

As has been previously approved by members any underspends in the current year
will be transferred to the Council Tax Reserve to help mitigate future budget volatility,
particularly in relation to Business Rates income over the course of the MTFS.

Page 130

1.19

Council Tax – Long Term Empty Premium
Since April 2013 Councils have the discretion to charge up to 50% empty homes
premium for properties that have been empty for over 2 years. In offering these new
powers the Government were seeking to influence owners to bring empty homes
back into use as well as the ability for councils to increase Council Tax income.
As part of the 2017 Budget it was announced that the Government would be
implementing new flexibilities in respect of charging an additional 50% Council Tax
premium on Long Term Empty properties, bringing the total Council Tax to 200%.
Additionally the changes would allow further premiums of 100% for Long Term Empty
properties of greater than 5 years from 1 April 2020 and a further additional premium
of 100% for Long Term Empty Properties of greater than 10 years from 1 April 2021.
The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act
received Royal Assent on 1st November and is now an act of parliament.
It is proposed as part of the MTFS to increase the premium on long term empty
dwellings as follows:  An additional 50% Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties,
raising the Council Tax to 200%, from 1 April 2019
 An additional 100% Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties
longer than 5 years, raising the Council Tax to 300%, from 1 April 2020.
 An additional 100% Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties
longer than 10 years, raising the Council Tax to 400%, from 1 April 2021.
The direct financial benefits from Council Tax income for this proposal are small for
South Holland (around £6k per year) and if this proposal is approved this will included
within the collection fund. The main benefits are non-financial, to encourage homes
back into use.

1.20

Business Rates – Retail Discount
The Government announced in its Autumn Budget that it would provide a discount
scheme for occupied retail properties with a rateable value of less than £51,000 in
each of the financial years 2019/20 and 2020/21. The value of the discount to be one
third of the bill, applied after all other reliefs have been applied. The Government has
subsequently provided guidance about the operation and delivery of the policy.

2.0

Housing Revenue Account

2.1

The draft Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget shows a forecast deficit of
£0.754m. This reflects:






The annual rent reduction of 1% from 2018/19 to 2019/20 and nil inflation
imposed by the Government,
Expenditure for Capital investment of £3.447m has been charged to revenue
for 2019/20,
An assumed rent loss of 1% for void properties and 1.5% for bad debts,
Estimated additional net rent arising from new units included within the HRA
capital programme from 2019/20 onwards, which are in excess of Right to Buy
sales numbers forecasted.
A review of charges where appropriate.

Page 131

3.0

Reserves

3.1

General Fund Specific Reserves are budgeted to reduce by £324k in 2019/20. This
figure may change depending on the forecast out-turn for 2018/19.

3.2

It is anticipated that the 2018/19 General Fund position will generate a further surplus
which will be transferred to the Council Tax Reserve and be available to support the
2019/20 budget as required.

3.3

HRA Reserves are projected to decrease by £4.146m (net) during 2019/20 due to the
increased use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance capital investment within the
HRA.

3.4

A breakdown of the Reserve movements for both the General Fund and Housing
Revenue Account are included in Appendix D to this report.

4.0

Capital Programme

4.1

The Council’s Capital Strategy is shown in Appendix E and focuses on the core
principles of capital investment.

4.2

The draft four year General Fund capital programme (Appendix F) has been
amended to reflect a revised 2018/19 forecast outturn, known slippage requests,
Capital Working Group input and scheme estimates.

4.3

The General Fund programme includes provision for ICT investment, Priory Road
enhancements, Capital grants (DFG and G4G), Crease Drove, Food Enterprise Zone
and housing investment. It also includes a new provision for commercial acquisitions
over the term of the programme.

4.4

The HRA summary programme is included in Appendix F. A re-phased Affordable
Housing Programme has been established to replace units sold through increased
right to buy (RTB) sales and to maximise the use of resources available through
retained RTB receipts and opportunities to access additional grant funding through
Homes England. The programme will be delivered through new build and the
purchase of affordable housing units. A total of £16.5m has been allocated over the
MTFS, including:








34 units at Small Drove, Weston;
A development at Severn Road, Spalding;
Acquisition of units of affordable housing from developers;
Other scheme developments for additional units;
Major area works - environmental improvements on estates;
Essential improvements to Sewage Plant works; and
the upgrade of key housing IT Systems.

5.0

OPTIONS

5.1

That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the Medium Term Financial
Strategy and the Capital Strategy be recommended to Council for approval.

Page 132

5.2
6.0

There are no alternative options presented, however amendments may be made by
Cabinet for recommendation to Council.
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

6.1

To comply with the budgetary and policy framework.

7.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

7.1

To set an affordable and balanced budget for 2019/20 that ensures delivery of the
priorities of the Council

8.0

IMPLICATIONS

8.1

Carbon Footprint & Environmental Issues

8.1.1

None

8.2

Constitution & Legal

8.2.1

None

8.3

Contracts

8.3.1

None

8.4

Crime and Disorder

8.4.1

None

8.5

Equality and Diversity & Human Rights

8.5.1

None

8.6

Financial

8.6.1

The report is of a financial nature and further financial details are included within the
appendices.

9.0

Risk Management

9.1

Risks are highlighted within the appendix.

10.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

10.1

Budget implications affect all wards.

11.

ACRONYMS

11.1

AGS
CPBS
CSU
DCLG
DFG
ESIF
HRA

Annual Governance Statement
Compass Point Business Services
Construction Services Unit
Department for Communities & Local Government
Disabled Facilities Grant
European Structural Investment Funding
Housing Revenue Account

Page 133

ICT
IDB
LCC
LCTRS
MTFS
NHB
NHS
NI
NNDR
RSDG
RSG
RTB

Information & Communications Technology
Internal Drainage Boards
Lincolnshire County Council
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme
Medium Term Financial Strategy
New Homes Bonus
National Health Service
National Insurance
National Non Domestic Rates (Business Rates)
Rural Services Delivery Grant
Revenue Support Grant
Right to Buy

___________________________________________________________________
Background papers:Appendix A – General Fund and HRA Budget 209/20 and Medium Term Financial Plan
2019/20 to 2022/23.
Appendix B – General Fund and HRA Medium Term Financial Strategy.
Appendix C – Spalding Special Expenses Budget
Appendix D - Use of Reserves Schedule
Appendix E – Capital Strategy
Appendix F – Capital Programme
Appendix G1 – Treasury Management Policy Statement
Appendix G2 – Treasury Management Strategy
Appendix H – Fees and Charges Schedule
Appendix I – Business Rates Retail Discount Guidance
___________________________________________________________________
Lead Contact Officer:
Name/Post: Carl Holland, Strategic Business Partner (CPBS)
Telephone Number: 01775 764681
Email: Carl.Holland@cpbs.com
Key Decision:
No
Exempt Decision:
No

Page 134

Appendix A

Budget 2019/20 and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2022/23.
1.

Introduction

1.1

This appendix sets out the draft combined 2019/20 budget estimates and Medium
Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for the period 2019/20 to 2022/23 for the Council’s
General Fund and Housing Revenue Account. The Medium Term Plan sets out the
current and forecast future costs of the Council and is linked to the Corporate Plan,
which sets out the aims and ambitions of the Council, agreed with our partners:



To be a financially independent Council and free of reliance on Government
Funding by 2020/21,
To transform Council Services through the Moving Forward Programme to:
- generate additional revenue streams via commercial activities
(Welland Homes, Garden Waste), investment assets (Investment and
Growth reserve, Holbeach Food Enterprise Zone), and economic and
housing growth (Investment & Growth reserve) and
- invest in service improvements to improve value for money through
Digitalisation (online payments, improvements in ICT), partnership
and collaboration (Co-location, Breckland District Council, Directorate
of Works and Pensions and Priory Road project) and organisational
design (10% reduction in costs over 4 years)

1.2

The MTFP establishes a set of financial policies and principles which provide a sound
basis for maintaining the financial integrity of the Council over the medium term and
includes both the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account Budget.

1.3

This Appendix sets out:












The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy for the period 2019/20 to
2022/23
The 2019/20 General Fund Revenue Budget & Financing,
The General Fund Reserves Position,
The General Fund Capital Programme and Financing,
The 2019/20 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Budget,
The HRA Reserves Position,
The HRA Capital Programme and Financing,
Risks, key issues, sensitivity and monitoring,
Consultation proposals, timetable and links to other strategies, and
Treasury management policy and investment strategy.
Fees and Charges Schedule for services provided by the Council.

2.

Medium Term Financial Strategy

2.1

Strategy, Aspirations and Forward Projections

2.1.1

The objectives of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy are to:
 manage a budget process that will make progress in re-directing and focusing
resources in line with corporate priorities and, in so doing, recognise the
intrinsic link between this strategy, the Capital Strategy, and the Treasury
Management Strategy,
 adopt a corporate approach to budget preparation and continue to provide
strong timely budget control,

Page 135

-1-

 use sound modern financial systems procedures and principles and promote
electronic record keeping and approval processes,
 ensure financial performance reporting remains integrated with financial
reporting and business planning,
 ensure there is rigorous scrutiny of the financial planning process and work
towards a more effective consultation process to engage the public and
stakeholders,
 maintain balances and reserves that will provide for known risks and liabilities
and provide capacity for managing peaks in expenditure,
 operate strategies on capital and external funding that supports the Council’s
corporate objectives,
 undertake a risk assessment of material items of income and expenditure and
report the risks to Members as part of the budget setting process,
 manage and use our resources to deliver value for money and better
sustainable outcomes and efficiencies for local people,
 set realistic targets for trading accounts and if services fail to achieve these they
will be subject to a more fundamental review,
 aim for a minimum balance on the Collection Fund,
 prepare robust and realistic income and resource requirement plans for the next
five years,
 promote take-up of benefits and reliefs,
 maximise income collection, and
 recognise the Council’s role in the community throughout and beyond the period
of economic hardship by providing assistance to individuals, groups and
businesses.
2.1.2

In 2010 the Council created Compass Point Business Services (East Coast) Ltd,
(CPBS) in partnership with East Lindsey District Council in order to deliver greater
efficiency in the provision of back office services. The two partner councils have now
agreed to extend this contractual arrangement beyond March 2020 and the Council
have approved a Transformation Plan for CPBS aimed at delivering further financial
savings.

2.1.3

The Council’s strategies will be achieved through the working practices set by the
relevant departments. The effectiveness of these strategies and the underlying
principles can be monitored by key outputs such as:







Annual audit letter,
Financial plan,
Governance and Audit Committee reports,
Annual Governance Statement (AGS),
Grants returns submitted to deadlines, and
Governance and performance reports.

2.2

Budget principles:

2.2.1

The following principles have been used in the budget preparation process in order to:




Provide a consistent and authorised approach to the preparation of revenue
and capital estimates,
Ensure estimates are prepared in line with available resources, and
Ensure that estimates are prepared to reflect corporate priorities.

Page
- 2 - 136

Key budget principles:
















Detailed working sheets are maintained for all budget headings and these are
prepared by the budget manager, with the exception of central items.
Central items are calculated by the CPBS accountancy team. The central items
include items such as: salaries, insurance, support service recharges, capital
accounting entries, interest paid and received, pensions, National Insurance
(NI), special expenses, mobiles phones and postage.
The full effect of known pay awards is incorporated into the estimates and a
provision made for future years, based on national guidance (taking into
account any Central Government policies).
Staffing estimates are prepared on the basis of approved staffing levels as
provided by Human Resources and have been signed off by budget managers.
These estimates include an allowance for employers NI, superannuation
contributions and lump sum amounts.
Controllable expenditure is defined as expenditure on employees, premises
(excluding business rates), transport and supplies and services - but excluding
internal recharges.
There will be no allowance for inflation, unless contractual or related to salaries.
We seek additional scrutiny and challenge for accessing capital resources to
ensure that the programme only reflects schemes that are sufficiently scoped to
allow delivery.
A review of fees and charges to ensure optimisation of income where
consistent with policy.
Some service areas of high or unpredictable spend in previous years have
been considered in detail; other less volatile have not been zero-based.
Working papers have been prepared by budget managers for each controllable
budget. This will assist future challenge.
To set a balanced budget with no long term dependency on General Balances.
To work towards a zero balance on the Collection Fund.
Only the 2019/20 budget will be formally approved. Future years are indicative
only for both revenue and capital but form an important picture of our financial
sustainability.

2.3

Budget Requirement and Forward Estimates

2.3.1

Outline estimates through to 2022/23 are shown in Appendix B. In compiling these
figures we have followed the assumptions included in this report and made specific
adjustments to service budgets as and where budget holders have advised of a change
over the medium term.

2.3.2

There is an unprecedented level of uncertainty around the future design of the system
for business rates retention from April 2020 and future funding arrangements generally.
It is anticipated that there may need to be some significant reductions in expenditure or
increases in income in order to be able to deliver future balanced budgets. Work is
continuing to be carried out with services to challenge budget costs in order to reduce
both in-year and on-going base budgets without impacting on core service levels.
However, in addition to the uncertainty about future funding levels the Council will also
experience increasing inflationary pressures on core budgets.

2.3.3

As part of the budget review, a number of potential schemes have been explored at
officer level to generate savings and increase income. Areas being considered which
currently have a high level of spend or which require a greater review to reduce costs
and provide services differently include:

Page 137

-3-








Consideration of fees and income policies (including Internal review and
benchmarking exercise),
Review of publicly owned assets including a strategic asset plan review and
consideration of alternative management models,
Grants Review,
Further shared service opportunities,
Growth opportunities including generating income streams from increasing
asset ownership, and
Welland Homes.

3.

General Fund Budget & Financing 2019/20

3.1

External Financing – 2019/20 Settlement

3.1.1

Background
The Provisional Settlement for 2019/20 was issued in December 2018 and the agreed
final Settlement was announced by the Government on 29 January 2019. There were
no changes made to the values in the Provisional Settlement. These values are
reflected in the information below.
The Council was re-admitted to the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pooling arrangement
for 2018/19. This pooling arrangement benefits the level of business rates returned to
the District. In addition for 2018/19 the District was part of a successful bid to the
Government to trial 100% business rates retention for 2018/19 only. The Lincolnshire
Pilot authorities submitted a further bid to try and extend the existing pilot
arrangements for 2019/20, but this was not successful. However, South Holland still
benefits from the substantive Pooling arrangements that are in place.
The draft estimates for 2019/20 have been based on the retention of business rates
growth at 50%. The Government has indicated that Business Rates retention will be set
at 75% from 2020/21 onwards and Revenue Support Grant will be incorporated into the
baseline level of funding.
As well as the potential for the authority to attract additional income through increased
retained business rates there is also the risk of uncertainty through a reduction in the
amount of business rates that it collects. One of the key areas of uncertainty relates to
appeals against rateable values for business premises, with the potential for successful
appeals being backdated for a number of years. The 2018/19 Settlement confirmed
that there would be a re-set of the Business Rates Baseline in 2020/21. This presents
a potentially significant risk to future levels of funding. However, the Government has
launched further consultation, through its support of a Fairer Funding Review, into
ways to simplify the process of funding local authorities. The outcome of this is not
known at this stage, but there is a general acceptance that the current system for
retention of business rates has become increasingly complex and is only really
understood by a few specialists. Work to simplify the system, whilst still retaining the
original principles of devolving funding through business rates, will continue over the
next year ahead of the 2020/21 deadline.

3.1.2

Revenue Support Grant (RSG)
SHDC did not receive RSG in 2018/19 due to it being part of the successful Business
Rates Pilot. For 2019/20 RSG is included for one final year, at the significantly reduced
value of £271k. RSG will cease from 2020/21, the MTFS includes the following values:

Page
- 4 - 138

Financial Year

RSG
Receivable
£000

2017-18 (for information)
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021-22
2022-23
3.1.3

(1,072)
Nil
(271)
Nil
Nil
Nil

New Homes Bonus (NHB)
For 2017/18, 2018/19 and again for 2019/20, NHB allocations have only rewarded
growth above 0.4% of baseline housing levels. It is strongly believed that NHB will not
survive in its current form beyond 2020/21 but the detail of any future arrangements
have not been released.
The level of NHB awarded in the settlement for 2019/20 is £1.002m made up as
follows:
2016/17 (yr6) £364,838
2017/18 (yr7) £225,172
2018/19 (yr8) £128,345
2019/20 (yr9) £283,970
TOTAL
£1,002,235
The MTFS currently assumes that legacy payments will be honoured but no new inyear allocation will be received. The total estimated values of NHB over the MTFS are
given below. The estimates also assume that all NHB is paid into the Investment and
Growth Reserve, therefore there is no General Fund reliance on this funding.

£’000
2016/17
2017/18
2018/19
2019/20
TOTAL

3.1.4

2019/20
365
225
128
284
1,002

2020/21

2021/22

225
128
284
638

128
284
412

2022/23

284
284

Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG)
This grant is paid to the upper quartile of local authorities based on the super-sparsity
indicator. Similar to the position with Revenue Support Grant the Council did not
receive RSDG in 2018/19 by virtue of its Pilot status. It is not known if this grant will
continue beyond 2019/20 so the MTFS does not currently include any values for those
future years. The amount awarded for 2019/20 is £159k.

Page 139

-5-

Financial Year

RSDG
Receivable
£000

2017-18 (for information)
2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021-22
2022-23

3.1.5

(128)
0
(159)
0
0
0

Business Rates (NDR)
As noted at para 3.1.1 above there is considerable uncertainty around the future
arrangements for local government funding and how the Fairer Funding Review that is
taking place will translate into any reallocation of resources to reflect need.
The
Government has already announced its intention to move to a 75% business rate
retention value for 2020/21. Decisions on the reset detail of the business rates baseline
in 2020/21 are still to be made.
The values for retained business rates in the 2019/20 budget are based on the NNDR1
values submitted to the Government and on assumptions regarding the provision
required for appeals, as detailed below. The Surplus on the collection fund has been
paid into the Council Tax Reserve in order to support future year budgets in the event
of further business rate volatility. The variation in figures relate to the different
arrangements that have been in place, e.g. Pilot, Pool, 75% retention.

2018/19
(Pilot)
£000
Retained Business Rates
S31 Grants
Tariff
Pre - levy Income
Levy to Lincs CC*2
Estimated Deficit/(Surplus)
on Collection Fund*3
Net Retained Business
rates Income
Net gain from the Pool*4

2019/20*1
(50%
Pool)
£000

2020/21
(75%
Pool)
£000

2021-22
(75%
Pool)
£000

2022-23
(75%
Pool)
£000

(14,202)
(1,207)
9,580
(5,829) *5
0
(402)

(9,897)
(1,094)
5,798
(5,193)
259
(1,276)

(10,089)
(1,259)
5,906
(5,443)
255
0

(10,286)
(1,285)
6,024
(5,547)
249
0

(10,486)
(1,300)
6,144
(5,641)
243
0

(6,231)

(6,210)

(5,188)

(5,298)

(5,398)

NA

(388)

(383)

(374)

(364)

Notes to Table:
*1
*2
*3

*4
*5

Based on the NNDR1 values, Lincolnshire Pool and 50% Retention.
No Levy in 2018/19 as part of the Pilot
Surplus value has been paid into the Council Tax Reserve
Value for information only. Represents the value of additional business rates
retained as a result of being in the Lincolnshire Business Rates Pool.
Included allowance for RSG, due in that year, as a result of the Pilot.

Page
- 6 - 140

In 2018/19 only, the Council benefited from being in the Pilot and overall the Council
was able to make a £722k contribution to its Council Tax Reserve.
As noted above there is currently a one-off projected surplus on the Business Rates
Collection Fund, with SHDC’s share being £1.276m as a result of an in year review of
appeals provision, with a zero balance assumed in future years. The volatility that
Councils are experiencing with business rates income is a feature of the structure of
local government funding. For 2019/20 a review of the level of appeals that have
been submitted and projected success rates indicates that this value can be reduced.
This has had a positive effect on the values assumed to be retained in the collection
fund at the end of 2018/19 and available to support the budget for 2019/20. Members
are advised that it is likely that there will be future swings in business rates income
over the MTFS and as such it is proposed that the Council Tax reserve be used to
smooth these swings in the Collection Fund. As such it is proposed that the 2019/20
collection fund surplus is contributed into this reserve and be available for future year
budget support if required.

3.2

Collection Fund

3.2.1

Each year the Council is required to calculate the balance on its Collection Fund.

3.2.2

Current estimates indicate a £100k surplus in 2019/20 for council tax with a zero
balance assumed in future years.

3.3

Council Tax Base

3.3.1

Delegated authority was given to the S151 Officer to approve the tax base, as, by law,
this must be set in the period 1 December to 31 January each financial year. The local
Tax Base reflects:
-

Changes to the baseline number of properties during 2018,
The impact of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme (no change for 2019/20
other than inclusion of relief for carers), and
Assumed growth.

3.3.2

The Council Tax base for 2019/20 is currently estimated at 27,931 properties, an
increase of 629 properties (2.3%) over the final 2018/19 tax base giving additional
income of approximately £245k. An ongoing annual increase of 1.5% per annum is
assumed over the MTFS period.

3.4

Council Tax

3.4.1

In 2016/17 Council Tax levels for Band D property were approved to increase by up to
£5 per annum over the life of the MTFS which equates to an approximate 3% increase
in each year. The Finance Settlement confirmed that the referendum cap for local
authorities remains in place for 2019/20, with the exception of Police and Crime
Commissioners. The 2019/20 budgets assume a £4.95 increase which equates to a
2.91% increase. The MTFS assumes an ongoing increase of £4.95 per annum.

Page 141

-7-

3.4.2

The following table shows the estimated level of Council Tax for the MTFS period.

A
B
C
D

3.4.3

Council Tax base (band D
equivalents)
Council Tax band D (£.p.)
Annual increase (£.p.)
Annual increase %
Annual Council tax
collected (a x b)
Surplus on Collection
Fund
Gross Council Tax (c + d)

2019/20
£000

2020/21
£000

2021/22
£000

2022/23
£000

27,302

27,931

28,350

28,755

29,207

169.83
4.99
3.03%
(4,637)

174.78
4.95
2.91%
(4,881)

179.73
4.95
2.83%
(5,093)

184.68
4.95
2.75%
(5,312)

189.63
4.95
2.68%
(5,536)

(79)

(100)

0

0

0

(4,716)

(4,981)

(5,093)

(5,312)

(5,536)

The following table sets out the estimated 2019/20 Council Tax for each Property Band
and the changes over 2018/19 values:
Band

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H

3.4.4

2018/19
£000

Ratio

6/9
7/9
8/9
9/9
11/9
13/9
15/9
18/9

2018/19

2019/20

£

£

113.22
132.09
150.96
169.83
207.57
245.31
283.05
339.66

116.52
135.94
155.36
174.78
213.62
252.46
291.30
349.56

2018/19 to 2019/20 change
Annual
Weekly
£
£
3.30
3.85
4.40
4.95
6.05
7.15
8.25
9.90

0.06
0.07
0.08
0.10
0.12
0.14
0.16
0.19

The table below details the proposed council Tax band D information for the precepting
authorities in South Holland DC (Subject to formal confirmation).
Authority

Proposed
band D
2019/20
(£.p)

Lincolnshire County Council (TBC)
Police and Crime Commissioner (TBC)
South Holland DC
Parishes including Spalding Special (average)

Page
- 8 - 142

1,292.40
241.38
174.78
38.10

Increase
over
2018/19
(£.p)
60.93
23.94
4.95
1.27

Increase
over
2018/19
%
4.95%
11.01%
2.91%
3.45%

3.4.5

The following chart shows the Band D Council Tax levels (excluding parish precepts)
for Lincolnshire Councils for 2018/19.

Band D Council Tax by Lincolnshire Authority
(2018/19),
excluding parish precepts

£300.00
£250.00
£200.00
£150.00
£100.00
£50.00
£0.00
City of
Lincoln

West
Lindsey

Boston

South
Holland

3.5

Budget Summary 2019/20

3.5.1

Total Financing – 2018/19 to 2022/23

North
Kesteven

South
Kesteven

East
Lindsey

The table below shows the impact of the 2019/20 settlement (to be confirmed) within
the overall financing of the authority:
Source of
Financing

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

2021/22
£’000

2022/23
£’000

Council Tax
Non Domestic
Rates
Revenue Support
Grant (RSG)
Rural Service
Delivery Grant
New Homes
Bonus Grant
Spalding Special
Expenses
Town & Parish
Councils
Collection Fund
Deficit/(Surplus) Non Domestic
Rates
Collection Fund
Deficit/(Surplus) Council Tax

(4,637)

(4,881)

(5,093)

(5,312)

(5,536)

(5,829)

(4,935)

(5,189)

(5,297)

(5,398)

0

(271)

0

0

0

0

(159)

0

0

0

(1,007)

(1,002)

(638)

(412)

(284)

(211)

(218)

(218)

(218)

(218)

(794)

(847)

(863)

(881)

(898)

(402)

(1,276)

0

0

0

(79)

(100)

0

0

0

Total Financing

(12,959)

(13,689)

(12,001)

(12,120)

(12,334)

Band D Charge
Tax Base
Band D cost per
week

£169.83
27,302

£174.78
27,931

£179.73
28,330

£184.68
28,755

£189.63
29,186

£3.26

£3.36

£3.45

£3.55

£3.64

Page 143

-9-

3.6

Draft 2019/20 General Fund Estimates
The table below shows the budget estimates for 2019/20 analysed by type of
expenditure/income as shown in Appendix B.

3.6.1

The estimates show a net balanced position for 2019/20, after transfers to and from
reserves, the following main variances from 2018/19 should be noted:








An estimated surplus on the NDR Collection Fund of £1.276m, transferred
to reserves. This is as a result of a reduction in the level of appeals
provision that has been assumed.
The impact of an assumed 2% pay award and incremental pay progression
on employee budgets together with a new banding structure,
An increasing pension fund deficit,
2% increased costs of Internal Drainage Board levies
Additional Investment Income.
Additional Council tax income due to growth in the tax base, the increased
Band D charge and a surplus on the collection fund (£99k)
Some budget reductions taken from services as part of the Star Chamber
process

3.6.2

All budgets have been subject to “budget challenge” by the S151 and Deputy S151
officers which has allowed operational budget reductions to be made in order to deliver
a balanced budget in 2019/20.

3.6.3

Notes providing further explanations of major variances between the two years are
given below the table.

Page
- 10 - 144

Description

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies & Services
Transformation
Drainage Board Levies
Parish Precepts
Third Party Payments
Transfer
Payments
(including
Housing
Benefits)
Depreciation
&
Impairment Charges
Direct
Revenue
Financing
Capital – Contra Entries
Transfers
to/(from)
Earmarked Reserves
Total Expenditure
Rents
&
Service
Charges
Fees & Charges
Grants, Reimbursements
& Contributions
Investment Income
Recharges
Total Income
Net Expenditure

3.6.4

2018/19
Original
Estimate
£’000

2018/19
Revised
Estimate
£’000

2019/20
Estimate
£’000

Variance
from OE
£’000

Variance
from RE
£’000

7,582
947
772
3,517
273
2,384
794
3,259
20,491

8,265
926
790
3,611
104
2,384
794
3,254
20,509

9,177
1,039
909
3,369
350
2,431
847
3,185
17,222

1,595
92
137
(148)
77
47
53
(74)
(3,269)

912
113
119
(242)
246
47
53
(69)
(3,287)

1,030

1,030

945

(85)

(85)

100

684

1802

1,702

1,118

(1,105)
672

(1,105)
39

(1,020)
(324)

85
(996)

85
(363)

40,716

41,285

39,932

(784)

(1,353)

(1,021)

(1,021)

(1,164)

(143)

(143)

(3,788)
(20,930)

(3,846)
(20,927)

(4,119)
(17,885)

(331)
3,045

(273)
3,042

(196)
(1, 823)
(27,758)

(196)
(2,336)
(28,326)

(357)
(2,719)
(26,243)

(161)
(896)
1,515

(161)
(383)
2,083

12,959

12,959

13,689

730

730

As shown at Appendix B the MTFS current forecast for 2020/21 to 2022/23 shows a
deficit in each year as follow:
£000
Net Expenditure
Financing
Transfer to/(from)
reserves

2019/20
13,689
(13,689)
(0)

2020/21
12,213
(12,001)
(212)

Page 145

- 11 -

2021/22
12,123
(12,120)
(3)

2022/23
12,154
(12,334)
180

3.7

Explanation of 2019/20 Budgets:

3.7.1

Moving Forward Savings
The Council has delivered some significant savings from its original Moving Forward
Programme. These savings from the Councils original £1.105m target are now built
into base budgets. The budgets for 2019/20 have a remaining savings target of £135k
to be delivered in year. The proposals for Moving Forward phase 2 will extend the
Council’s developing Growth and Commercialisation agenda, with some significant
projects to deliver further ongoing savings within the MTFS.

3.7.2

Employee Related Expenses
The overall increase in employee costs is as a result of changes across a number of
areas, notably:







Incremental pay progression and the national pay award (2% and other pay
grade uplifts),
Corrections of previous establishment budgeting errors.
Reductions in Agency costs to reflect the revised establishment.
Growth in the homelessness services as a result of new legislation, which will
be funded from government grants.
Movements between shared management costs and direct salaries.
an increase in the pension deficit costs (£48k);

Staffing budgets include a salary vacancy factor, this presents a potential budget risk
depending upon the level of vacancies within the establishment and may require
proactive management of staffing vacancies to achieve this target saving.
The staffing structure for 2018/19 currently includes a one year fixed term secondment
Senior Policy Officer role. This report requests to increase the establishment by 1 FTE
(shared with SHDC at 60% BC and 40% SHDC) to create a post that adds capacity to
support the Chief Executive and Directors at a senior level to move forward a number
of strategic priorities and helps to identify the key impacts of emerging national and
local policy on the organisation(s) from a corporate point of view, enabling effective
mitigation as required.
In line with the pension triennial valuation through to 2019/20 the employer’s
contribution rate is 16.7% for 2019/20. The secondary rate (deficit payment) increases
by £67k from £571k (2018/19) to £638k in 2019/20 of which £455k relates to General
Fund and £164k to the HRA. The amount for 2020/21 is not known and will be subject
to the next triennial review of the pension fund. A 2% increase has been built into the
MTFS.
3.7.3

Premises Related Expenses
The main increase relates to a forecast increase in the value of required repairs and
maintenance costs of council assets £84k. A review of the required programme of
works over the MTFS has identified an increased level of spend in 2019/20 with a
tapering level of spend over the remaining years of the MTFS back to current levels of
expenditure.

Page
- 12 - 146

3.7.4

Transport
Vehicle running costs (fuel and maintenance) have increased by £42k. Although prices
of fuel have been reducing recently there is a pressure within 2018/19 budgets which
requires this budget to be increased for 2019/20.
Car lump sum and mileage allowance combined estimates show an increase of £71k.
Some of this relates to a realignment of costs from shared management to mileage and
also reflect the increase in the value of the allowance to officers to offset the HMRC
additional tax liability. Mileage costs alone are estimated to increase £19k.

3.7.5

Supplies & Services
Supplies and Services budgets have been mostly contained at the same values as
those for 2018/19. The main changes to these budgets reflect
 A £74k increase in computer software and licence costs (£30k for Office 365,
£10k in housing for new Jigsaw Software, £13k for other inflationary costs or
additional tool, £9k increased charges for the Shared Breckland systems (with
offsetting additional income) and £10k for an increase in Spektrix costs at
South Holland centre.
 Moving Forward savings target reduced by £105k compared to the 2018/19
value
 Moving forward expenditure (funded from reserves) is projected to be only
£74k (a £270k reduction on the 2018/19 budgeted expenditure) with a
corresponding reduction in reliance upon reserves.
 Impairment allowances for bad debts have been reviewed and reduced by
£80k

3.7.6

Third Party Payments
CPBS budgets have been increased in 2019/20, (£109k) which is in line with the
proposals put forward to the Stakeholders group to reflect the revised base contract for
CPBS from which future Transformation savings will be delivered. These savings will
be reflected through the Council’s MTFS budgets. The increase reflects South
Holland’s share of two additional HR business partners, a Housing Benefits
Overpayment officer, an annual pay award of 1% and incremental growth, additional
pension member costs, uplifts in Senior Management Team post grades and some
inflationary pressure on some budgets.
The budget for Third Party Payments has reduced as a result of savings from the new
Leisure Service Management contract.

3.7.7

Transfer Payments
This budget consists of Housing Benefits, grant payments and other allowances.
The large reduction in these budget reflects:
 A £2.548m reduction in the rent allowance and rent rebate budget to bring this
in line with anticipated spend (there is an offsetting reduction in benefit income
budgets).
 A reduction in the Grants for Growth expenditure budgets compared to that for
2018/19, this reflects the revised profile of expenditure (and income).

3.7.8

Depreciation and Impairment Charge

Page 147

- 13 -

The decreased depreciation and impairment charges are due to changes in the values
of Council properties.

3.7.9

Drainage Board Levies
The Council’s 2019/20 budget and forward estimates include amounts for Internal
Drainage Boards (IDB). These are levies charged to the authority over which the Council
has little control and form part of the revenue budget. The budget is based on the values
estimated for 2019/20 (£2.384m), a 2.0% (£47k) increase on the values levied for
2018/19).

3.7.10 Direct Revenue Financing
This budget relates to the direct revenue funding of capital expenditure on Priory Road,
ICT investment, Welland Homes and Grounds maintenance. (see capital programme at
Appendix F).
3.7.11 Transfer to and from earmarked reserves
The following table sets out the net contributions to and from earmarked reserves in
2019/20 with further information on reserves and balances provided in paragraph 4:

2019/20
£000
Contributions To Reserves
Contribution to Investment & Growth Reserve to repay previous
investment in the garden waste service
Contribution to Repairs & Renewals Reserve
Transfer of New Homes Bonus to Investment & Growth Reserve
Kings Road cost (recoverable)
NDR Collection fund surplus
TOTAL
Contributions from Reserves
Planned use of Repairs & Renewals Reserve
District Council Election – Council Tax Reserve
Pride in South Holland project
Funding of shared Data Protection officer – Council Tax Reserve
CPBS Transformation funding requirement
3National Graduate Trainee – Transformation reserve
Shared Public Protection Software – Transformation reserve
IT Interim Programme Manager Post – Transformation Reserve
Delivery Unit contribution – Investment & Growth Reserve
Establishment of Community Reserve
Priory Road Works
ICT Infrastructure
Grounds maintenance equipment – Investment & Growth Reserve
Crease Drove Investment – Investment & Growth Reserve
Commercial Acquisition - Investment & Growth Reserve
TOTAL

Page
- 14 - 148

52
136
1,002
14
1,276
2,480
(77)
(130)
(100)
(15)
(213)
(30)
(17)
(31)
(120)
(500)
(137)
(65)
(35)
(835)
(500)
(2,804)

Net Contribution From Reserves

(324)

3.7.12 Rents and Service Charges
This reflects an increase in income from commercial and operational assets including,
Short Street Depot, Broadgate Managed Homes and homelessness rented properties.
3.7.13 Fees & Charges
Income from fees and charges is an important source of revenue income for the
Council. Charges have a central role to play in service delivery, raising income,
controlling access, responding to competition, funding investment and affecting public
behaviour.
The Council will seek to maximise its income from fees and charges in 2019/20 and
proposes to undertake a cross cutting review across all areas with a view to
implementing some changes from October 2019. As part of this strategy the Council
will:











Maximise the return from the Council’s asset holdings and continue to attract
rental income by optimising the usage of office space at Priory Road;
Ensure that the yield from fees and charges matches the increase in base
budget for services that levy fees and charges, otherwise the shortfall will fall
upon the Council Tax payer;
Annually review fees and charges for discretionary services;
Ensure that statutory charges are implemented;
Monitor compliance with the corporate charging policy and corporate debt
policy;
Set targets for income collection and level of arrears and monitor performance
against these targets;
Treat windfall income as a corporate resource;
Use enforcement remedies effectively; and
Seek to minimise benefit subsidy losses.

The base budget for 2019/20 has been reviewed in some places and statutory
increases have been made in Building Control, Planning, and Environmental Health.
 Additional Income in Building Control from street naming and numbering
activities (£10k)
 Increased Shared Management Income (£28k)
 Additional income in Environmental Health from commercial activities (£46k)
 Funding from DWP for security costs (£24k)
 Income from Breckland towards system costs (£11k)

3.7.14 Grants, Contributions & Reimbursements
This budget includes the following adjustments:


Further funding from the Government for Homelessness activities (£90k)

Page 149

- 15 -





2nd phase Grant for Growth income reduced by £663k offset by reduced grant
spend and other costs.
Reduced income for housing benefits £2.557m – offset by reduced expenditure
noted above
Anticipated £32k (10%) reduction in Government Benefit Administration grant.

3.7.15 Investment Income
Forecast interest rates have now risen in the longer term, in addition, the Council is
earning a commercial rate of interest on its investment in Welland Homes Limited.
As a result, this income budget has increased by £164k to £360k compared to the
previous year. There is the possibility that this could increase more. However, the
impact of Brexit on the market is a potential risk.
3.7.16 Recharges
Recharges have been reviewed and adjusted as required to reflect inflationary and
activity increases. These include an increased recharge to the Housing Revenue
Account, to reflect its share of the Corporate and Democratic Core and its share of
support services.
3.8

Other Budget Assumptions

3.8.1

The budget estimates and Medium Term Plan cover the period 2019/20 to 2022/23.
Over this timescale it is important that we make realistic assumptions as to how costs
will rise or fall, this section details the key assumptions made.

3.8.2

The key assumptions used are:







Revenue budgets will be used to deliver services during the year for which they
are approved,
There will be an allowance for unavoidable growth on services (i.e. new
statutory obligations and contractual inflation) but no allowance for any increase
for general inflation,
Estimates are prepared on the understanding that appropriate service budgets
were produced for the previous year (2018/19) which will then be adjusted to
reflect the changing financial circumstances that the public sector is required to
prepare for,
Where service delivery is dependent on a specific grant we will only assume
continuation of the grant and expenditure where such notification has been
received, and
In 2016-17 Council Tax levels were approved to increase by up to £5 per
annum over the life of the MTFS which equates to an approximate 3% increase
in each year.

3.9

Spalding Special Expenses

3.9.1

Spalding Special Expenses are a separate charge to the residents of Spalding for
services provided in their town and are charged as a supplement to the main council
tax. The Spalding Special Expenses budget for 2019/20 was considered by Spalding
Town Forum, on 22nd January 2019. A budget of £217,650 was recommended
(2018/19, £216,000, including a contribution from reserves of £4,500). Detailed
estimates are shown at Appendix C, including the calculation of the Council Tax
charge of £23.67 (2018/19 £23.49).

Page
- 16 - 150

4

General Fund Reserves and Balances

4.1

In order to comply with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the
Council undertakes a review of the level of reserves as part of the annual budget
preparation. The forecast balances on the reserves are considered to be appropriate
for the Council’s future requirements.

4.2

Appendix D outlines the current position with regard to reserve balances. The
proposed budget does not require any long term support from reserve balances,
however the challenging economic environment has required us to undertake a robust
sensitivity analysis should these events require us to draw on balances. Whilst it is
apparent that these risks could be financially significant, Council reserves are currently
at a reasonable level.

4.3

The proposed Council’s budget for 2019/20 makes some assumptions about future
increases in income from fees and charges, commercial income and budget savings.
The timing of the delivery of these savings may mean that full year savings are not
delivered as profiled in the budget. In this event the Council will have to call on its
reserves to help smooth any timing differences in the delivery of the proposed savings.

4.4

Moving forward, the General Fund has a forecast working balance of £2.064m at 1st
April 2018. The Council has an assessed minimum prudent working balance of
£2.000m.

4.5

The table below gives a summary of General Fund Specific Reserve movements
(excluding the General Reserve):
General Fund Specific
2018/19
Reserves (inc Spalding
£’000
Estimated
Special Estimates)
Outturn
Brought Forward
Transfer In
Transfers Out
Carried Forward

2019/20
£’000

2020/21
£’000

2021-22
£’000

2022-23
£’000

7,618

6,662

6,338

5,562

4,428

1,579
(2,535)

2,480
(2,804)

866
(1,642)

640
(1,774)

512
(1,374)

6,662

6,338

5,562

4,428

3,566

Notes to Reserves table:






In addition to specific reserves, shown above, the general fund balance at 1
April 2018 was £2.064m. This is currently forecast to remain unchanged,
This table includes the current estimated effect of the 2018/19 out-turn (Q3
Forecast of a surplus £436k). If, as anticipated, there is a net underspend at
the end of the current year, this will be placed into reserves and be available to
help support any slippage in the projections for savings in 2019/20.
Transfers to Reserves include an annual contribution of £136k to the
Replacement and Refurbishment Reserve to assist the Council in maintaining
its asset base,
All New Homes Bonus Scheme grant received has been taken to the
Investment & Growth Reserve. Within this reserve a sum of £500k has been

Page 151

- 17 -



ring fenced as a Community Reserve. Further information will be brought
forward for members to consider.
The balance of the Investment and Growth Reserve, after the allocation of
£500k for a community reserve fund, will be used to fund feasibility work relating
to the development of commercial opportunities and funding of capital schemes
aligned to the commercialisation agenda (such as FEZ, Crease Drove and other
commercial acquisitions).

4.6

In setting the level of General Balances, consideration has been given to the adequacy
of financial control, the overall financial position, medium-term financial plans and the
strategic, operational and financial risks facing the Council.

5

General Fund Capital Strategy and General Fund Capital Estimates

5.1

The Council’s Capital Strategy is shown in Appendix F and focuses on the core
principles of capital investment. The Council has an ambitious transformation
programme and is scheduled to carry out a review of Council-owned assets. This will
result in the asset strategy being revised during 2019/20.

5.2

Appendix F details the updated capital programme of schemes currently in progress or
approved to be delivered for 2019/20 and future years, taking into account the
anticipated outturn for 2018/19. All such schemes are actively monitored through the
Capital Programme Working Group. The values for 2019/20 may change depending
upon the ultimate level of spend and delivery in 2018/19 and other initiatives.

5.3

The main schemes included in the approved 2019/20 programme relate to ICT
investment, Priory Road enhancements, Grants for Growth, Disabled Facility Grants –
funded work, Crease Drove, Food Enterprise Zone and housing investments via
Welland Homes and Commercial Acquisitions. The Council has also been successful
in securing HIF funding for the South Western Relief Road project and this will be
incorporated into the Capital Programme following approval.

5.4

Under the Moving Forward phase 2 programme, it is a priority of the Council that
future capital investment must be directed at generating future growth in housing and
economic development. Additionally the Council needs to make more effective use of
its assets to secure future income streams and make revenue savings. Investment in
Priory Road is a key example where this has been made possible through working
with partners such as the Department for Work and Pensions.

5.5

Appendix F also sets out a number of potential schemes where further detailed work is
required before formal approval to proceed will be requested.

5.6

The Council’s Delivery Unit has been established to progress investment opportunities
which contribute to the above objectives. The team is working on a number of key
future schemes which could require funding from the Council’s Investment and Growth
Reserve. Some of these projects will need detailed feasibility studies to be carried out
before they are approved to ensure they meet the Council’s Commercialisation
priorities.

5.7

The Council will consider the use of borrowing to fund investment if the interest rates
attached to such borrowing still enable a scheme to be financially viable.

6

Housing Revenue Account

Page
- 18 - 152

6.1

The Budget for 2019/20 and the medium term financial plan are shown in Appendix B.

6.2

The following table shows the summary HRA for 2019/20 compared to the 2018/19
position:
HRA Budget by Income & Expenditure 2018/19 to 2019/20
2018/19
Budget
£000

Description

2019/20
Budget
£000

Variance
£000

Rent Income – Dwellings
Charges for Services & facilities

(14,713)
(1,154)

(14,646)
(1,169)

67
(15)

Total Income

(15,867)

(15,815)

52

Repairs & Maintenance
Supervision & Management
Rents Rates Taxes and Other Charges
Depreciation
Special Services
Provision for Doubtful Debts
.
Total Expenditure

3,276
2,790
72
2.923
1130
169

2,999
3,347
64
3,124
1,010
221

(277)
647
(9)
201
(121)
52

10,360

10,854

494

Contribution from Operations

(5,507)

(4,961)

(546)

(62)
82
2,348
-

(161)
82
2,348
3,447

(99)
3,447

(3,140)

754

3,894

Investment Income
Debt Management Costs
Interest on Loans
Capital Expenditure charged to
Revenue
Net operating (surplus)/Deficit

6.3

Explanation of Budget Variations

6.3.1

Rent Income - Dwelling Rents




2019/20 will be the final year of the 1% rent reductions imposed by the
government. The leap year in 2020 will result in extra rental income over the
budgeted 2018/19 amount.
The Council had 3,804 HRA dwellings at 1st April 2018, with 15 houses sold
under the right to buy and 4 new builds during 2018/19.
An assumed rent loss of 1% for void properties and 1.5% for bad debts.

Page 153

- 19 -

6.3.2

Charges for Services and Facilities
Sewage Charges
Historically charges for sewage have been increased in line with the annual increase
applied by Anglian Water. Charges were increased by 2.5% in 2017-18 to catch up for
several years’ increases which had not been actioned. As for 2018/19 for 2019/20 it is
proposed that charges be increased in line with the annual increase applied by Anglian
Water. This figure is not yet known. For the 2019/20 estimates this has been based
on 2018/19 actuals.
Hire of Guest Rooms
Charges for the hire of Guest Rooms for tenant guests were increased by 1.6% in
2017/18. Charges will be reviewed in 2019 but probably not in effect until 2020/21,
when it is likely they will be increased in line with CPI. No increase has been included
in the 2019/20 budget.
Other Service Charges
Prior to 2017-18 other Service Charges had not been increased for several years as
the HRA has been able to defer any increase. In 2017-18 it was considered prudent
that the charges be increased on an annual basis in line with the December CPI. This
process needs completing again and a detailed review of service charges will be done
in 2019 to reflect updated budget and service charges, but is unlikely to take effect until
2020/21. No increases have been included in the 2019/20 budget at this stage.

6.3.3

Repairs & Maintenance
A fall in the total spend on Repairs and Maintenance is mainly due to the reallocation of
Salaries to Supervision and Management. Current spend levels are expected to
remain at 2018/19 levels, although risk remains regarding the price of materials
following Brexit. This may also affect other contract renewals within Building
Maintenance.

6.3.4

Supervision & Management
This service includes sheltered housing, alarm monitoring, community facilities, estate
management and sewerage works, managing HRA Assets and delivery of the HRA
affordable Housing Programme. The increased budget is due to reallocation of Salaries
from Repairs and Maintenance above.

6.3.5

Rents Rates taxes and other Charges
This is predominately Council tax paid on Sheltered and void Properties.

6.3.6

Depreciation
The net depreciation charge to the HRA has increased from £2.923m to £3.124m in
line with the HRA Business Plan. This amount, is currently charged to the HRA and
credited to Major Repairs Reserve, and used to fund capital expenditure. In 2017-18
the basis of calculation has changed nationally to reflect an increase in the social
housing factor (the proportion of open market value used for calculation) from 34% to
42%, and this has also been used in 2019/20.

Page
- 20 - 154

6.3.7

Provision for Doubtful Debts
The phased roll out of Universal Credit is likely to have significant impact on the
Housing Revenue Account. Further modelling is required to quantify the impact,
however, at this stage the provision for doubtful debts has been increased within the
MTFS by £50k per annum.

6.3.8

Special Services
A review of the Recharge and Allocation of costs within the HRA has taken place as
part of the budgeting process. This has resulted in a decrease in charges of £120k.

6.3.9

Capital Expenditure charged to Revenue
In previous years the annual revenue contribution to the capital programme has been
credited to the Major Repairs Reserve and has been unspent due to delays in the
delivery of the HRA Affordable Housing Programme. The Major Repairs Reserve of
over £6m will be used to fund capital expenditure in 2019/20 without the need for a
revenue contribution. A revenue contribution from the HRA Working Balance will be
required in 2020/21 to support the delivery of the re-phased capital programme as the
forecasted Major Repairs Reserve Balance at the end of 2019/20 is only £74k.

7

HRA Reserves

7.1

The table below shows the unallocated reserve balances as at 31st March 2018 and
the estimated movements to 31st March 2020. The balances within the table are funds
that can be used to finance both revenue and capital expenditure, for example, one- off
invest to save projects and to meet expenditure arising from unexpected events.
HRA
Working
Balance
£’000
Balance at 1st April 2018

Major
Repairs
Reserve
£’000

Insurance
Reserve
£’000

12,752

200

6,436

3,044
-

-

3,058
(5,065)

Balance at 31st March 2019

15,796

200

4,429

Transfers in
Transfers Out

2,693
(3,447)

-

3,124
(7,552)

Balance at 31st March 2020

15,042

200

-

Transfers in
Transfers Out

7.2

The Major Repairs Reserve will be used to finance capital investment within the HRA.
(See Appendix E).

8.

HRA Capital

8.1

The HRA summary programme is shown in Appendix E.

Page 155

- 21 -

8.2

Detailed planned maintenance programmes have been compiled from asset
management data to address key decent homes criteria.

8.3

The Council had previously accrued £6.4m in its Major Repairs Reserve over the last
few years due to slippage in the planned Affordable Housing Programme. A re-phased
Affordable Housing Programme, with staffing resources, has now been established and
this will replace units sold through right to buy (RTB) sales in order to:




8.4

The programme will be delivered through a combination of new build and the purchase
of affordable housing units. A total of £16.5m has been allocated during the period of
the MTFS from 2018/19 to 2022/23. This will allow the Council to deliver:





8.5

ensure that reserves are spent effectively,
maximise the use of resources available through retained RTB receipts, and
access opportunities for additional grant funding through Homes England.

A development of 34 units for rent/shared ownership at Small Drove, Weston,
A development at Severn Road, Spalding. This project is still under evaluation,
but is expected to deliver in excess of 20 units
Acquisition of approximately 18 units of affordable housing directly from
developers to provide properties to address key areas of housing need; and
Support to a £2.5m annual programme which will deliver approximately 18-20
units per year.

The programme also includes specific provision for:




the major area works - environmental improvements on estates,
the essential improvements to Sewage Plant works, and
the upgrade of key housing IT Systems.

8.6

Following the abolition of the debt restrictions for the HRA the Council is now
proactively considering how to take this work forward, with the potential for
development of future stock, subject to the business case funded by the taking of debt.

9

Risk, Key Issues, Sensitivity and Monitoring

9.1

The Council must set a budget which is a realistic statement of its estimated income
and expenditure for the coming year, based upon information currently available. The
Council has a duty to take into account the demand for its services and the effect on
council tax payers of meeting those demands at varying levels of services. Given the
good management practices and sound financial and performance monitoring delivered
in the past, the Council has the platform and expertise to deliver a balanced budget.

9.2

The following table details the key risks and issues identified and how we intend to
treat them.
Risk

Likelihood

Impact

Mitigating Action

Reduced public sector
funding from Central
Government (e.g.New
Homes Bonus)
Low income levels from
fees and charges

High

High

Medium

Medium

Return to lower interest
rates

High

High

Keep up to date with
developments and make
prudent budget
assumptions.
Review and revise proposals
for fees and charges and
annual increases as
appropriate.
Market advice and forecasting.
Mitigation by diversification

Page
- 22 - 156

Risk

Likelihood

Impact

Mitigating Action

Business rates retention
reset leave Council
exposed to economic
fluctuations and rating
appeals
Pension fund deficit

Medium

High

Medium

Medium

Additional bad debts as a
result of economic
circumstances
Increased maintenance
costs of ageing physical
assets
Inflation rises by more
than budgeted
projections
Growth plans may
require borrowing at
some point in the future

Medium

Medium

Medium

Medium

Medium

Medium

High

High

Compass Point Business
Services may be unable
to deliver an effective
service within the agreed
reduced contract price.
Brexit negotiations and
trade deals impact on the
levels of NNDR income
and Housing Benefits
demand.
Court Income

Low

Medium

Medium

Low

Monitor developments & set
aside appropriate reserves and
provisions to help with
potential initial pressures and
fluctuations
Close links with LCC pension
fund
Increased contributions
following triennial review
Pro-active debt management
and pre-pay fee policies in line
with Cabinet Decisions
Asset management plan. Proactive rather than reactive
maintenance programme
Budget assumptions kept up to
date with most recent
projections.
Continue to closely monitor
and prioritise the Council's
Capital Financing
Requirement.
Reviewing Service Level
Agreements, activity levels and
service priorities, develop a
suitable Transformation
Programme
Reserve to manage potential
fall to NNDR safety net levels

High

Low

Court income projections are
in line with budget. The budget
has not been increased due to
concerns over collectability of
this income. A year-end review
will be undertaken to inform
future year’s budgets.

Housing Benefit
Overpayments

High

High

Additional duties arising
from the Homeless
Reduction Act

High

High

Universal Credit

High

Medium

The level of Housing Benefit
Overpayments and their
recoverability needs to be
monitored closely through the
year in order to ensure budget
levels are appropriate.
Embed structure changes in
service maximise use of
DCLG funding and closely
monitor impact.
The implementation of the
Universal credit may impact on
the General Fund in terms of
running costs for the Benefits
service and additional demand
on other council services and

Page 157

- 23 -

Risk

Increased risk that
liability insurance
premiums will increase

Likelihood

Medium

Impact

Low

Mitigating Action
on the HRA in terms of
increased arrears. This will be
closely monitored.
Prepare to go to the market
again if premiums exceed
market trends.

10

Treasury Management Policy and Investment Strategy

10.1

The Treasury Management Policy and Investment Strategy (Appendix G) together
provide the basis for decisions of capital investment, use of reserves, our cash flow and
revenue budgets. There is no change in Policy from the previous year. Scrutiny of the
Treasury Management Strategy is undertaken by the Governance and Audit
Committee throughout the year. The Investment Strategy reflects the projected MTFS
and Capital Programme for General Fund and HRA.

Page
- 24 - 158

Draft General Fund Summary

Area
Employee Related Expenditure
Premises Related Expenditure
Transport Related Expenditure
Supplies & Services
Transformation
Drainage Board Levies
Parish Precepts
Third party Payments
Transfer Payments
Support Services
Depreciation and Impairment Losses
Grant payment to parishes
Income from trading activities
Income
COUNCIL SUB-TOTAL

APPENDIX B
2018-19
ORIGINAL
ESTIMATE
£'000
7,582
947
772
3,400
391
2,384
794
3,259
20,491
0
1,030
0
0
(27,758)
13,292

2018-19
REVISED
ESTIMATE
£'000
8,265
926
790
3,611
104
2,384
794
3,254
20,509
0
1,030
0
0
(28,326)
13,341

2019-20
£'000
9,177
1,039
909
3,369
350
2,431
847
3,185
17,222
0
945
0
0
(26,243)
13,231

2020-21
£'000
9,164
963
908
3,490
(240)
2,431
863
3,174
17,222
0
886
0
0
(26,315)
12,546

2021-22
£'000
9,299
952
908
3,488
(240)
2,431
881
3,171
17,222
0
868
0
0
(26,312)
12,668

2022-23
£'000
9,451
923
908
3,488
(240)
2,431
898
3,172
17,222
0
858
0
0
(26,312)
12,799

100
(1,105)
0
0
1,864
(1,192)
0
12,959
0
12,959

684
(1,105)
0
0
1,864
(1,824)
0
12,960
0
12,960

1,802
(1,020)
0
0
2,480
(2,804)
0
13,689
0
13,689

1,463
(1,020)
0
0
866
(1,642)
0
12,213
(212)
12,001

1,609
(1,020)
0
0
640
(1,774)
0
12,123
(3)
12,120

1,237
(1,020)
0
0
512
(1,374)
0
12,154
180
12,334

0
0
(14,202)
(1,207)
0
9,580
(1,007)
0
(211)
(794)
(402)
(79)

0
0
(14,202)
(1,207)
0
9,580
(1,007)
0
(211)
(794)
(402)
(79)

(271)
(159)
(9,639)
(1,094)
0
5,798
(1,002)
0
(218)
(847)
(1,276)
(100)

0
0
(9,835)
(1,260)
0
5,906
(638)
0
(218)
(863)
0
0

0
0
(10,036)
(1,285)
0
6,024
(412)
0
(218)
(881)
0
0

0
0
(10,243)
(1,300)
0
6,145
(284)
0
(218)
(898)
0
0

4,637

4,638

4,881

5,093

5,312

5,536

27,302

27,302

27,931

28,350

28,775

29,207

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital Expenditure
Capital Charges Contra Entry
Minimum Revenue Provision
Interest on borrowing
Contributions to Reserves
Contributions From Reserves
Contribution from General Fund Reserves
NET COST OF SERVICES
Funding (Shortfall)
BUDGET REQUIREMENT
Financing
Local Government Settlement RSG
Rural Services Grant
Retained Buisness rates
Section 31 Grants for Business Rates
Community Right to bid and challenge
Business rates tariff
New Homes Bonus Grant
Council Tax Freeze Grant
Spalding Special Expenses
Town & Parish Councils
Share of Collection Fund Deficit/(Surplus)-NNDR
Share of Collection Fund Deficit/(Surplus)-C Tax
SOUTH HOLLAND PRECEPT REQUIREMENT
TAX BASE
SOUTH HOLLAND BAND D COUNCIL TAX
PERCENTAGE Increase

£

169.83

£

169.83
3.03%

Page 159

£

174.78
2.91%

£

179.73
2.83%

£

184.68
2.75%

£

189.63
2.68%

Draft Housing Revenue Account Summary

Area
Income
Dwelling Rents
Charges for services and facilities

APPENDIX B
2018-19
2018-19
ORIGINAL REVISED
ESTIMATE ESTIMATE 2019-20
£'000
£'000
£'000

2020-21
£'000

2021-22
£'000

2022-23
£'000

(14,713)
(1,154)
(15,867)

(14,713)
(1,154)
(15,867)

(14,646)
(1,169)
(15,815)

(15,019)
(1,197)
(16,216)

(15,241)
(1,225)
(16,466)

(15,467)
(1,254)
(16,721)

3,304
2,762
72
1,130
2,923
169
10,360

3,276
2,790
72
1,130
2,923
169
10,360

2,999
3,437
64
1,010
3,124
221
10,854

3,059
3,524
65
1,033
3,184
271
11,137

3,131
3,612
67
1,058
3,245
321
11,434

3,204
3,703
69
1,083
3,307
371
11,737

Contribution from Operations

(5,507)

(5,507)

(4,961)

(5,079)

(5,033)

(4,984)

Interest payable
Debt management costs
HRA investment income
Capital Expenditure funded by the HRA
Transfer to Major Repairs Reserve
Net Operating (surplus)/deficit

2,348
82
(62)
0
0
(3,139)

2,348
82
(62)
0
0
(3,140)

2,348
82
(161)
3,447
0
754

2,348
82
(161)
2,060
0
(751)

2,348
82
(161)
3,385
0
621

2,348
82
(161)
3,357
0
641

Housing Revenue Account Balance
Brought Forward
In Year (Surplus)/Deficit
Carried Forward

(12,752)
(3,139)
(15,891)

(12,752)
(3,140)
(15,891)

(15,891)
754
(15,137)

(15,137)
(751)
(15,888)

(15,888)
621
(15,267)

(15,267)
641
(14,626)

Expenditure
Repairs and maintenance
Supervision and management
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges
Special services
Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets
(Increase)/decrease in bad debt provision

Page 160

APPENDIX C - Spalding Special Expenses Proposed Budget for 2019-20

2018-19
Estimates
£
57,200
3,600

2019-20
£
37,300
2,800

2018-19 to
2019-20
Variance
£
(19,900)
(800)

26,700
30,900
14,750
10,380
29,500
8,500
9,900

45,500
33,200
16,270
11,480
23,300
8,500
11,200

18,800
2,300
1,520
1,100
(6,200)
0
1,300

Contribution to management of churchyard of St Mary &
St Nicolas Parish Church
Administrative Support
Bus Shelter Maintenance
Contribution to play areas
Spalding Town Centre Promotion
Crime prevention
Chairman's contingency
Grass Cutting
Contribution from Spalding Special Reserve
Total Expenditure

750
4,500
370
1,000
1,500
7,700
750
8000
(4,500)
211,500

750
6,900
0
1,000
0
7,700
750
11,000
0
217,650

0
2,400
(370)
0
(1500)
0
0
3,000
4,500
6,150

Funding
Total Expenditure
Capital Reserve
Charged
Tax Base
Band D equivalent

211,500
0
211,500
9,002
23.49

217,650
0
217,650
9,197
23.67

6,150
0
6,150
195
0.18

Actual Balances
Balance Brought Forward

(147,349)

(142,849)

Funded From Reserves
Contribution from SSE reserves (forecast)
Forecast reserve carried forward

4,500
(142,849)

0
(142,849)

Spalding Cemetery
Spalding Allotments
Playing Fields at:Ayscoughfee (excluding gardens)
Halley Stewart
Thames Road
Fulney Road
Monkshouse Lane
Contribution to Voluntary Car Scheme
Christmas Decorations

Page 161

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX D – General Fund Reserves
Reserve

General Fund Working Balance

Balance
31/03/2019
£'000

IN
£'000

Balance
31/03/2020
£'000

OUT
£'000

IN
£'000

Balance
31/03/2021
£'000

OUT
£'000

IN
£'000

Balance
31/03/2022
£'000

OUT
£'000

IN
£'000

Balance
31/03/2023
£'000

OUT
£'000

2,078

0

0

2,078

0

0

2,078

0

0

2,078

0

0

2,078

1,286

1,276

(245)

2,317

40

(100)

2,257

40

(100)

2,197

40

(100)

2,137

20

0

(78)

(58)

0

(14)

(72)

0

0

(72)

0

0

(72)

164

136

(77)

223

136

(65)

294

136

(65)

365

136

(37)

464

4,986

1,068

(2,404)

3,650

690

(1,463)

2,877

464

(1,609)

1,732

336

(1,237)

831

206

0

0

206

0

0

206

0

0

206

0

0

206

Total Specific Reserves

6,662

2,480

(2,804)

6,338

866

(1,642)

5,562

640

(1,774)

4,428

512

(1,374)

3,566

Total General Fund Reserves

8,740

2,480

(2,804)

8,416

866

(1,642)

7,640

640

(1,774)

6,506

512

(1,374)

5,644

Specific Reserves
Council Tax Reserve
Transformation Reserve
Replacement and Refurbishment
Reserve
Investment and Growth
Grants Unapplied

Page 163

This page is intentionally left blank

PART 1
1.0 INTRODUCTION
South Holland District Council renews its Capital Strategy on an annual basis. This ensures
a strategy that maintains a strong and current link to our Corporate Plan.
Extract from Corporate Plan
…….“South Holland District Council has always been a forward-thinking, entrepreneurial
authority. We continue to strive for excellence and we deliver great value for money for our
residents while making the most of the huge opportunities for economic growth in our
district”……….
…..Corporate Plan priorities are:
 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while
protecting the most vulnerable
 To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop
and thrive
 Providing the right services, at the right time and in the right way
 Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth
This Strategy aims to drive the authority’s capital investment ambition whilst ensuring capital
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management are appropriately aligned and
managed to support sustainable, long term delivery of services.
This strategy has been updated to incorporate the revised Ministry for Communities,
Housing and Local Government (MCHLG) statutory guidance on Local Government
Investments, included in the updated Chartered Institute of Public Finance
Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury management and the Prudential
Code) effective from 01/04/2018)
The key changes arising from the new guidance are:
1. The definition of an investment which now covers financial and non-financial
investments
2. The extension of the role of the S151 Officer
The Council is currently reviewing its commercialisation agenda and various Capital
Schemes are currently either underway or being reviewed.
The management and monitoring of the Treasury Management Policies and
Prudential indicators (for financial and non-financial investments) remains the responsibility
of Full Council (via the Governance and Audit Committee).

Page 165

The Strategy is set out as follows:
1.0 Introduction
2.0 Core strategy principles
3.0 Strategic context
4.0 Non-financial investments
5.0 Capital resources and financing
6.0 Framework for management and monitoring
7.0 Risk and mitigation

Page 166

PART 2
2.0 CORE STRATEGY
This Core strategy explains how we will manage our capital resources to deliver our current
and foreseeable capital programme. From 2019 to 2023 the Council is likely to need
significant investment to advance the priorities stated within its corporate plan and will need
to adopt a responsive and flexible approach to how it invests in services. In order to deliver
the corporate plan priorities we need to deliver efficiencies, seek additional funding and
periodically review both the consumption of our capital resources and our stated priorities.
We will ensure this happens through these 5 core principles:
Principle 1 – Managing the impact of investment decisions on our revenue budgets
We will do this by,
 Ensuring capital investment decisions do not place additional pressure on
Council Tax or our Medium Term Financial Plan
 Promoting capital investment which allows either invest to save outcomes or
generates revenue/capital income to support the objectives of the Council
 Setting a rolling 3-5 year capital programme annually and identify future
risks/unfunded items to support longer term decision making /prioritisation
Principle 2 - Ensure decisions to invest are transparent and demonstrate the extent to
which the capital invested is placed at risk including the impact of any potential
losses on the financial sustainability of the Council is understood.
We will do this by,
 Maintaining a schedule of financial and non-financial investments
 Using performance Indicators to ensure the proportionality of all investments so that
the Council does not undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an
excessive level of risk compared to its financial resources
 Using Treasury Management Practices (TMP’s) which specifically deal with how non
treasury investments will be carried out and managed
 Ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all non-financial investments and
is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority
Principle 3 – Optimise the availability of capital funding where that funding supports
the priorities of South Holland District Council
We will do this by,
 Disposal of surplus or poor performing assets and use the funds to reinvest
 Having effective working relationships with potential funders
 Listening to and support effective partnering arrangements
 Accessing external funding wherever possible
Principle 4 – Ensure we have an effective approval process and pre/post project
appraisal
We will do this by,
 Ensuring a system of competition exists for project approval – bid forms
 Due diligence in project appraisal, fully considering project risk
 Robust financial evaluation, carefully considering VFM and Efficiency of
every project and outcomes
 Ensuring our capital schemes use appropriate project management tools appropriate
to the project’s size

Page 167

Principle 5 – Ensure effective performance reporting and management of capital
programme
We will do this by,
 Reporting on the capital programme via monthly financial reporting and quarterly
Cabinet reporting
 Ensuring responsibility for the delivery of the capital programme is clearly defined
and the relevant parties have adequate expertise
PART 3
3.0 STRATEGIC CONTEXT
3.1 Aims of the Capital strategy
The aim of this strategy is to ensure delivery of the Corporate Plan Priorities and ensure
support for the delivery of the Council’s core functions.
Specific aims are to ensure:
 Physical assets and related resources are efficiently and effectively used to support
the South Holland District Council Corporate Plan.
 Issues related to property and other assets are fully reflected in the Council’s
planning, specifically adequate funds for maintenance are available and prioritised to
the assets which generate the majority of income;
 The strategy itself is a useful tool to assist stakeholders understanding of the
Council’s decision making process and project management of its capital
investments;
 Adequate provision is made for delivering corporate priorities and demonstrated
through effective resource allocation;
 Invest to save and invest to earn projects and projects which generate an ongoing
revenue return or economic benefits are encouraged;
 The Council works within the prudential code framework and demonstrates robust
and linked capital and treasury management;
 The Investment Strategy provides an adopted position on how the Council will
manage its cash, reserves and funding within a given timeframe to manage the risk
of limited availability of cash and reserves whilst developing a balanced portfolio of
investment opportunities to provide the potential for significant longer term return to
the Council and the District, with associated benefits to the economy through rising
wage levels and a better skilled workforce.
 Review of the asset management plans to identify surplus or poor performing assets
which can move through a disposal process to generate new capital resources;
 Capital spending plans are affordable and integrated with the Medium Term Plan
(MTP);
 Inward investment into the district is encouraged and innovative approaches to
investment such as partnerships with the Private Sector, collaborative arrangements
with other Local Authorities and creation of new delivery vehicles
 Resources are managed to meet our short, medium and longer term Corporate
priorities

Page 168

3.1 Strategic Links
This strategy is a high level summary of South Holland District Council’s approach to capital
investment. It guides the development of service capital plans, and sets out the policies and
practices that the authority uses to establish monitor and manage the Council’s capital
programme, in line with the MTP.
The priorities in the corporate plan provide the backdrop to the MTP which in turn ensures all
new resources, be it revenue or capital, are allocated through the principles on which it is
based.
This strategy is linked to a number of corporate strategies and initiatives, underpinned by the
South Holland District Council Corporate Plan. The key strategies and initiatives impacting
on capital are:








3.2

Corporate Asset Management Strategy (part 4 of this strategy)
Risk Management Policy (part 7 of this strategy)
Investment Strategy
Treasury Management and Investment Strategy
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTP)
ICT Strategy
Digital Strategy
Housing Strategy
ICT Strategy

The ICT Strategy is used to manage the assets which are the communications and computer
systems and infrastructure. Delivery of the service is managed by Compass Point Business
Services Ltd. Funding is allocated for this in the capital programme and over the longer term
the ICT service will provide revenue funding (through savings) to cover future capital
investment.
3.3

Digital Strategy

The strategy vision is to provide high quality, easy-to-use services that are designed with
customers in mind, delivered efficiently with improved value for money. The strategy aims
are to give staff and elected Members the right digital tools and training to work ‘smarter’,
minimise internal costs of services and generate revenue by making it easier and more
convenient to pay online and use digital marketing to promote our traded services. ICT is the
foundation for delivery of the digital strategy and funding will be allocated in the capital
programme as appropriate.
3.4

Housing

This capital strategy can support the housing needs of the Council, stimulating good quality
new build housing and enabling delivery of affordable housing and temporary
accommodation. Section 106 affordable Housing Contributions will be applied to support the
council’s housing ambitions.

Page 169

PART 4
4.0 NON-FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
4.1 Corporate Asset Management Strategy
4.2 The Corporate Asset Management Strategy 2012-20 is a high level summary of the
Council’s overall approach to the strategic management of its land and building assets. It is
linked to the vision and priorities of the Council to provide a policy direction for the effective
and efficient use of the Council’s assets for the benefit of the residents.
4.3 The Council has split the management of its Operational Assets into the Place portfolio
and the Investment Assets into the Commercialisation portfolio to recognise the different
requirements of the asset base. For the investment asset portfolio an assessment of the
level of maintenance required for the properties has been made and this assessment will
feature in both capital and revenue budgets, as it is important that the quality of the stock is
maintained in order to sustain performance. The available capital budgets will be prioritised
to those assets which generate the majority of income. The income generated by the
Commercial Property Account supports other spending in the district and helps keep the
council tax low.
4.4 The Authority continually seeks to identify assets that are surplus and to undertake
disposals accordingly. This not only brings in a capital receipt but maintenance costs and
liabilities are reduced. As a principle we will review and dispose of underutilised or poor
performing assets and ensure that the top performing assets are adequately maintained.
Assets that fail to meet the required yield that will be sought to be disposed of so that the
capital receipt can be re-invested into other higher performing assets to create a stronger
return profile and generate additional revenue income
4.5 The table below provides the gross book values of the council’s Assets including those
assets which are held primarily for financial return (non-financial investments).
Table 1 – South Holland District Council’s Fixed Assets
Asset Type

Community
Heritage
Infrastructure
Investment
Intangible
Property Plant &
Equipment
Assets Held for Sale
Total

Valuation
£'000s
£'000s
2018
2017
816
816
107
107
589
726
740
739
170
329
175,338 174,942
1,391
768
179,151 178,427

Page 170

This table sets out the gross value of assets by category as at 31st March for the last
2 years.
4.7 When seeking to make Commercial Investments, the Council will ensure the same
robust procedures for the consideration of risk and return are applied as is for Treasury
Investments.
4.8 In respect of security of investment, the Council will use a scoring matrix as an indicator
of whether to pursue a commercial investment and then undertake further due diligence if
appropriate. Whilst yield is a determining factor, due consideration will be given to the risks
relating to:
1. failure to create income/exposure to market changes
2. covenant strength/possibility of arrears
3. ongoing management/maintenance of the asset
4. lease arrangements
5. exposure in one sector
6. exposure to one/few tenants
7. exposure to one locality
On an ongoing basis, following purchase of an asset, risks will be monitored. Risks
1-4 above are operational risks currently reported on through the Council’s performance
reporting system, Pentana (as detailed at 4.11). Risks 5-7 will be reported on Pentana from
01/04/2019 as operational risks. If risks are red for two quarters they will get flagged and
potentially be raised as strategic risks.
The risks will be defined and measured as follows:
 Exposure in one sector – market information will be monitored and an assessment
made as to whether that impacts at a local level. eg local and national sector
forecasts, investment activity and yields from professional journals/agents


Exposure to one/few tenants – If one tenant equates to 10% or more of the rental
income stream then we will review the investment decision and existing tenants will
be kept under review in respect of this threshold.



Exposure to locality – The Council’s Commercial investment strategy focuses
investment in the South Holland District but market information will be monitored and
an assessment made as to whether that impacts at a local level eg local and national
sector forecasts, investment activity and yields from professional journals/agents

Liquidity of investments is considered at 4.10 below as part of the wider issue of
proportionality.
The Performance Indicators are monitored at Performance Board, which is officer based
group chaired by the Director of Strategy and Governance. Services are asked to attend this
board when indicators are Red or Amber in order to escalate issues and seek explanations.
This is a monthly board. Alongside Performance Board, Performance Indicators (PI) are
reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly basis where the Corporate
Improvement team provide members with context in the report such as issues as to why the
PI is red or amber and what the service is doing to try and improve performance.
4.9 All bids for funding including non-financial investments will be appraised in line with the
project evaluation criteria set out in section 6 and significant projects will adopt the Council’s
risk management framework and use the risk scoring matrix to assess risk

Page 171

4.10 In respect of commercial investments, new indicators are included in the Treasury
Management strategy to monitor the extent to which the Council relies on income generating
activity to achieve a balanced budget (proportionality indicator). Proportionality in this sense
describes the size and risk of commercial activities with regards to the Council’s operating
and reserves activities. May need to add more words here depending on finance board
feedback re setting maximimum ratio of cash v commercial investments for example
4.11 The Council recognises the importance of managing the performance of its assets and
the Corporate Asset Management Strategy is currently being reviewed.

PART 5
5.0 CAPITAL RESOURCES AND FINANCING
5.1 Capital Resources
The Local Government Act 2003, which includes the legislation for the capital finance
system, does not specify what precisely constitutes capital expenditure. Instead it:
 Refers to “expenditure of the authority which falls to be capitalised in accordance with
proper practices”.
 Enables the Secretary of State to prescribe by regulation which local authority
expenditure shall be treated as capital expenditure and which shall not be treated as
capital expenditure (SI 3146 as amended)
 Enables the Secretary of State to prescribe by regulation that the spending of a
particular local authority shall, or shall not, be treated as capital expenditure
The Council will set a de-minimus limit of £10,000 for expenditure to be considered for
capitalisation providing it meets the criteria for capitalisation as per the capital regulations (SI
3146) and the CIPFA accounting code.
Regulations state that expenditure on repair and maintenance which does not increase the
life, value or extent of use of an asset is not deemed as capital expenditure. The de-minimus
is not applicable to capital grants which may be of any value and are made as a contribution
to a larger capital scheme. The Council sometimes receives directives that grant
contributions are to be applied as Capital expenditure. Should such directives be received,
the Council will treat the grant as capital expenditure if the spend is deemed to meet grant
conditions. From time to time the Council needs to buy vehicles and equipment and a deminimis of £10,000 is applicable to vehicles and equipment
Table 2 sets out the position of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), adjusted for
expected capital programme spend and forecast sources of funding as at
January 2019.
There is an underlying need to borrow from 2022/23 as shown in table 2. Borrowing will only
take place after full consideration of the need for and the implications of borrowing. Table 2
represents the Council’s spending ambitions but release of funding is subject to approval.
The scope for new investment is limited unless additional capital receipts or funding is
generated or external borrowing takes place. The Council will support the principle of lending
on to Welland Homes or a separate entity which will create a funding need by the Council to
ensure funding for projects is delivered in the most cost effective way and will consider any
requests on an individual basis. In addition it will fund on a project by project basis, if
appropriate to improve Treasury returns. Whilst all projects within the capital programme are

Page 172

approved, the funding is not released until a detailed report or if appropriate a Project
Initiation Document (PID) is approved (see section 6).
The CFR will need to be monitored closely to ensure future capital expenditure remains
affordable, prudent and sustainable. Any future decision on borrowing for capital projects
would only be supported if the business case for the projects does not place additional cost
pressure on the tax payer through the council tax charge. The council would not undertake
any unsupported borrowing whilst it still has reasonable capital receipt resources available.
However regulations require the Council to approve its ‘Prudential Indicators’ at least
annually.
Table 2
£000’s

2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Latest
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

68,439
1,440

68,439
1,440

68,439
1,440

68,439
1,440

68,439
1,440

4,115
73,994
1,708

6,952
76,831
2,837

8,410
78,289
1,458

9,883
79,762
1,473

9,883
79,762
0

Capital Financing Requirement
CFR – HRA
68,439
CFR – Non HRA
1,440
Commercial activities/
non-financial investments*
2,407
Total CFR
72,286
Movement in CFR
1,120

£67.456m of the total CFR relates to the borrowing taken out with the Public Works Loan
Board (PWLB) as part of the Housing Self Financing changes. The projected increases in
the CFR through to 2022/23 are the additional loans and equity stakes in Welland Homes
which are classed as capital expenditure and financed from internal cash balances.
5.2 Capital Receipts
The forward availability of capital receipts is an important part in both the timing and scope of
the capital programme. The Council is looking to manage it’s assets in such a way as to
obtain best value and is looking at innovative ways of creating income. Surplus and poor
performing assets are reviewed for potential disposal as part of the Council’s Corporate
Asset management Strategy (see section 4) with re-investment in higher performing assets
and the Council’s focus on Commercialisation will ensure maximum return from council
assets.
5.3 Section 106 – Planning obligations
When the Council adopts land for open space or play area the developer pays a commuted
sum under a ‘section 106 agreement’. This is held on the balance sheet and the interest
earned offsets the future maintenance costs of the recreation asset. The Council also seeks
to secure the provision of infrastructure and facilities to mitigate the effects of development
under section 106.

Page 173

5.4 External Grants and Contributions
The partnership approach to service delivery is a core belief of the Council. Through its
services, partnership working, supportive funding and innovation, the Council will seek to
attract investment into the District. We seek to maximise external funding to support our
programme. This tends to be for specific purposes. Working with public and private sector
partners we are able to make better use of Council money. Central government funding is
likely to be constrained as capital for existing and new programmes continues to be reduced
or deleted.
5.5 Revenue contributions
The Council’s budget and MTP sets out the approach to the allocation of reserve balances
and this Council’s approach to managing its surplus cash. The budget makes provision for
annual revenue contributions in support of some capital expenditure e.g. Vehicle
Replacement. Where applicable specific contributions are identified from reserves or
revenue contributions from specific services (such as ICT).
5.6 Balances and Reserves
South Holland District council continues to hold a healthy level of specific reserves. This
reflects the robust financial management and policy decisions made in recent years and
enables internal borrowing and cash flow to be managed. However, reserves are mostly
earmarked for specific projects, limiting funding for new initiatives.
PART 6
6.0 Framework for managing and monitoring performance
Following approval of a capital project (as set out in section 2), there are several
functions associated with the management of the approved Capital Programme:



Allocation of capital funding
Release of capital funding
Monitoring and reporting of delivery of the capital programme

Allocation of Capital Funding involves these functions:
 The assessment of the available funding resources
 Assessment of proposed schemes and business cases
 Prioritisation of schemes
 Recommendations of approval of schemes within the programme
 Approval of change control to Capital schemes where this changes funding
requirements
These functions will be undertaken by Executive Management Team, Cabinet and
Council. In summary the capital budget is agreed annually along with any revenue
implications, which are factored into revenue planning. The budget is set in accordance with
the timetable laid out in the Medium Term Financial Plan. The programme is approved by
Council in January/February to allow schemes to commence during the following year. A
Bidding Form is used for all capital projects to enable indicative funding to be allocated to
projects.

Page 174

Release of Funding will be by the Finance Board upon receipt of an appropriate report or
PID document (depending on the scale of the project) to ensure it is deliverable. Key staff
charged with responsibility for delivery of the project will be invited to attend Finance Board
as appropriate.
Monitoring and reporting of progress of the delivery of Capital Programme involves
these tasks:
 Regular review of project progress and forecasting including achievement of key
milestones, outputs and outcomes with post project reviews taking place depending
on the scale of the project.
 Management of risks and issues
 Removal of barriers to delivery
 Approval of any changes to schemes not requiring funding changes
 Reporting on required funding changes
 Post implementation review taking account of any corporate learning opportunities
These tasks will be monitored and reported monthly in the Capital Financial
Performance Report and through the Council’s Performance System (Pentana) if deemed
appropriate.
Budgets for individual schemes are assigned to lead officers who are responsible for
delivering the project on time and to budget. The lead officers are responsible for managing
capital projects, including Capital bid forms, risk assessment, checking parameters, PID’s,
procurement, contract management, and post implementation reviews.
Progressing schemes in accordance with agreed timescales is an important aspect to
managing the capital programme. Costs incurred compared to budget are monitored on a
monthly basis in line with revenue budgetary control.
Financial progress against the capital programme is reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis
as a minimum and more often as required. This allows a continuous cycle of monitoring and
forecasting. The bidding round will be conducted annually so that every year the 4 year
programme is reviewed and refined and reflects the latest corporate priorities.

Page 175

Project Evaluation
All capital projects need to be appraised according to existing project management guidance
to inform the decision making process. Options appraisals are also required to ensure value
for money in achieving the project objectives and realising benefits. Matters to be considered
within the capital bidding process are:














Council Objective/Priority
Whole life cost of the proposal including the revenue effects *
Affordability and source of funding
Partnership involvement
Options appraisal
Risks
Improvements in service delivery
Customer facing outcomes
Other benefits and success criteria
Efficiencies and ongoing returns/capital receipts
In principle support from the Director and Portfolio Holder
Exit strategy
Timescales

*Whole Life Costing (WLC) is defined in ISO Standard 15686-5. WLC shifts the emphasis of capital appraisal from comparing
alternative construction/acquisition costs to a Value for Money approach by reviewing comparative costs over the life of the
scheme. WLC will not always be appropriate for all prescribed aspects of the Council’s capital programme.

Project evaluation should include the following activities:
 Feasibility
 Appraisal (to include report, financial appraisal, risk appraisal)
 Budget
 Monitoring and review
 Outturn
This will ensure that any capital scheme that feeds into the programme will comply with the
principles of the Prudential Code:
 Affordability
 Sustainability
 Prudence

Page 176

PART 7
7.0 RISK
The Council is faced with diminishing capital finance and reduced access to grants and
external funding which means the Council will need to monitor spend against available funds
carefully to ensure that it does not spend or commit in advance of receiving funding. The
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) will need to be monitored carefully. Risk is therefore
addressed throughout this strategy by setting out clearly how projects will appraised,
approved, monitored and reported on. The strategy is closely aligned to the Treasury
Strategy which contains key performance indicators.
Significant capital projects will be managed through the council’s performance system if
appropriate. All risks that may affect a project are considered. These can include political,
economic, legal, technological, environmental and reputational as well as financial. Large
projects will use appropriate project management tools in accordance with the size of the
project.
Disinvestment initiatives will be followed through to ensure they perform as expected and as
the Council diversifies its capital investment into areas such as loans to Welland Homes,
exposure to non-repayment will be carefully managed through the contract management
arrangements in place.
A specific risk as a VAT registered body is the recovery of exempt VAT only up to a value of
5% of all the VAT it incurs. This is known as the de-minimis limit. Monitoring and control of
exempt input tax is essential for the council as where exempt input tax exceeds the 5% limit
the whole amount is irrecoverable and will represent an additional cost to the council. Each
capital investment will be closely reviewed to assess its VAT implications.
7.1 Sustainability
South Holland District Council is always mindful of proposals put forward by the MHCLG. In
conjunction with targets being proposed for all new homes to meet energy/carbon standards.
7.2 Procurement
The purchase of capital assets should be conducted in accordance with the
Procurement Strategy, ensuring value for money, legality and sustainability at all times.
Contract standing orders and rules governing the disposal or write off of assets are
contained in the Constitution which is continuously reviewed. Where capital spend involves a
specific procurement process which differs from the standard process, we will adopt the
principal that by approving the capital project we are also approving the specific procurement
process.
7.3 Value for Money
The Council recognises that effective procurement lies at the heart of delivering value for
money and is essential if the Council is to obtain real improvements to quality and service
costs. The Council seeks to achieve value for money by applying rigorous procurement
standards in the selection of suppliers and contractors to ensure efficiency, economy and
effectiveness is received throughout the life of a contract. The significant resources applied
to capital expenditure require the adopted principles of value for money to be at the heart of
our capital strategy. Specifically we will seek to strengthen the outcome indicators as part of
post project reviews.

Page 177

7.4 Disposals
Any proceeds from the disposal of assets such as land in excess of £10,000 are determined
as a ‘capital receipt’. The policy to sell small pockets of land often brings in income of less
than £10,000. This income is classed as ‘revenue income’ and is posted to the revenue
income and expenditure account.
7.5 Borrowing
If borrowing was required to fund a capital programme this would also have an impact on the
Revenue budget.
Borrowing of £1m over 10 years would have the following revenue cost per year:
Year 1
(£)
Interest (based on PWLB
rate of 1.88%)
Provision for repayment of
principal
Total Revenue Cost

21,400

Cumulative 10 Year
(£)
121,435

90,744

1,000,000

112,144

1,121,435

Page 178

Appendix F
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 TO 2022/23
2018/19
Revised
Budget
£'000

Scheme Description

2018/19
Forecast

2019/20
Budget

2020/21
Budget

2021/22
Budget

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

GENERAL FUND
ICT
ICT Infrastructure
GIS System
Self Service SHDC Reception
Smart Screens - Digital Vision
Shared Public Protection Software
Office 365 Additional Spend
CPBS Transformation Investment 60% GF
Members ICT Equipment Refresh

205
18
10
27
109
45

205
21
10
27
109
45

45

45

160

160

65

113

45

57

15

34
213

Assets and Property
Assets and Property (Priory Road)
Assets and Property (Priory Road) - Central Heating
Assets and Property (Priory Road) - Toilets
Assets and Property (Priory Road) - Lift
Assets and Property (Priory Road) - Fire Doors and Access
South Holland Centre
Castle Sports - Boiler

-

-

500

500

-

-

65
30
42
24
250
18

24
250
18

Commercialisation
Capital Acquisitions re Growth and Commercialisation
Electric Vehicle Charging

-

500
-

500
17

Economic Development
Grants for Growth
Crease Drove

896
70

896
70

86
1,130

181
46
50

160
46
34

35

36
552
21

37
1,012

585
75
1,708

400
25
1,696

585
75
2,837

585
75
1,458

585
75
1,473

143

143

4,665

4,884

5,714

3,581

3,742

(1,708)
(302)
(1,620)
(1,035)
(4,665)
-

(1,696)
(302)
(1,385)
(1,501)
(4,884)
-

(2,837)
(295)
(780)
(1,802)
(5,714)
-

(1,458)
(660)
(1,463)
(3,581)
-

(1,473)
(660)
(1,609)
(3,742)
-

-

1,091
1,091

-

-

Environmental Services
Garden Waste
Car Park Machines
Grounds Maintenance
Environmental Services Operational
Facilities

Housing
Disabled Facilities Grants - Private Sector Housing
Decent Homes Unfit And Disrepair - Housing
Welland Homes
Loans
Parkside - Castle Sports
Approved schemes
FINANCING OF APPROVED SCHEMES
Borrowing
Capital Receipts
Grants & Contributions
Direct Revenue Financing

Schemes subject to detailed approval
ICT - Digital Vision
Economic Development - Food Enterprise Zone

FINANCING OF SCHEMES SUBJECT TO APPROVAL
Borrowing
Capital Receipts
Direct Revenue Financing

302
302

0

0

(302)
0
(302)

0
0
0

0
(1,091)
(1,091)

0

0

4,967

4,884

6,805

3,581

3,742

Page 179
Total - GENERAL FUND PROGRAMME

-

184

-

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 TO 2022/23

Scheme Description

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
Central Heating
Kitchen / Bathroom
Electrical Upgrade - Capital - HRA Capital
Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency - Capital - HRA
Gutters
Roofs and Gutters
Doors and Windows
Flat Entrance Doors Sheltered Schemes
Chimneys
Paths and Drives
Boundary Walls
Fees
Decent Homes

2018/19
Revised
Budget
£'000

1,614
1,169
156
263
425
3

2018/19
Forecast

2019/20
Budget

2020/21
Budget

2021/22
Budget

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

1,540
1,160
130
298
425

820
1,192
75
268
525

835
1,216
77
306

852
1,240
79
312

150
252
36
92
206
3,617

252
37
93
210
3,027

100
38
95
214
2,931

200
250
25
475

204
25
229

208
25
233

62
100
38
200

.

252
36
90
202
4,209

30
202
3,785

Sewage Treatment plant
The Square
Car Parks
Trinity Court
Major Area schemes

100
187
65

-

352

192

ICT Strategy
Housing IT Systems Upgrade
CPBS Transformation Investment 40% HRA
IT / System

51
150

-

201

41

35
250
142
427

Major Adaptations
Aids & Adaptations

408
408

350
350

383
383

390
390

398
398

CSU Vehicle Replacement
CSU Vehicle Replacement

253
253

-

253
253

-

-

Grounds Maintenance
South Holland Maintenance
Environmental Services

97
95

41

12

12

-

12

12

Weston Redevelopment Scheme - Small Drove
Severn Road Development Scheme
Purchase of units - Ashwood
Schemes Subject to detailed approval
Affordable Housing

250
30
2,000
2,280

244
647
891

3,683
2,900
783
7,366

Approved schemes

7,703

5,271

(604)

(72)
(134)

FINANCING OF APPROVED SCHEMES
Capital Receipts
Shared Ownership Sale Proceeds
Grants & Contributions
Major Repairs Reserve
Direct Revenue Financing
FINANCING

(7,099)
(7,703)

Page 180

(5,065)
(5,271)

25
10
35

13
65
78

13

177
280
2,200
2,657

590
2,500
3,090

12,532

6,581

6,700

(223)
(210)
(1,100)
(7,552)
(3,447)
(12,532)

(320)
(1,018)

(70)

(3,183)
(2,060)
(6,581)

13

(3,245)
(3,385)
(6,700)

APPENDIX G1
Treasury Management Policy Statement 2019/20
1. South Holland District Council defines its treasury management activities as:
 The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash
flows,
 its banking, money market and capital market transactions;
 the effective control of the risks associated with those activities;
 and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.
2. This Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be
the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will
be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management
activities will focus on their risk implications for the organisation, and any financial
instruments entered into to manage these risks.
3. This Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support
towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore
committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management,
and to employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques,
within the context of effective risk management.

Page 181

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX G2

South Holland District Council
Treasury Management Strategy Statement
2019/20
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and Annual
Investment Strategy
(Minimum Revenue Provision Policy retrospectively applicable from the 2018/19
financial year due to legislation changes)

Page 183

APPENDIX G2

1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised
during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management operation is to
ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed.
Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the
Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment
return.
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s
capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council,
essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the Council can meet its capital
spending obligations. This management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or shortterm loans, or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent and
economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.
The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is critical, as the
balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet spending
commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects. The
treasury operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income
arising from cash deposits affecting the available budget. Since cash balances generally result
from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as
a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund Balance.
Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury function,
these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising usually from capital
expenditure), and are separate from the day to day treasury management activities.
CIPFA defines treasury management as:
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking,
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated
with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.”
Revised reporting is required for the 2019/20 reporting cycle due to revisions of the Ministry
of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) Investment Guidance, the
MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential Code and the
CIPFA Treasury Management Code. The primary reporting changes include the introduction
of a capital strategy, to provide a longer-term focus to the capital plans, and greater reporting
requirements surrounding any commercial activity undertaken under the Localism Act 2011.
The capital strategy is being reported separately.

Page 184

APPENDIX G2
1.2 Reporting Requirements
1.2.1 Capital Strategy
The CIPFA revised 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require, for 2019/20,
all local authorities to prepare an additional report, a capital strategy report, which will
provide the following:




a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services
an overview of how the associated risk is managed
the implications for future financial sustainability

The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full council fully
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy
requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite.
This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy
Statement; non-treasury investments will be reported through the former. This ensures the
separation of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and yield principles, and the
policy and commercialism investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset. The
capital strategy will show:








The corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities;
Any service objectives relating to the investments;
The expected income, costs and resulting contribution;
The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs;
The payback period (MRP policy);
For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value;
The risks associated with each activity.

Where a physical asset is being bought, details of market research, advisers used, (and their
monitoring), ongoing costs and investment requirements and any credit information will be
disclosed, including the ability to sell the asset and realise the investment cash.
Where the Council has borrowed to fund any non-treasury investment, there should also be an
explanation in the Capital Strategy of why borrowing was required and why the MHCLG
Investment Guidance and CIPFA Prudential Code have not been adhered to.
If any non-treasury investment sustains a loss during the final accounts and audit process, the
strategy and revenue implications will be reported through the same procedure as the capital
strategy.
To demonstrate the proportionality between the treasury operations and the non-treasury
operation, high-level comparators are shown throughout this report.

Page 185

APPENDIX G2
1.2.2 Treasury Management Reporting
The Council is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main treasury
reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals.
a. Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The first,
and most important report is forward looking and covers:





the capital plans, (including prudential indicators);
a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital expenditure is
charged to revenue over time);
the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and borrowings are to be
organised), including treasury indicators; and
an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to be managed).

b. A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress report and
will update members on the capital position, amending prudential indicators as
necessary, and whether any policies require revision.
c. An annual treasury report – This is a backward looking review document and
provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators and actual
treasury operations compared to the estimates within the strategy.
Scrutiny
The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being recommended to
the Council. This role is undertaken by the Governance and Audit Committee.
1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/20
The strategy for 2019/20 covers two main areas:
Capital issues
• the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators;
• the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy.
Treasury management issues
• the current treasury position;
• treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council;
• prospects for interest rates;
• the borrowing strategy;
• policy on borrowing in advance of need;
• debt rescheduling;
• the investment strategy;
• creditworthiness policy; and
• the policy on use of external service providers.
These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA
Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and
MHCLG Investment Guidance.

Page 186

APPENDIX G2
1.4 Training
The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with responsibility
for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management. This
especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny. Member Training was last
undertaken on 15 March 2018 and further training will be arranged as required.
The training needs of CPBS treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.
1.5 Treasury Management Consultants
CPBS uses Link Asset Services Treasury solutions as its external treasury management advisors
for the Council.
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the
organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon the services of our
external service providers. All decisions will be undertaken with regards to all available
information, including, but not solely, our treasury advisers.
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury management
services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The Council will ensure that
the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are
properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.

2. THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2019/20 TO 2022/23
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity.
The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are
designed to assist Members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans.
2.1 Capital Expenditure
This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, both those
agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. Members approve capital
expenditure forecasts as part of the annual Budget report.
The capital expenditure plans mirror those within the budget report and will be amended
throughout the year as spending plans alter.
Capital Expenditure
£’000’s

HRA
Non HRA
Commercial activities/ nonfinancial investments *
Total

2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Revised
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

3,369
1,486

7,703
2,887

12,532
1,230

6,581
1,623

6,700
1,769

6,664
1,397

1,120
5,975

1,778
12,368

4,484
18,246

1,958
10,162

1,973
10,442

500
8,561

* Commercial activities/non-financial investments relate to areas such as capital expenditure
on investment properties, loans to third parties etc.

Page 187

APPENDIX G2
The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these plans are
being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources results in a
funding borrowing need.
Financing of capital
expenditure £’000’s

Capital Receipts
Capital Grants &
Contributions
Major Repairs Reserve
Direct Revenue Financing
Total Funding
Net financing need for
the year

2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Revised
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

351

906

728

1,338

70

0

1,080
3,168
256
4,855

1,620
7,099
1,035
10,660

1,880
7,552
5,249
15,409

660
3,183
3,523
8,704

660
3,245
4,994
8,969

660
3,307
4,594
8,561

1,120

1,708

2,837

1,458

1,473

0

The net financing need for commercial activities/non-financial investments included in the
above table against expenditure is shown in the following table:

Commercial activities/nonfinancial investments £’000’s

Capital Expenditure
Financed Expenditure
Net financing need for the
year
Percentage of total net
financing need

2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Latest
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

1,120
0

1,778
(70)

4,484
(1,647)

1,958
(500)

1,973
(500)

500
(500)

1,120

1,708

2,837

1,458

1,473

0

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

n/a

2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement)
The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The
CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet been paid
for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a measure of the Council’s
indebtedness and so its underlying borrowing need. Any capital expenditure above, which
has not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR.
The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) is a
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with each
assets life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they are used.
The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. Public Finance Initiative (PFI)
schemes, finance leases). Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s
borrowing requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and so the
Council is not required to separately borrow for these schemes. The Council currently has no
such schemes within the CFR.

Page 188

APPENDIX G2

As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the CFR projections as
follows:
£000’s

2017/18
Actual

Capital Financing Requirement
CFR – HRA
68,439
CFR – Non HRA
1,440
Commercial activities/
non-financial investments*
2,407
Total CFR
72,286
Movement in CFR
1,120
Movement in CFR represented by:
Net financing need for the
year (above)
1,120
Less MRP/VRP and other
financing movements
0
Movement in CFR
1,120

2018/19
Latest
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

68,439
1,440

68,439
1,440

68,439
1,440

68,439
1,440

68,439
1,440

4,115
73,994
1,708

6,952
76,831
2,837

8,410
78,289
1,458

9,883
79,762
1,473

9,883
79,762
0

1,708

2,837

1,458

1,473

0

0
1,708

0
2,837

0
1,458

0
1,473

0
0

£67.456m of the total CFR relates to the borrowing taken out with the Public Works Loan
Board (PWLB) as part of the Housing Self Financing changes. The projected increases in
the CFR through to 2022/23 are the additional loans and equity stakes in Welland Homes
which are classed as capital expenditure and financed from internal cash balances.
A key aspect of the regulatory and professional guidance is that elected members are aware
of the size and scope of any commercial activity in relation to the authority’s overall financial
position. The capital expenditure figures shown in Table 1 and the details above
demonstrate the scope of this activity and, by approving these figures, consider the scale
proportionate to the Authority’s remaining activity.
2.3 Core funds and expected investment balances
The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing
impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources
(asset sales etc.). Detailed below are estimates of the year end balances for each resource
and anticipated day to day cash flow balances.
Year End Resources
£’000’s
General Fund Balance
HRA Working Balance
HRA Insurance Reserve
Major Repairs Reserve
Earmarked Reserves
Capital Grants Unapplied
Capital Receipts
Total core funds
Working Capital*
Under Borrowing
Expected investments

2017/18
Actual

2,078
12,752
200
6,436
7,618
1,841
4,304
35,229
7,439
(4,830)
37,838

2018/19
Latest
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

2,078
15,668
200
4,168
6,731
1,766
4,126
34,737
5,500
(6,538)
33,699

2,078
14,323
200
76
6,348
1,691
4,532
29,248
5,500
(9,375)
25,373

2,078
16,460
200
76
5,572
1,616
5,170
31,172
5,500
(10,833)
25,839

2,078
16,765
200
76
4,438
1,541
6,090
31,188
5,500
(12,306)
24,382

2,078
16,765
200
76
3,576
1,466
7,081
31,242
5,500
(12,306)
24,436

Page 189

APPENDIX G2
Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be higher mid-year.
2.4 Affordability prudential indicators
The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential indicators,
but within this framework, prudential indicators are required to assess the affordability of the
capital investment plans. These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment
plans on the Council’s overall finances. As part of the formal governance process, the
Council approves the following indicators:
Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long-term
obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream. Where financing
costs to net revenue stream are negative, this is because the Council is earning more
interest on its balances compared with interest paid on its borrowing.
%
Non-HRA
HRA

2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Latest
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

(1.53%)
34.11%

(2.22%)
34.99%

(2.50%)
34.90%

(3.87%)
34.13%

(4.52%)
33.85%

(4.69%)
36.77%

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals in this
budget report.
HRA Ratios

HRA debt £’000’s
HRA revenues £’000,s
Ratio of debt to revenues (%)

HRA debt £’000’s
Number of HRA dwellings
Debt per dwelling (£)

2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Latest
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

67,456
15,029
449

67,456
14,713
458

67,456
14,646
461

67,456
15,019
449

67,456
15,241
443

67,456
15,467
436

2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Latest
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

67,456
3,804
17,733

67,456
3,793
17,784

67,456
3,793
17,784

67,456
3,793
17,784

67,456
3,793
17,784

2022/23
Estimate

67,456
3,7930
17,784

2.5 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement (retrospectively effective from
2018/19 financial year)
The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund capital
spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum revenue provision MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if required
(voluntary revenue provision - VRP).
MHCLG regulations have been issued which require the full Council to approve an MRP
Statement in advance of each year. A variety of options are provided to councils, so long as
there is a prudent provision. The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP
Statement:

Page 190

APPENDIX G2

For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will be Supported
Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be:
• Existing practice - MRP will follow the existing practice outlined in former MHCLG
regulations (option 1)
These options provide for an approximate 4% reduction in the borrowing need (CFR) each
year.
From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including PFI and finance leases) the MRP
policy will be:
• Asset Life Method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in
accordance with the regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure
capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction) (option 3)
These options provide for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the asset’s
life.
There is no requirement on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) to make a minimum
revenue provision but there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made
(although there are transitional arrangements in place).
Repayments included in finance leases are applied as MRP.
Any loans issued or equity investment made in Welland Homes and South Holland Local
Housing Company which are classed as capital expenditure will increase the Council’s CFR
and will therefore be subject to MRP. The Council will ensure that a prudent provision is
made each year for MRP which matches approximately the consumption of the asset.
Rather than charging a fixed amount each year, the Council will review the value of the
assets/investments each year and then consider any requirement to set aside a prudent
provision based on the value and expected trajectory of the holding.
The Council will earmark the proceeds from the repayment of the loans or sale of equity
interest to reduce the CFR debt liability based on the principal element of the liquidated
asset.
If it is deemed that an additional charge is required to ensure prudence a voluntary revenue
provision will be made.
Appropriation of Assets – Where assets do not change ownership and borrowing is not
required; the Council will not apply MRP on the asset value transferred.
MRP Overpayments - A change introduced by the revised MHCLG MRP Guidance was the
allowance that any charges made over the statutory minimum revenue provision (MRP),
voluntary revenue provision or overpayments, can, if needed, be reclaimed in later years if
deemed necessary or prudent. In order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in the
budget, this policy must disclose the cumulative overpayment made each year. Since the
introduction of the new guidance the Council has not made any voluntary revenue provision
contributions and is not intending to make any during the 2018/19 financial year.

Page 191

APPENDIX G2

3. BORROWING
The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service activity of the
Council. The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash is organised in
accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet
this service activity and the Council’s capital strategy. This will involve both the organisation
of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing
facilities. The strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and
projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy.
3.1 Current portfolio position
The overall treasury management portfolio as at 31 March 2018 and for the position as at 31
December 2018 are shown below for both borrowing and investments.

TREASURY PORTFOLIO
Treasury investments
banks
building societies - unrated
building societies - rated
local authorities
DMADF (H.M.Treasury)
money market funds
certificates of deposit
Total managed in house
bond funds
property funds
Total managed externally
Total treasury investments

actual
31.3.18
£000
9,013
0
4,000
15,000
0
2,600
5,000
35,613
0
0
0
35,613

actual
31.3.18
%
26%
0%
11%
42%
0%
7%
14%
100%
0%
0%
0%
100%

Treasury external borrowing
local authorities
PWLB
LOBOs
Total external borrowing

0
67,456
0
67,456

0%
100%
0%
100%

Net treasury investments / (borrowing)

-31,843

current
31.12.18
£000
13,460
0
0
15,000
0
3,700
11,000
43,160
0
0
0
43,160

0
67,456
0
67,456

current
31.12.18
%
31%
0%
0%
35%
0%
9%
25%
100%
0%
0%
0%
100%

0%
100%
0%
100%

-24,296

The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised in the following table. The
table shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing need, (the
Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.

Page 192

APPENDIX G2
£’000’s

2017/18
Actual

2018/19
Latest
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

Debt at 1 April

67,456

67,456

67,456

67,456

67,456

67,456

Expected change in Debt

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other long-term liabilities
(OLTL)
Expected change in OLTL
Actual gross debt at 31
March
The Capital Financing
Requirement
Under / (over) borrowing

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
67,456

0
67,456

0
67,456

0
67,456

0
67,456

0
67,456

72,286

73,994

76,831

78,289

79,762

79,762

4,830

6,538

9,375

10,833

12,306

12,306

The Council has no external debt relating to commercial activities / non-financial investment.
Within the range of prudential indicators, there are a number of key indicators to ensure that
the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits. One of these is that the Council
needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the
CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2019/20 and the
following two financial years. This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future
years, but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.
The Section 151 Officer reports that the Council complied with this prudential indicator in the
current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future. This view takes into account
current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in this budget report.
3.2 Treasury Indicators
The operational boundary - This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally
expected to exceed. In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be
lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund underborrowing by other cash resources.
Operational boundary
£’000’s
Debt
Other long term liabilities
Commercial
activities/
non-financial investments
Total

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

81,000
1,000

81,000
1,000

81,000
1,000

81,000
1,000

81,000
1,000

5,000
87,000

5,000
87,000

5,000
87,000

5,000
87,000

5,000
87,000

The authorised limit for external debt – This is a key prudential indicator and represents a
control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a legal limit beyond which
external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council. It
reflects the level of external debt, which while not desired, could be afforded in the short
term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.
1.

This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act
2003. The Government retains an option to control either the total of all councils’
plans, or those of a specific council, although this power has never been exercised.

Page 193

APPENDIX G2
2.

As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the following
indicators, as shown below:

Authorised limit
£’000’s
Debt
Other long term liabilities
Commercial
activities/
non-financial investments
Total

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

85,000
1,000

85,000
1,000

85,000
1,000

85,000
1,000

85,000
1,000

5,000
91,000

5,000
91,000

5,000
91,000

5,000
91,000

5,000
91,000

3.3 Prospect for interest rates (as at 28/01/19)
Link Asset Services has been appointed as the Council’s treasury advisor and part of their
service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.
A more detailed interest rate forecast and economic commentary is shown at Appendix 5.2.
The following table gives the Link Asset Services’ central view:
Bank Rate
%
Mar 2019
Jun 2019
Sep 2019
Dec 2019
Mar 2020
Jun 2020
Sep 2020
Dec 2020
Mar 2021
Jun 2021
Sep 2021
Dec 2021
Mar 2022

0.75
1.00
1.00
1.00
1.25
1.25
1.25
1.50
1.50
1.75
1.75
1.75
2.00

PWLB Borrowing Rates%
(including certainty rate adjustment)
5 year
10 year
25 year
50 year
2.10
2.50
2.90
2.70
2.20
2.60
3.00
2.80
2.20
2.60
3.10
2.90
2.30
2.70
3.10
2.90
2.30
2.80
3.20
3.00
2.40
2.90
3.30
3.10
2.50
2.90
3.30
3.10
2.50
3.00
3.40
3.20
2.60
3.00
3.40
3.20
2.60
3.10
3.50
3.30
2.70
3.10
3.50
3.30
2.80
3.20
3.60
3.40
2.80
3.20
3.60
3.40

Commentary from Link Asset Services
The flow of generally positive economic statistics after the quarter ended 30 June meant that
it came as no surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) came to a decision on 2
August to make the first increase in Bank Rate above 0.5% since the financial crash, from
0.5% to 0.75%. Growth has been healthy since that meeting, but is expected to weaken
somewhat during the last quarter of 2018. At their November meeting, the MPC left Bank
Rate unchanged, but expressed some concern at the Chancellor’s fiscal stimulus in his
Budget, which could increase inflationary pressures. However, it is unlikely that the MPC
would increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the deadline in March for Brexit. The
next increase in Bank Rate is therefore forecast to be in May 2019, followed by increases in
February and November 2020, before ending up at 2.0% in February 2022.
The overall longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently Public Works Loan
Board (PWLB) rates, to rise, albeit gently. However, over about the last 25 years, we have
been through a period of falling bond yields as inflation subsided to, and then stabilised at,
much lower levels than before, and supported by central banks implementing substantial

Page 194

APPENDIX G2
quantitative easing purchases of government and other debt after the financial crash of
2008. Quantitative easing, conversely, also caused a rise in equity values as investors
searched for higher returns and purchased riskier assets. In 2016, we saw the start of a
reversal of this trend with a sharp rise in bond yields after the US Presidential election in
November 2016, with yields then rising further as a result of the big increase in the US
government deficit aimed at stimulating even stronger economic growth. That policy change
also created concerns around a significant rise in inflationary pressures in an economy
which was already running at remarkably low levels of unemployment. Unsurprisingly, the
Fed has continued on its series of robust responses to combat its perception of rising
inflationary pressures by repeatedly increasing the Fed rate to reach 2.25 – 2.50% in
December 2018. It has also continued its policy of not fully reinvesting proceeds from bonds
that it holds as a result of quantitative easing, when they mature. We have, therefore, seen
US 10 year bond Treasury yields rise above 3.2% during October 2018 and also seen
investors causing a sharp fall in equity prices as they sold out of holding riskier assets.
However, by early January 2019, US 10 year bond yields had fallen back considerably on
fears that the Fed. was being too aggressive in raising interest rates and was going to cause
a recession. Equity prices have been very volatile on alternating good and bad news during
this period.
From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to exceptional levels
of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging market developments and
sharp changes in investor sentiment. Such volatility could occur at any time during the
forecast period.
Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences
weighing on the UK. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be liable to further
amendment depending on how economic data and developments in financial markets
transpire over the next year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the European Union
(EU), could also have a major impact. Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond
the three-year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political
developments.
Investment and borrowing rates
• Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2019/20 but to be on a gently rising
trend over the next few years.
• Borrowing interest rates have been volatile so far in 2018/19 and have increased
modestly since the summer. The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down
spare cash balances has served well over the last few years. However, this needs to
be carefully reviewed to avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when
authorities may not be able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure
and/or the refinancing of maturing debt;
• There will remain a cost of carry, (the difference between higher borrowing costs and
lower investment returns), to any new long-term borrowing that causes a temporary
increase in cash balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost.
(End of Link Asset Services commentary)

Page 195

APPENDIX G2
3.4 Borrowing Strategy
The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that the
capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded with
loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used
as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low and
counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to be considered.
Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted
with the 2019/20 treasury operations. The Section 151 Officer will monitor interest rates in
financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances:
• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short term
rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or of risks
of deflation), then long term borrowings will be postponed, and potential rescheduling
from fixed rate funding into short term borrowing will be considered.
• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long and short
term rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the rate
of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity,
or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised.
Most likely, fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are
projected to be in the next few years.
Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the next available
opportunity.
3.5 Maturity structure of borrowing
These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling
due for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower limits. The Council is asked to
approve the following treasury indicators and limits:
Maturity structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2019/20
Lower
Under 12 months
0%

Upper
100%

12 months to 2 years
0%
2 years to 5 years
0%
5 years to 10 years
0%
10 years to 20 years
0%
20 years to 30 years
0%
30 years to 40 years
0%
40 years to 50 years
0%
Maturity structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2019/20
Lower
Under 12 months
0%

Upper
100%

12 months to 2 years
2 years to 5 years
5 years to 10 years
10 years to 20 years
20 years to 30 years
30 years to 40 years
40 years to 50 years

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

Page 196

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

APPENDIX G2

3.6 Policy on borrowing in advance of need
The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs, purely in order to profit
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be
within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be considered
carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can
ensure the security of such funds.
Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior appraisal and
subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting mechanism.
3.7 Debt rescheduling
As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed interest
rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by switching from long term
debt to short term debt. However, these savings will need to be considered in the light of the
current treasury position and the size of the cost of debt repayment (premiums incurred).
The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:
• the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings;
• helping to fulfil the treasury strategy;
• enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the balance of
volatility).
Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for making
savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely as short term rates
on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on current debt.
All rescheduling will be reported to Cabinet at the earliest meeting following its action.
3.8 Municipal Bonds Agency
It is possible that the Municipal Bond Agency will be offering loans to local authorities in the
future. The Agency hopes that the borrowing rates will be lower than those offered by the
PWLB. This Authority may make use of this new source of borrowing as and when
appropriate.

Page 197

APPENDIX G2

4. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY
4.1 Investment policy – management of risk
The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both
financial and non-financial investments. This report deals solely with financial investments,
(as managed by the treasury management team). Non-financial investments, essentially the
purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy, (a separate report).
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following:
• MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)
• CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral
Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)
• CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018
The Council’s funds are managed by CPBS with reference to a detailed cash flow forecast
on a daily basis for the current year. Protocols are in place to govern the movement of funds
within specific limits.
The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second and then
yield, (return).
The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the management
of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk
appetite by the following means:  Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly
creditworthy counterparties. This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short term
and long-term ratings.
 Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an
institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both
a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in
which institutions operate. The assessment will also take account of information that
reflects the opinion of the markets. To achieve this consideration the Council will
engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit
default swaps” (CDS) and overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.
 Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and
other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most
robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.
 This authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the
treasury management team are authorised to use. There are two lists in Appendix 5.3
under the categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments.

Page 198

APPENDIX G2



Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject
to a maturity limit of one year.
Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for
periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which
require greater consideration by members and officers before being authorised
for use.

 Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that it will limit the
maximum total exposure to non-specified investments to £5m of the total investment
portfolio, (see paragraph 4.3).
 Lending limits, The maximum total investments to any individual financial institution
or its parent group is £5m. The maximum limit for individual money market funds is
£10m. The maximum permitted duration of investments for each institution will be
determined in accordance with paragraph 4.2.
 Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in Appendix 5.3.
 This authority will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for
longer than 365 days, (see paragraph 4.4).
 Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a specified
minimum sovereign rating, (see paragraph 4.3).
 CPBS has engaged external consultants, (see paragraph 1.5), to provide expert
advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, liquidity and yield, given
the risk appetite of this authority in the context of the expected level of cash balances
and need for liquidity throughout the year.
 All investments will be denominated in sterling.
 As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2018/19 under IFRS 9, this
authority will consider the implications of investment instruments which could result in
an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested and resultant charges at the
end of the year to the General Fund.
However, this authority will also pursue value for money in treasury management and will
monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment
performance, (see paragraph 4.5). Regular monitoring of investment performance will be
carried out during the year.
Changes in risk management policy from last year.
The above criteria are unchanged from last year.

Page 199

APPENDIX G2
4.2 Creditworthiness Policy
This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services. This
service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three
main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. The credit ratings of
counterparties are supplemented with the following overlays:
• credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
• CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings;
• sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries.
This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks in a
weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which
the end product is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative
creditworthiness of counterparties. These colour codes are used by the Council to
determine the suggested duration for investments. The Council will therefore use
counterparties within the following durational bands:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Yellow
Dark Pink
Light Pink
Purple
Blue
Orange
Red
Green
No colour

5 years*
5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25
5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5
2 years
1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks)
1 year
6 months
100 days
not to be used

* Please note: the yellow colour category is for UK Government debt, or its equivalent,
money market funds and collateralised deposits where the collateral is UK Government debt.
The Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just
primary ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue
preponderance to just one agency’s ratings.
Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating
(Fitch or equivalents) of F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the
counterparty ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may
still be used. In these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings
available, or other topical market information, to support their use.
All credit ratings will be monitored daily. CPBS is alerted to changes to ratings of all three
agencies through its use of the Link Asset Services creditworthiness service.
• if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn
immediately.
• in addition to the use of credit ratings CPBS will be advised of information in
movements in CDS spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a
daily basis provided exclusively to it by Link Asset Services. Extreme market
movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s
lending list.

Page 200

APPENDIX G2

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service. In addition this Council
will also use market data and market information, information on any external support for
banks to help support its decision making process.
UK banks – ring fencing - The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn of retail /
Small and Medium-sized Enterprise (SME) deposits), are required, by UK law, to separate
core retail banking services from their investment and international banking activities by 1
January 2019. This is known as “ring-fencing”. Whilst smaller banks with less than £25bn in
deposits are exempt, they can choose to opt up. Several banks are very close to the
threshold already and so may come into scope in the future regardless.
Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global financial crisis. It
mandates the separation of retail and SME deposits from investment banking, in order to
improve the resilience and resolvability of banks by changing their structure. In general,
simpler, activities offered from within a ring-fenced bank, (RFB), will be focused on lower
risk, day-to-day core transactions, whilst more complex and “riskier” activities are required to
be housed in a separate entity, a non-ring-fenced bank, (NRFB). This is intended to ensure
that an entity’s core activities are not adversely affected by the acts or omissions of other
members of its group.
While the structure of the banks included within this process may have changed, the
fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The Council will continue to assess the newformed entities in the same way that it does others and those with sufficiently high ratings,
(and any other metrics considered), will be considered for investment purposes.
4.3 Other limits
Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total investment portfolio to
non-specified investments, countries, groups and sectors.
 Non-specified investment limit. The Council has determined that it will limit the
maximum total exposure to non-specified investments to £5m of the total investment
portfolio.
 Country limit. The Council has determined that it will only use approved
counterparties from the United Kingdom or countries with a minimum sovereign credit
rating of AA- from Fitch (or equivalent). The list of countries that qualify using this
credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown in Appendix 5.4. This list will be
added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in accordance with this
policy.
 Other limits. In addition:
 no more than £5m will be placed with any non-UK country at any time;
 limits in place above will apply to a group of companies;
 sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness

Page 201

APPENDIX G2
4.4 Investment strategy
In-House Funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash
flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up
to 12 months). Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods. Where
cash sums can be identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be
obtained from longer term investments will be carefully assessed.
• If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time horizon being
considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most investments as being
short term or variable.
• Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time period,
consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for longer
periods.
Investment returns expectations.
Bank Rate is forecast to increase steadily but slowly over the next few years to reach 2.00%
by quarter 1 2022. Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) are:
•
•
•
•

2018/19
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22

0.75%
1.25%
1.50%
2.00%

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for
periods up to about three months during each financial year are as follows:
• 2018/19
• 2019/20
• 2020/21
• 2021/22
• 2022/23
• 2023/24
Later years

0.75%
1.00%
1.50%
1.75%
1.75%
2.00%
2.50%

The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral.
The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates, are probably
also even and are dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out, how slowly inflation
pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move forward positively.
Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 365
days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce
the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each
year-end.
As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the treasury indicator and
limit, as follows:

Page 202

APPENDIX G2
Upper limit for principal sums invested for longer than 365 days
£m
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
Principal sums invested for
£m
£m
£m
longer than 365 days
5,000
5,000
5,000
Current investments as at
31/12/18 in excess of 1 year
0
0
0
maturing in each year

2022/23
£m
5,000
0

Loans to and equity purchases in Welland Homes do not count towards this limit as they are
classed as non-treasury investments.
For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its business reserve
instant access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits
(overnight to 100 days) in order to benefit from the compounding of interest.
4.5 Investment risk benchmark
The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks in this area, as Officers believe that
decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to monitor the
current and trend position, and amend the operational strategy to manage risk as conditions
change.
The Council aims to achieve an internal return above the average 3 month London Interbank
Bid Rate (LIBID).
4.6 End of year investment report
At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of its
Annual Treasury Report.

Page 203

APPENDIX G2

5. APPENDICES
5.1

Interest rate forecasts

5.2

Economic background

5.3

Treasury management practice 1 – credit and counterparty risk management

5.4

Approved countries for investments

5.5

Treasury management scheme of delegation

5.6

The

treasury

management

role

Page 204

of

the

section

151

officer

APPENDIX G2
APPENDIX 5.1: Interest Rate Forecasts 2018 – 2021 (provided by Link Asset Services)
PWLB rates and forecast shown below have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective as of the 1st November 2012.

Page 205

APPENDIX G2

APPENDIX 5.2 ECONOMIC BACKGROUND (Commentary Provided By Link Asset
Services)
GLOBAL OUTLOOK. World growth has been doing reasonably well, aided by strong growth in
the US. However, US growth is likely to fall back in 2019 and, together with weakening economic
activity in China and the Eurozone, overall world growth is likely to weaken.
Inflation has been weak during 2018 but, at long last, unemployment falling to remarkably low
levels in the US and UK has led to an acceleration of wage inflation. The US Fed has therefore
increased rates nine times and the Bank of England twice. However, the European Central Bank
(ECB) is unlikely to start raising rates until late in 2019 at the earliest.
KEY RISKS - central bank monetary policy measures
Looking back on nearly ten years since the financial crash of 2008 when liquidity suddenly dried
up in financial markets, it can be assessed that central banks’ monetary policy measures to
counter the sharp world recession were successful. The key monetary policy measures they used
were a combination of lowering central interest rates and flooding financial markets with liquidity,
particularly through unconventional means such as quantitative easing (QE), where central banks
bought large amounts of central government debt and smaller sums of other debt.
The key issue now is that period of stimulating economic recovery and warding off the threat of
deflation, is coming towards its close. A new period is well advanced in the US, and started more
recently in the UK, of reversing those measures i.e. by raising central rates and, (for the US),
reducing central banks’ holdings of government and other debt. These measures are now
required in order to stop the trend of a reduction in spare capacity in the economy and of
unemployment falling to such low levels, that the re-emergence of inflation is viewed as a major
risk. It is, therefore, crucial that central banks get their timing right and do not cause shocks to
market expectations that could destabilise financial markets. In particular, a key risk is that
because QE-driven purchases of bonds drove up the price of government debt, and therefore
caused a sharp drop in income yields, this also encouraged investors into a search for yield and
into investing in riskier assets such as equities. Consequently, prices in both bond and equity
markets rose to historically high valuation levels simultaneously. This meant that both asset
categories were exposed to the risk of a sharp downward correction and we did, indeed, see a
sharp fall in equity values in the last quarter of 2018. It is important, therefore, that central banks
only gradually unwind their holdings of bonds in order to prevent destabilising the financial
markets. It is also likely that the timeframe for central banks unwinding their holdings of QE debt
purchases will be over several years. They need to balance their timing to neither squash
economic recovery, by taking too rapid and too strong action, or, conversely, let inflation run away
by taking action that was too slow and/or too weak. The potential for central banks to get this
timing and strength of action wrong are now key risks. At the time of writing, (early January
2019), financial markets are very concerned that the Fed is being too aggressive with its policy for
raising interest rates and is likely to cause a recession in the US economy.
The world economy also needs to adjust to a sharp change in liquidity creation over the last five
years where the US has moved from boosting liquidity by QE purchases, to reducing its holdings
of debt (currently about $50bn per month). In addition, the European Central Bank ended its QE
purchases in December 2018.
UK. The flow of positive economic statistics since the end of the first quarter this year has
shown that pessimism was overdone about the poor growth in quarter 1 when adverse
weather caused a temporary downward blip. Quarter 1 at 0.1% growth in Gross Domestic
Product (GDP) was followed by a return to 0.4% in quarter 2; quarter 3 is expected to be
robust at around +0.6% but quarter 4 is expected to weaken significantly.

Page 206

APPENDIX G2
At their November quarterly Inflation Report meeting, the MPC repeated their well-worn
phrase that future Bank Rate increases would be gradual and would rise to a much lower
equilibrium rate, (where monetary policy is neither expansionary of contractionary), than
before the crash; indeed they gave a figure for this of around 2.5% in ten years’ time, but
declined to give a medium term forecast. However, with so much uncertainty around Brexit,
they warned that the next move could be up or down, even if there was a disorderly Brexit.
While it would be expected that Bank Rate could be cut if there was a significant fall in GDP
growth as a result of a disorderly Brexit, so as to provide a stimulus to growth, they warned
they could also raise Bank Rate in the same scenario if there was a boost to inflation from a
devaluation of sterling, increases in import prices and more expensive goods produced in
the UK replacing cheaper goods previously imported, and so on. In addition, the Chancellor
could potentially provide fiscal stimulus to support economic growth, though at the cost of
increasing the budget deficit above currently projected levels.
It is unlikely that the MPC would increase Bank Rate in February 2019, ahead of the
deadline in March for Brexit. Getting parliamentary approval for a Brexit agreement on both
sides of the Channel will take well into spring 2019. However, in view of the hawkish stance
of the MPC at their November meeting, the next increase in Bank Rate is now forecast to be
in May 2019 (on the assumption that a Brexit deal is agreed by both the UK and the EU).
The following increases are then forecast to be in February and November 2020 before
ending up at 2.0% in February 2022.
Inflation. The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measure of inflation has been falling from a peak of
3.1% in November 2017 to 2.1% in December 2018. In the November Bank of England quarterly
Inflation Report, inflation was forecast to still be marginally above its 2% inflation target two years
ahead, (at about 2.1%), given a scenario of minimal increases in Bank Rate.
The labour market figures in November were particularly strong with an emphatic increase in
total employment of 141,000 over the previous three months, unemployment at 4.0% at a 43 year
low on the Independent Labour Organisation measure, and job vacancies hitting an all-time high
indicating that employers are having major difficulties filling job vacancies with suitable staff. It
was therefore unsurprising that wage inflation continued at its high point of 3.3%, (3 month
average regular pay, excluding bonuses). This meant that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates less CPI
inflation), earnings are currently growing by about 1.2%, the highest level since 2009. This
increase in household spending power is likely to feed through into providing some support to the
overall rate of economic growth in the coming months. This tends to confirm that the MPC was
right to start on a cautious increase in Bank Rate in August as it views wage inflation in excess of
3% as increasing inflationary pressures within the UK economy
In the political arena, the Brexit deal put forward by the Conservative minority government was
defeated on 15 January. It is unclear at the time of writing, how this situation will move forward.
However, our central position is that Prime Minister May’s government will endure, despite
various setbacks, along the route to reaching an orderly Brexit though the risks are increasing
that it may not be possible to get full agreement by the UK and EU before 29 March 2019, in
which case this withdrawal date is likely to be pushed back to a new date. If, however, the UK
faces a general election in the next 12 months, this could result in a potential loosening of
monetary and fiscal policy and therefore medium to longer dated gilt yields could rise on the
expectation of a weak pound and concerns around inflation picking up.
USA. President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy is fuelling a (temporary) boost in
consumption which has generated an upturn in the rate of strong growth which rose from 2.2%
(annualised rate) in quarter 1 to 4.2% in quarter 2 and 3.5%, (3.0% y/y), in quarter 3, but also an
upturn in inflationary pressures. The strong growth in employment numbers and the reduction in
the unemployment rate to 3.9%, near to a recent 49 year low, has fed through to an upturn in
wage inflation which hit 3.2% in November. However, CPI inflation overall fell to 2.2% in

Page 207

APPENDIX G2
November and looks to be on a falling trend to drop below the Fed’s target of 2% during 2019.
The Fed has continued on its series of increases in interest rates with another 0.25% increase in
December to between 2.25% and 2.50%, this being the fifth increase in 2018 and the ninth in this
cycle. However, they did also reduce their forecast for further increases from three to two. This
latest increase compounded investor fears that the Fed is over doing the speed and level of
increases in rates and that it is going to cause a US recession as a result. There is also much
evidence in previous monetary policy cycles of the Fed’s series of increases doing exactly that.
Consequently, we have seen stock markets around the world falling under the weight of fears
around the Fed’s actions, the trade war between the US and China and an expectation that world
growth will slow.
The tariff war between the US and China has been generating a lot of heat during 2018; it could
significantly damage world growth if an agreement is not reached during the current three month
truce declared by President Trump to hold off from further tariff increases.
Eurozone. Growth was 0.4% in quarters 1 and 2 but fell back to 0.2% in quarter 3, though this
was probably just a temporary dip. In particular, data from Germany has been mixed and it could
be negatively impacted by US tariffs on a significant part of its manufacturing exports e.g. cars.
Current forward indicators for economic growth and inflation have now been on a downward trend
for a significant period which will make if difficult for the ECB to make any start on increasing rates
until 2020 at the earliest. Indeed, the issue now is rather whether the ECB will have to resort to
new measures to boost liquidity in the economy in order to support growth. Having halved its
quantitative easing purchases of debt in October 2018 to €15bn per month, the European Central
Bank ended all further purchases in December 2018. In its January meeting, it made a point of
underlining that it will be fully reinvesting all maturing debt for an extended period of time past the
date at which it starts raising the key ECB interest rates.
China. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated rounds of
central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. Major progress still needs to be made to
eliminate excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, and to address the level of
non-performing loans in the banking and credit systems. Progress has been made in reducing the
rate of credit creation, particularly from the shadow banking sector, which is feeding through into
lower economic growth. There are concerns that official economic statistics are inflating the
published rate of growth.
Japan - has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation up
to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress on
fundamental reform of the economy. It is likely that loose monetary policy will endure for some
years yet to try to stimulate growth and modest inflation.
Emerging countries. Argentina and Turkey are currently experiencing major headwinds and are
facing challenges in external financing requirements well in excess of their reserves of foreign
exchange. However, these countries are small in terms of the overall world economy, (around 1%
each), so the fallout from the expected recessions in these countries will be minimal.
INTEREST RATE FORECASTS
The interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services in paragraph 3.2 are predicated on an
assumption of an agreement being reached on Brexit between the UK and the EU. On this basis,
while GDP growth is likely to be subdued in 2019 due to all the uncertainties around Brexit
depressing consumer and business confidence, an agreement is likely to lead to a boost to the
rate of growth in 2020 which could, in turn, increase inflationary pressures in the economy and so
cause the Bank of England to resume a series of gentle increases in Bank Rate. Just how fast,
and how far, those increases will occur and rise to, will be data dependent. The forecasts in this

Page 208

APPENDIX G2
report assume a modest recovery in the rate and timing of stronger growth and in the
corresponding response by the Bank in raising rates.
• In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit, it is likely that the Bank of England would
take action to cut Bank Rate from 0.75% in order to help economic growth deal with the
adverse effects of this situation. This is also likely to cause short to medium term gilt yields
to fall.
• If there was a disorderly Brexit, then any cut in Bank Rate would be likely to last for a longer
period and also depress short and medium gilt yields correspondingly. It is also possible
that the government could act to protect economic growth by implementing fiscal stimulus.
However, there would appear to be a majority consensus in the Commons against any form of
non-agreement exit so the chance of this occurring has now substantially diminished.
The balance of risks to the UK



The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably neutral.
The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates, are
probably also even and are broadly dependent on how strong GDP growth turns out,
how slowly inflation pressures subside, and how quickly the Brexit negotiations move
forward positively.

One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are now working
in very different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash as there has been
a major increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing
rates that have prevailed for ten years since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of
interest in an economy, (i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary nor deflationary), is difficult
to determine definitively in this new environment, although central banks have made
statements that they expect it to be much lower than before 2008. Central banks could
therefore either over or under do increases in central interest rates.
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently
include:






Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major downturn in
the rate of growth.
Bank of England monetary policy takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next
three years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in
inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.
The interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services in paragraph 3.2 are
predicated on an assumption of an agreement being reached on Brexit between the
UK and the EU. On this basis, while GDP growth is likely to be subdued in 2019 due
to all the uncertainties around Brexit depressing consumer and business confidence,
an agreement is likely to lead to a boost to the rate of growth in 2020 which could, in
turn, increase inflationary pressures in the economy and so cause the Bank of
England to resume a series of gentle increases in Bank Rate. Just how fast, and
how far, those increases will occur and rise to, will be data dependent. The forecasts
in this report assume a modest recovery in the rate and timing of stronger growth and
in the corresponding response by the Bank in raising rates.
In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit, it is likely that the Bank of England
would take action to cut Bank Rate from 0.75% in order to help economic growth deal
with the adverse effects of this situation. This is also likely to cause short to medium
term gilt yields to fall.

Page 209

APPENDIX G2
















If there was a disorderly Brexit, then any cut in Bank Rate would be likely to last for a
longer period and also depress short and medium gilt yields correspondingly. It is
also possible that the government could act to protect economic growth by
implementing fiscal stimulus.
However, there would appear to be a majority consensus in the Commons against
any form of non-agreement exit so the chance of this occurring has now substantially
diminished.
Weak capitalisation of some European banks. Italian banks are particularly
vulnerable; one factor is that they hold a high level of Italian government debt - debt
which is falling in value. This is therefore undermining their capital ratios and raises
the question of whether they will need to raise fresh capital to plug the gap.
German minority government. In the German general election of September 2017,
Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority position dependent on
the fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in popularity of the antiimmigration AfD party. Then in October 2018, the results of the Bavarian and Hesse
state elections radically undermined the SPD party and showed a sharp fall in
support for the CDU. As a result, the SPD is reviewing whether it can continue to
support a coalition that is so damaging to its electoral popularity. After the result of
the Hesse state election, Angela Merkel announced that she would not stand for reelection as CDU party leader at her party’s convention in December 2018. However,
this makes little practical difference as she is still expected to aim to continue for now
as the Chancellor. However, there are five more state elections coming up in 2019
and EU parliamentary elections in May/June; these could result in a further loss of
electoral support for both the CDU and SPD which could also undermine her
leadership.
Other minority eurozone governments. Spain, Portugal, Ireland, the Netherlands
and Belgium all have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which
could prove fragile. Sweden is also struggling to form a government due to the antiimmigration party holding the balance of power, and which no other party is willing to
form a coalition with. The Belgian coalition collapsed in December 2018 but a
minority caretaker government has been appointed until the May EU wide general
elections.
Austria, the Czech Republic and Hungary now form a strongly anti-immigration
bloc within the EU while Italy, in 2018, has also elected a strongly anti-immigration
government. Elections to the EU parliament are due in May/June 2019.
Further increases in interest rates in the US could spark a sudden flight of
investment funds from more risky assets e.g. shares, into bonds yielding a much
improved yield. Throughout the last quarter of 2018, we saw sharp falls in equity
markets interspersed with occasional partial rallies. Emerging countries which have
borrowed heavily in dollar denominated debt, could be particularly exposed to this
risk of an investor flight to safe havens e.g. UK gilts.
There are concerns around the level of US corporate debt which has swollen
massively during the period of low borrowing rates in order to finance mergers and
acquisitions. This has resulted in the debt of many large corporations being
downgraded to a BBB credit rating, close to junk status. Indeed, 48% of total
investment grade corporate debt is now rated at BBB. If such corporations fail to
generate profits and cash flow to reduce their debt levels as expected, this could tip
their debt into junk ratings which will increase their cost of financing and further
negatively impact profits and cash flow.
Geopolitical risks, especially North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle East,
which could lead to increasing safe haven flows.

Page 210

APPENDIX G2
Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates
 Brexit – if both sides were to agree by 29 March a compromise that quickly removed
all threats of economic and political disruption and so led to an early boost to UK
economic growth.
 The Fed causing a sudden shock in financial markets through misjudging the pace
and strength of increases in its Fed. Funds Rate and in the pace and strength of
reversal of QE, which then leads to a fundamental reassessment by investors of the
relative risks of holding bonds, as opposed to equities. This could lead to a major flight
from bonds to equities and a sharp increase in bond yields in the US, which could then
spill over into impacting bond yields around the world.
 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate
and, therefore, allows inflation pressures to build up too strongly within the UK
economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster
than we currently expect.
 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to sustained
significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt
yields.

Page 211

APPENDIX G2
APPENDIX 5.3 Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and Counterparty Risk
Management
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with
maturities up to maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where
applicable.
Minimum ‘High’ Credit
Criteria

Use

Debt Management Agency Deposit
Facility

N/A

In-house

UK Local Authority Deposits

N/A

In-house

Term Deposits – banks and building
societies

Minimum colour of
green on our external
treasury advisers credit
rating matrix

In-house

Treasury Bills

UK sovereign rating

In-house

Certificates of Deposit or Corporate
Bonds issued by banks and building
societies

Minimum colour of
green on our external
treasury advisers credit
rating matrix

In-house

Bonds issued by multilateral
development banks

AAA

Money Market Funds – CCLA (Church,
Charities & Local Authority)

AAA

Money Market Funds CNAV
(Constant Net Asset Value)

AAA

In-house

Money Market Funds LVAV (Low
Volatility Asset Value)

AAA

In-house

Money Market Funds VNAV
(Variable Net Asset Value)

AAA

In-house

In-house buy and
hold
In-house (£10m
limit for cash flow
purposes)

Term deposits with nationalised banks and banks and building societies.
Max of total
investments

Max.
maturity
period

Minimum Credit
Criteria

Use

UK part
nationalised banks

Minimum colour of
green on our external
treasury advisers
credit rating matrix

Inhouse

£5m

1 year

Banks part
nationalised by AAA
or AA- sovereign
rating countries –
non UK

Minimum colour of
green on our external
treasury advisers
credit rating matrix

Inhouse

£5m

1 year

forward period plus the deal period should not exceed one year in aggregate.

Page 212

If
forw
ard
dep
osits
are
to
be
mad
e,
the

APPENDIX G2
Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies
(OEICs): Max % of
Max.
Minimum Credit
Use
non-specified maturity
Criteria
investments
period
Ultra-Short Dated Bond
Funds with a credit score
In-house
100%
1 years
Long-term AAA
of 1.25
N.B. buy and hold may also include sale at a financial year end and repurchase the following
day in order to accommodate the requirements of the Accounting Code of Practice.
Accounting treatment of investments. The accounting treatment may differ from the
underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this Council. To
ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, which may arise from
these differences, we will review the accounting implications of new transactions before they
are undertaken.
NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the
Specified Investment criteria. A maximum of £5m will be held in aggregate in non-specified
investments.
Maturities of ANY period
Minimum Credit
Criteria

Use

Fixed Term Deposits with
variable rate and variable
maturities: -Structured
deposits

Sovereign rating of
AAA or AA- and
minimum colour of
green on our
external treasury
advisers credit
rating matrix

In-house

UK Government Gilts

UK sovereign rating

Sovereign Bond issues
(other than the UK govt.)

AAA

Bond issuance issued by
a financial institution which
is explicitly guaranteed by
the UK Government (e.g.
National Rail)

UK sovereign rating

Collateralised Deposits
(see note 1)

UK Sovereign
rating

Max % of
non-specified
investments

Max.
maturity
period

100%

5 year

100%

5 year

100%

5 year

In-house
buy and
hold

100%

5 year

In-house

100%

5 year

In-house
buy and
hold
In-house
buy and
hold

Page 213

APPENDIX G2
Ultra-Short Dated Bond
Funds with a credit score
of 1.5
Bond Funds
Gilt Funds

Long-term AAA
Long-term AAA
volatility rating
MR1+
Long-term AAA
volatility rating
MR1+

In-house

100%

1 years

In-house

100%

5 years

In-house

100%

5 years

Note 1. as collateralised deposits are backed by collateral of AAA rated local authority Lender
Option Borrower Option (LOBO)’s, this investment instrument is regarded as being a AAA rated
investment as it is equivalent to lending to a local authority.
Maturities in excess of 1 year

Term Deposits – UK local
authorities

Term Deposits – banks and
building societies

Certificates of Deposit
issued by banks and
building societies

Corporate bonds issued by
banks and building societies

Bonds issued by multilateral
development banks

Max % of
nonspecified
investments

Max.
maturity
period

Minimum Credit
Criteria

Use

N/A

Inhouse

100%

5 year

Inhouse

100%

5 year

Inhouse

100%

5 year

Inhouse

100%

5 year

Inhouse

100%

5 year

Sovereign rating of
AAA or AA- and
minimum colour of
orange on our
external treasury
advisers credit
rating matrix
Sovereign rating of
AAA or AA- and
minimum colour of
orange on our
external treasury
advisers credit
rating matrix
Sovereign rating of
AAA or AA- and
minimum colour of
orange on our
external treasury
advisers credit
rating matrix
AAA

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs)

Property Fund

InHouse

£5m

Corporate Bond Fund

InHouse

£5m

Page 214

Separate
approval
required
Separate
approval
required

APPENDIX G2

The use of property funds can be deemed capital expenditure, and as such will be an application
(spending) of capital resources. This Authority will seek guidance on the status of any fund it may
consider using. Appropriate due diligence will also be undertaken before investment of this type is
undertaken.
Non treasury loans and investments with Welland Homes and South Holland Local Housing
Company will not count towards the Non-Specified Investment limit.
The maximum total investment to any individual financial institution or its parent group is £5m and
the limit with Money Market Funds is £10m.
Lloyds Bank provides banking services to the Council and the above limits do not include the day
to day balance in the Council’s current account.
Whilst these are maximum limits, under normal circumstances the Section 151
Officer will ensure lower limits are maintained. The higher limits are required to allow flexibility in
the movement of funds if a particular issue or circumstance arises e.g. global banking crisis.

Page 215

APPENDIX G2

APPENDIX 5.4 Approved countries for investments
This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher (we show
the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also, (except - at the time of writing - for
Hong Kong, Norway and Luxembourg), have banks operating in sterling markets which have
credit ratings of green or above in the Link Asset Services credit worthiness service.
AAA
 Australia
 Canada
 Denmark
 Germany
 Luxembourg
 Netherlands
 Norway
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland
AA+
 Finland
 U.S.A.
AA
 Abu Dhabi (UAE)
 France
 Hong Kong
 U.K.
AA Belgium
 Qatar

Page 216

APPENDIX G2
APPENDIX 5.5 - Treasury management scheme of delegation
(i) Full council


receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and activities



approval of annual strategy.



approval of / amendments to the council’s adopted clauses, treasury management policy
statement and treasury management practices



budget consideration and approval



approval of the division of responsibilities as contained in the Financial Regulations

(ii) Cabinet and Governance & Audit Committee


reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making
recommendations to the responsible body.



receiving and reviewing the annual strategy and making recommendations to the
responsible body.



receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations.

SCRUTINY AND MONITORING
Council delegates the scrutiny and monitoring of the Treasury Management function to the
Governance and Audit Committee. As a minimum they will receive a Mid Term Treasury report
on investment issues and performance. Training will be made available for members of the
Governance and Audit Committee to ensure they have the necessary skills to undertake this role.
The Governance and Audit Committee will also have access to professional and independent
advice and support as required in order to undertake this role.

Page 217

APPENDIX G2
APPENDIX 5.6 - The treasury management role of the Section 151 Officer and deputy
The Section 151 Officer responsibilities are as follows:




















recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the
same regularly, and monitoring compliance;
submitting regular treasury management policy reports;
submitting budgets and budget variations;
receiving and reviewing management information reports;
reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;
ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;
ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;
recommending the appointment of external service providers;
preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, nonfinancial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe ;
ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the
long term and provides value for money;
ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority;
ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on nonfinancial assets and their financing;
ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake a
level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of risk compared to its
financial resources;
ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring
and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long term liabilities;
provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees ;
ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures taken
on by an authority;
ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally provided,
to carry out the above;
creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non treasury
investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following :







Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and risk
management criteria for any material non-treasury investment portfolios;
Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and schedules), including
methodology and criteria for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury
investments;
Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and schedules), including a
statement of the governance requirements for decision making in relation to nontreasury investments; and arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due
diligence is carried out to support decision making;
Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), including where and
how often monitoring reports are taken;
Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how the relevant
knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged.

Page 218

APPENDIX G2
Compass Point Business Services is responsible for the provision of:


treasury management strategy statements and practices for approval



regular treasury management policy reports



budget and budget variations



management information reports



adequate treasury management resources and skills, and effective division of
responsibilities within the treasury management function, and;



arranging the appointment of external treasury management advisors.

Where the use of particular instant access accounts, notice accounts and money market
funds has been approved by the Section 151 Officer, CPBS treasury officers have delegated
authority to withdraw and deposit funds within the agreed limits contained in this strategy.

Page 219

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX H
FEES AND CHARGES – 2019 20 Estimates
Environmental Health (Public Protection)
Activity
Licensing

Policy
The fee will be set locally
on cost recovery for the
service with the exception
of the statutory set fees
which are set by central
government. The authority
will have a duty to have
regard to guidance issued
by the Secretary of State
which outlines the issues
that should be considered
by them when setting the
fee and what activities the
fee can and cannot be
covered within the fee
setting process.

Proposal
Fees set to cover costs on fee
recovery or are set by legislation

Food Safety/ Health and
Safety Training

SHDC has the
responsibility of educating
the community on food,
health & safety matters.
Fees set to cover costs and
take into account course
demand and competitors
fees

Fees set to cover costs.
To be reviewed during 19/20.

Pollution Control

Statutory fees are set
Charges in line with policy
not to make a profit, but to
ensure businesses are
operating legally
Discretionary fees to cover Charges in line with policy.
To be reviewed during 19/20.
costs. Voluntary
surrender and export fees
are statutory. Statutory fees
are set not to make a profit,
but to ensure businesses
are operating legally

Food Safety

Scrap Metal

As per the Scrap Metal
Dealers Act 2013.The fee
will be set locally by each
local authority on a cost
recovery basis, but local
authorities will have a duty
to have regard to guidance

Page 221

Charges in line with policy

Street Traders

issued by the Secretary of
State which outlines the
issues that should be
considered by them when
setting the fee and what
activities the fee can cover
Roadside trading consent

Fees set to cover costs on fee
recovery or in line with
legislation.
To be reviewed during 19/20.

Environmental Services
Activity
Provision of Markets

Policy
Fees to be in-line with
those charged in the
neighbouring area

Proposal
To be reviewed during 19/20.

Car Parking Charges

Service to breakeven over
a 4 year period and make a
contribution to the
Replacement and
Refurbishment Reserve

To be reviewed during 19/20.

Bus Departure Charges

Charges to bus operators
only
Fees to be set as a
deterrent

To be reviewed during 19/20.

Excess Charges
Garden Waste Sacks
Bulky Waste
Garden Waste

Maximise income without
encouraging fly tipping
Maximise income without
encouraging fly tipping
One year pilot agreed
during 2015-16 Set to
cover costs and make a
small surplus to be
reinvested in the project.
Now extendedMaximise
income without
encouraging fly tipping

Community Development

Page 222

No change to fees proposed, in
line with car park charges.
To be reviewed during 19/20.
To be reviewed during 19/20.
To be reviewed during 19/20.
Fees agreed as per the cabinet
report. An annual charge of £49
for 24 collections and a one off
charge initially offered at £15
(for delivery, repairs, loan of bin,
newsletters and offers)
To be reviewed during 19/20.

Activity
Ayscoughfee Hall Museum

Policy
Proposal
To cover costs and
Existing fees assessed and
match competitor prices revised where appropriate.
New public events to be
booked on ‘price on
application’ basis.
To be reviewed during 19/20.

South Holland Centre

To meet income targets
whilst enabling
maximum community
use of the Centre.
To increase charges in
line with inflation and
review annually
Review annually with
contractor
Charges for fines listed
for each offence

Castle Field
Castle Sports Complex and
Swimming Pool
Charges for street scene
fines

To be reviewed during 19/20.

To be reviewed during 19/20.
To be reviewed during 19/20.
Set to cover costs. Includes
dropping of litter.
To be reviewed during 19/20.

Assets and Property
Activity
Industrial Units
Garages
Garage Plots

Policy
Set in line with market
levels
Previously increased in
line with HRA rent
increase.
Previously increased in
line with rent increase.

Proposal
To be reviewed during 19/20.

Policy
Charge in line with
competitors
Charge based on
hourly rate to
reflect the actual
cost of each
project.
Charge set by
ourselves
These are set by
us, at a cost per
project as per the
new fee
regulations which
are based on

Proposal
To be reviewed during 19/20.

To be reviewed during 19/20.
To be reviewed during 19/20.

Planning and Building Control
Activity
Land Charges
Building Control

High Hedges
Building Control Consultancy

Page 223

Charges based on hourly rate,
to cover costs incurred by the
Council.
To be reviewed during 19/20
Fees are set by SHDC.
Service to maintain charges
based on a market rate.

hourly rates, as per
CIPFA guidance.
Charges based on
amount per m2, in
line with the market
rate activity
Development Management

Fees increased
from January 2019
pursuant to the
Government
announcement

Updated to reflect
Government announcement
effective January 2019

Spalding Special
Activity
Cemetery Fees
(Spalding Special
Expenses)

Policy
Fees are reviewed annually
and set by the Council,
taking into account the
sensitive nature of this
service

Proposal
To be reviewed during 19/20.

Allotments (Spalding
Special Expenses)

Charges to be in line with
those charged in the
neighbouring area

To be reviewed during 19/20.

Ayscoughfee Gardens
(Tennis, Putting and
Bowls) (Spalding
Special Expenses)

To increase charges in line
with inflation and review
annually

To be reviewed during 19/20.

Halley Stewart Playing
Field (Spalding Special
Expenses)
Monks House Playing
Field (Spalding Special
Expenses)

To increase charges in line
with inflation and review
annually
To increase charges in line
with inflation and review
annually

To be reviewed during 19/20.
To be reviewed during 19/20.

Housing Revenue Account
Activity
General Fund Housing
Rents

Policy

Proposal
Reduction of 1% in rents in line
with rent setting proposals for
the Housing Revenue Account.

HRA Service Charges
To be reviewed during 19/20 and brought to members for consideration.

Page 224

Business Rates
Retail Discount – Guidance

November 2018
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

Page 225

© Crown copyright, 2018
Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.
You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium,
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg
If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at:
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF
Telephone: 030 3444 0000
For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg
November 2018
ISBN: 978-1-4098-5378-7

Page 226

Contents
About this guidance

4

Introduction

4

Retail Discount

4

How will the relief be provided?
Which properties will benefit from relief?
How much relief will be available?
State Aid
Splits, mergers, and changes to existing hereditaments

4
5
7
8
9

Annex A: Calculation examples for 2019/20

10

Annex B: Sample paragraphs that could be included in letters to ratepayers about
Retail Discount for 2019/20 and 2020/21
12
‘De minimis’ declaration
Refusal of Retail Discount form

13
14

Page 227

3

About this guidance
1.

This guidance is intended to support local authorities in administering the “Retail
Discount” announced in the Budget on 29 October 2018. This Guidance applies to
England only.

2.

This guidance sets out the criteria which central Government considers for this
purpose to be retail and eligible for this discount. The guidance does not replace
existing legislation.

3.

Enquiries on this measure should be addressed to:
ndr@communities.gov.uk

Introduction
4.

The Government recognises that changing consumer behaviour presents a
significant challenge for retailers in our town centres and is taking action to help the
high street evolve.

5.

The Government announced in the Budget on 29 October 2018 that it will provide a
business rates Retail Discount scheme for occupied retail properties with a rateable
value of less than £51,000 in each of the years 2019-20 and 2020-21. The value of
discount should be one third of the bill, and must be applied after mandatory reliefs
and other discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grants have been applied.
Where an authority applies a locally funded relief, for instance a hardship fund,
under section 47 this is must be applied after the Retail Discount.

6.

This document provides guidance to authorities about the operation and delivery of
the policy. The Government anticipates that local authorities will include details of
the relief to be provided to eligible ratepayers for 2019-20 in their bills for the
beginning of that year.

Retail Discount
How will the relief be provided?
7.

As this is a measure for 2019-20 and 2020-21 only, the Government is not changing
the legislation around the reliefs available to properties. Instead the Government
will, in line with the eligibility criteria set out in this guidance, reimburse local
authorities that use their discretionary relief powers, introduced by the Localism Act
(under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, as amended) to grant
relief. It will be for individual local billing authorities to adopt a local scheme and
determine in each individual case when, having regard to this guidance, to grant
relief under section 47. Central government will fully reimburse local authorities for
the local share of the discretionary relief (using a grant under section 31 of the
Local Government Act 2003). The Government expects local government to apply
and grant relief to qualifying ratepayers from the start of the 2019/20 billing cycle.

Page 228

4

8.

Central government will reimburse billing authorities and those major precepting
authorities for the actual cost to them under the rates retention scheme of the relief
that falls within the definitions in this guidance. Local authorities will be asked to
provide an estimate of their likely total cost for providing the relief in their National
Non-Domestic Rate Return 1 (NNDR1) for 2019-20 and 2020-21. Central
government will provide payments to authorities to cover the local share, as per the
usual process.

9.

Local authorities will also be asked to provide outturn data on the actual total cost
for providing the relief, as per the usual process via the National Non-Domestic
Rate 3 (NNDR3) forms for 2019-20 and 2020-21. Any required reconciliations will
then be conducted at these points.1

Which properties will benefit from relief?
10.

Properties that will benefit from the relief will be occupied hereditaments with a
rateable value of less than £51,000, that are wholly or mainly being used as shops,
restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments.

11.

We consider shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments to mean:
i. Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting
members of the public:
− Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers,
jewellers, stationers, off licences, chemists, newsagents, hardware
stores, supermarkets, etc)
− Charity shops
− Opticians
− Post offices
− Furnishing shops/ display rooms (such as: carpet shops, double glazing,
garage doors)
− Car/ caravan show rooms
− Second hand car lots
− Markets
− Petrol stations
− Garden centres
− Art galleries (where art is for sale/hire)
ii. Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following
services to visiting members of the public:
− Hair and beauty services (such as: hair dressers, nail bars, beauty
salons, tanning shops, etc)

As required in the NNDR3 guidance notes, the former categories of discretionary relief prior to the localism
act (i.e. charitable/CASC/rural etc. top up and not for profit) should be applied first in the sequence of
discretionary reliefs and, therefore, before the retail discount.

1

Page 229

5

−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−
−

Shoe repairs/ key cutting
Travel agents
Ticket offices e.g. for theatre
Dry cleaners
Launderettes
PC/ TV/ domestic appliance repair
Funeral directors
Photo processing
Tool hire
Car hire

iii. Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/ or drink to
visiting members of the public:
−
−
−
−
−
−

Restaurants
Takeaways
Sandwich shops
Coffee shops
Pubs
Bars

12.

To qualify for the relief the hereditament should be wholly or mainly being used as a
shop, restaurant, cafe or drinking establishment. In a similar way to other reliefs
(such as charity relief), this is a test on use rather than occupation. Therefore,
hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or mainly used for the qualifying
purpose will not qualify for the relief.

13.

The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be impossible to
list the many and varied retail uses that exist. There will also be mixed uses.
However, it is intended to be a guide for authorities as to the types of uses that
Government considers for this purpose to be retail. Authorities should determine for
themselves whether particular properties not listed are broadly similar in nature to
those above and, if so, to consider them eligible for the relief. Conversely,
properties that are not broadly similar in nature to those listed above should not be
eligible for the relief.

14.

The list below sets out the types of uses that the Government does not consider to
be retail use for the purpose of this relief. Again, it is for local authorities to
determine for themselves whether particular properties are broadly similar in nature
to those below and, if so, to consider them not eligible for the relief under their local
scheme.
i. Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following
services to visiting members of the public:
− Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux de
change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers)
− Other services (e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment agencies)
− Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors)

Page 230

6

− Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance agents/
financial advisers, tutors)
− Post office sorting offices
ii. Hereditaments that are not reasonably accessible to visiting members of
the public
15.

Generally speaking, the government also does not consider other assembly or
leisure uses beyond those listed at paragraph 11 to be retail uses for the purpose of
the discount. For example, cinemas, theatres and museums are outside the scope
of the scheme, as are nightclubs and music venues which are not similar in nature
to the hereditaments described at paragraph 11(iii) above. Hereditaments used for
sport or physical recreation (e.g. gyms) are also outside the scope of the discount.
Where there is doubt, the local authority should exercise their discretion with
reference to the above and knowledge of their local tax base.

How much relief will be available?
16.

The total amount of government-funded relief available for each property for 201920 and 2020/21 under this scheme is one third of the bill, after mandatory reliefs
and other discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grants have been applied,
excluding those where local authorities have used their discretionary relief powers
introduced by the Localism Act which are not funded by section 31 grants2. There is
no relief available under this scheme for properties with a rateable value of £51,000
or more. Of course, councils may use their discretionary powers to offer further
discounts outside this scheme. However, where an authority applies a locally
funded relief, sometimes referred to as a hardship fund, under section 47 this is
must be applied after the Retail Discount.

17.

The eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be assessed and calculated on a
daily basis. The following formula should be used to determine the amount of relief
to be granted for a chargeable day for particular hereditament in the financial year
2019-20:
Amount of relief to be granted =
V
3

where

V is the daily charge for the hereditament for the chargeable day after the
application of any mandatory relief and any other discretionary reliefs,
excluding those where local authorities have used their discretionary relief

As required in the NNDR3 guidance notes, the former categories of discretionary relief prior to the localism
act (i.e. charitable/CASC/rural etc. top up and not for profit) should be applied first in the sequence of
discretionary reliefs and, therefore, before the retail discount.

2

Page 231

7

powers introduced by the Localism Act which are not funded by section 31
grants3.
18.

This should be calculated ignoring any prior year adjustments in liabilities which fall
to be liable on the day.

19.

Ratepayers that occupy more than one property will be entitled to relief for each of
their eligible properties, subject to State Aid De Minimis limits.

State Aid
20.

State Aid law is the means by which the European Union regulates state funded
support to businesses. Providing discretionary relief to ratepayers is likely to
amount to State Aid. However Retail Relief will be State Aid compliant where it is
provided in accordance with the De Minimis Regulations (1407/2013) 4.

21.

The De Minimis Regulations allow an undertaking to receive up to €200,000 of De
Minimis aid in a three year period (consisting of the current financial year and the
two previous financial years). Local authorities should familiarise themselves with
the terms of this State Aid exemption, in particular the types of undertaking that are
excluded from receiving De Minimis aid (Article 1), the relevant definition of
undertaking (Article 2(2) 5) and the requirement to convert the aid into Euros 6.

22.

To administer De Minimis it is necessary for the local authority to establish that the
award of aid will not result in the undertaking having received more than €200,000
of De Minimis aid. Note that the threshold only relates to aid provided under the De
Minimis Regulations (aid under other exemptions or outside the scope of State Aid
is not relevant to the De Minimis calculation). Annex B of this guidance contains a
sample De Minimis declaration which local authorities may wish to use, to discharge
this responsibility. Where local authorities have further questions about De Minimis
or other aspects of State Aid law, they should seek advice from their legal
department in the first instance7.

23.

The UK is scheduled to leave the EU on 29 March 2019. If there is an
Implementation Period, the State Aid rules will continue to apply as now and will be
subject to control by the EU Commission as at present. If the UK leaves the EU
without a negotiated Withdrawal Agreement, the Government has announced its
intention to transpose EU State Aid rules into UK domestic legislation, with only
technical modifications to correct deficiencies with the transposed EU law to ensure

As required in the NNDR3 guidance notes, the former categories of discretionary relief prior to the localism
act (i.e. charitable/CASC/rural etc. top up and not for profit) should be applied first in the sequence of
discretionary reliefs and, therefore, before the retail discount.
4
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF
5
The ‘New SME Definition user guide and model declaration’ provides further guidance:
http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/files/sme_definition/sme_user_guide_en.pdf
6
http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm
7
Detailed State Aid guidance can also be found at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_La
w_Requirements.pdf
3

Page 232

8

the regime operates effectively in a domestic context 8. Local authorities should
therefore continue to apply State Aid rules, including De Minimis, to the relief for
2019/20 and 2020/21.

Splits, mergers, and changes to existing hereditaments
24.

The relief should be applied on a day to day basis using the formula set out above.
A new hereditament created as a result of a split or merger during the financial
year, or where there is a change of use, should be considered afresh for the relief
on that day.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/state-aid-if-theres-no-brexit-deal/state-aid-if-theres-no-brexitdeal
8

Page 233

9

Annex A: Calculation examples for 2019/20
The retail discount (one third) is always calculated after mandatory relief and other
discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grant.
Example 1: An occupied shop with a rateable value of £40,000
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.491
Retail discount (1/3):
Rates due (after retail discount):

= £19,640
= -£6,547
= £13,093

Example 2: An occupied charity shop with a rateable value of £40,000
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.491
Net rates after charity relief:
Retail discount (1/3):
Rates due (after charity relief and retail discount):

= £19,640
= £3,928
= -£1,309
= £2,619

Example 3: An occupied shop with a rateable value of £13,500 eligible for Small
Business Rate Relief (SBRR)
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £13,500 x 0.491
Net rates after SBRR (50%):
Retail discount (1/3):
Rates due (after SBRR and retail discount):

= £6,629
= £3,314
= -£1,105
= £2,210

Example 4: An occupied shop with a rateable value of £10,000 eligible for Small
Business Rate Relief (SBRR)
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £10,000 x 0.491
Net rates after SBRR (100%):
Rates bill is nil and, therefore, no retail discount applies

= £4,910
= £nil

Example 5: An occupied shop with a rateable value of £40,000 eligible for
Transitional Relief (TR) and receiving Revaluation Discretionary Relief
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.491
Transitional Relief (say):
Net rates after Transitional Relief:
Net rates after Revaluation Discretionary Relief (say):
Retail discount (1/3):
Rates due (after TR, revaluation relief and retail discount):

= £19,640
= -£1,500
= £18,140
= £15,140
= -£5,047
= £10,093

Example 6: An occupied shop with a rateable value of £18,000 previously paying
nothing prior to revaluation 2017 and eligible for Supporting Small Businesses
Relief (SSB)
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £18,000 x 0.491
Supporting Small Businesses Relief (say):

Page 234

= £8,838
= -£7,038
10

Net rates after SSB:
Retail discount (1/3):
Rates due (after SSB and retail discount):

= £1,800
= -£600
= £1,200

Example 7: A shop with a rateable value of £40,000 (example 1) but only occupied
until 30 September 2019
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.491
Retail discount (1/3):
Rates due p.a. (after retail discount):
Daily charge while occupied (leap year):

= £19,640
= -£6,547
= £13,093
= £35.77 per day

Occupied charge 1/4/19 to 30/9/19 (183 days):

= £6,547

Unoccupied property relief (1/10/19 to 1/1/20):

= £nil

Unoccupied property rates (1/1/20 to 31/3/20),
£19,640 x 91/366

= £4,883

Rates due for the year (after retail relief):

= £11,430

Example 8: A shop with a rateable value of £40,000 (example 1) with a rateable value
increase to £60,000 with effect from 1 October 2019
Gross rates (before any reliefs) = £40,000 x 0.491
Retail discount (1/3):
Rates due p.a. (after retail discount):
Daily charge while occupied (leap year):

= £19,640
= -£6,547
= £13,093
= £35.77 per day

Charge 1/4/19 to 30/9/19 (183 days):

= £6,547

Daily charge on standard multiplier (1/10/19 to 1/1/20):
(£60,000 x 0.504)/366

= £82.62 per day

Charge 1/10/19 to 31/3/20 (183 days):

= £15,120

Rates due for the year (after retail relief):

= £21,667

Page 235

11

Annex B: Sample paragraphs that could be included in
letters to ratepayers about Retail Discount for 2019/20 and
2020/21
At Autumn Budget 2018, the Chancellor announced that eligible retailers will receive a one
third discount on their business rates bills for two years from April 2019.
Relief will be provided to eligible occupied retail properties with a rateable value of less
than £51,000 in 2019/20 and 2020/21. Your current rates bill includes this Retail Discount.
Awards such as Retail Discount are required to comply with the EU law on State Aid9. In
this case, this involves returning the attached declaration to this authority if you have
received any other de minimis State Aid, including any other Retail Discount you are being
granted for premises other than the one to which this bill and letter relates, and confirming
that the award of Retail Discount does not exceed the €200,000 an undertaking10 can
receive under the de minimis Regulations EC 1407/2013.
Please complete the declaration and return it to the address above. In terms of declaring
previous de minimis aid, we are only interested in public support which is de minimis aid
(State Aid received under other exemptions or public support which is not State Aid does
not need to be declared).
If you have not received any other de minimis State Aid, including any other Retail
Discount you are being granted for premises other than the one to which this bill and letter
relates, you do not need to complete or return the declaration.
If you wish to refuse to receive the Retail Discount granted in relation to the premises to
which this bill and letter relates, please complete the attached form and return it to the
address above. You do not need to complete the declaration. This may be particularly
relevant to those premises that are part of a large retail chain, where the cumulative total
of Retail Discount received could exceed €200,000.
Under the European Commission rules, you must retain this letter for three years from the
date on this letter and produce it on any request by the UK public authorities or the
European Commission. (You may need to keep this letter longer than three years for other
purposes). Furthermore, information on this aid must be supplied to any other public
authority or agency asking for information on ‘de minimis’ aid for the next three years.

.Further information on State Aid law can be found at https://www.gov.uk/state-aid
An undertaking is an entity which is engaged in economic activity. This means that it puts goods or
services on a given market. The important thing is what the entity does, not its status. Therefore, a charity or
not for profit company can be undertakings if they are involved in economic activities. A single undertaking
will normally encompass the business group rather than a single company within a group. Article 2.2 of the
de minimis Regulations (Commission Regulation EC/ 1407/2013) defines the meaning of ‘single
undertaking’.

9

10

Page 236

12

‘De minimis’ declaration
Dear [ ]
NON-DOMESTIC RATES ACCOUNT NUMBER:_______________________
The value of the non-domestic rates Retail Discount to be provided to [name of
undertaking] by [name of local authority] is £ [ ] (Euros [ ]).
This award shall comply with the EU law on State Aid on the basis that, including this
award, [name of undertaking] shall not receive more than €200,000 in total of De minimis
aid within the current financial year or the previous two financial years). The de minimis
Regulations 1407/2013 (as published in the Official Journal of the European Union L352
24.12.2013) can be found at:
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF .

Amount of de
minimis aid

Date of aid

Organisation
providing aid

Nature of aid

I confirm that:
1) I am authorised to sign on behalf of _________________[name of undertaking]; and
2) __________________[name of undertaking] shall not exceed its De minimis threshold
by accepting this Retail Discount.
SIGNATURE:
NAME:
POSITION:
BUSINESS:
ADDRESS:
DATE:

Page 237

13

Refusal of Retail Discount form
Name and address of
premises

Non-domestic rates
account number

Amount of Retail
Discount

I confirm that I wish to refuse Retail Discount in relation to the above premises.
I confirm that I am authorised to sign on behalf of ______________ [name of undertaking].
SIGNATURE:
NAME:
POSITION:
BUSINESS:
ADDRESS:
DATE:

Page 238

14

Agenda Item 11.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Finance and Executive Director - Commercialisation
(S151)

To:

Cabinet 12 February 2019

Author:

Jane Crosby, Head of Finance; Ray Fleming, Interim Strategic Business
Partner

Subject:

Q3 Finance Report 2018-19

Purpose:

This report provides information on Quarter 3 (to 31 December 2018) and
forecast full year financial position of the Council

Recommendations:
1)

That the report and Appendix A be noted.

2)

That the estimated position with regard to the contributions to and use of Reserves be
noted.

Recommendations to Council:
3)

That an increase in the General Fund Capital programme is approved in accordance with
para. 5.5.2 and Appendix B.

4)

Recommend the approval of the revised 2018-19 capital programme for the General
Fund and HRA

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

This report provides information on the full year financial forecasts at 31st December 2018
in the following areas:





The Revenue Budget for the General Fund (GF) and Housing Revenue Account
(HRA),
The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position,
The Capital Programme for 2018/19 (GF and HRA), and
The Treasury Management Performance for the year.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed at Appendix A.

2.2

To note the report and not approve the recommendations detailed in Appendix A.

2.3

Do nothing.

Page 239

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To provide members with information on the Council’s overall financial performance to date
in 2018-19 and to provide an updated financial position on reserves for 2018-19.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

To ensure that members are updated regularly on the Council’s overall financial position
and have the information required to assist in future financial decision making.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

This report is financial in nature. The forecast outturn position in respect of the General
Fund, HRA, Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised
within the following paragraphs with further detail provided at Appendix A.

5.2

General Fund Revenue Outturn

5.2.1

The Q3 report is currently forecasting a net service underspend in the General Fund of
£436k. This represents a favourable movement £251k on the overspend position of £185k
reported in Q2.

5.2.2

This is made up of a number of variances across services. The forecast outturn position by
Directorate is detailed at Appendix A – Table 1 together with an analysis of service
variations. The main estimated budget variations are :
Pressures

A net service pressure of £276k in Environmental Services resulting from:
o Staff cost pressures due to the level of demand in the Waste service and the
need to cover sickness and vacancies;
o Income pressures in the area of car parking;
o Vehicle running cost pressures from increased fuel costs;
o Garden waste income below budget due to lower-than-expected demand as a
result of seasonal variation.





Staff cost pressures in Housing £38k.
Corporate Management staff and operating costs £24k.
A pressure of £5k in Spalding Special Expenses due to re-wiring costs for the Halley
Stewart Pavilion.
A net service pressure in IT Services of £11k due to additional hardware maintenance
and contractor costs.

Savings/ Additional Income

Additional Fee income forecast in Planning of £170k and savings in agency and
contractor costs of £109k;

Additional Building Control fee income of £34k;

Additional Investment Income of £70k;

Additional Government S31 grant income and renewable energy income of £161k;

A £347k beneficial position on Business Rates, the main element being the
accounting relating to a £331k additional tariff payment to the Government.
Various other forecast pressures and savings across a number of services giving a net
£436k service underspend, as detailed in Appendix A.

Page 240

5.2.3

There are £105k of potential pressures in Moving Forward savings that have been built into
the budget but which have currently not been allocated to specific projects.

5.2.4

The position above also assumes that a number of moving forward savings that have been
built into service budgets will be fully delivered. More detail on the Moving Forward
programme is provided below.

5.2.5

The following revenue budget journals have been processed during Quarter 3 and reflected
in the outturn report:

Service

Detail

Delivery Unit

Asset Review – Resourcing Budget Stage 2
Technical Advice and Project Support funded
from Investment and Growth Reserve
Additional phase 3/ITrent work funded from
Transformation Reserve for 18-19
Innovation and Change programme manager
funded for 24 months from 03/09/18 from
Transformation Reserve
Office 365 Additional Revenue Spend

Human Resources
ICT
lCT
Total

Amount
(£)
£68,000
£5,400
£19,000
£2,500
£94,900

5.3

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn

5.3.1

The HRA is forecasting an £81k reduction in its surplus budget. This is mainly due to cost
pressures in supervision and management and Depreciation, off-set by additional
investment and service charges income. More detail is provided at Appendix A - Table 2.

5.4

Reserves (GF and HRA)

5.4.1

General Fund Specific Reserves are currently forecast to reduce from £7.6m to £7.0m
based on the forecast use of reserves in 2018/19. However, at this stage in the year this
position is likely to change depending upon future changes in revenue and capital
commitments. Further details are set out in Appendix A - Table 3.

5.4.2

In addition the General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m. During 2018/19 a
review of the level of the General Fund Reserve will be carried out relative to the Council’s
overall risks and members will be informed if any change is proposed to the level of this
reserve.

5.4.3

The HRA General Reserve balance is forecast to increase from £12.8m to £15.8m. The
Major Repairs balance is forecast to reduce from £6.4m to £4.2m as a result of capital
funding requirements in excess of the annual contribution from Depreciation. More detail is
provided at Appendix A – Table 4.

Page 241

5.5

Capital – General Fund

5.5.1

The revised approved General Fund Capital Programme for 2018-19 is £5.5m of which
£5.2m has received specific scheme approval. Appendix A Table 5 and the explanatory
notes detail the current forecast outturn (£4.896m) against the revised capital programme
of approved schemes (£5.165m), a forecast underspend of £269k. The main areas of
projected underspend relate to DFGs, the purchase cost of the new garden waste vehicle
and reduced spend by Welland Homes.

5.5.2

There have been some recommended changes to the capital programme since it was last
reported to cabinet, that will require approval by Council, these are as follows:
a) Asset Investment - £143k
b) Members ICT refresh - £45k

5.5.3

There are a number of potential capital schemes that are being developed and which may
come forward for inclusion in the 2018/19 or 2019/20 capital programme. These include:
o
o
o
o

Replacement of the CRM system (2019/20)
Implementation of vehicle Charging Points
LED Lighting upgrades
Digitalisation programme – funding requirements

5.6

Capital – HRA

5.6.1

Table 6 and the explanatory notes provide detail on the forecast outturn expenditure of
£5.3m, and the projected underspend of £2.4m. The main reasons for this projected
underspend relate to the revised profiling/phasing of the Purchase of Units Scheme, a prior
year adjustment and underspend on Chimneys expenditure for Decent Homes. IT plans are
still being worked through with a view to implementation on 2019/20.

5.8

Capital - Other

5.8.1

To date the Council has received £865k in capital receipts, from 14 right to buy sales.

5.9

Treasury Management`

5.9.1

Appendix A provides more information on the investments held by the Council at 31
December 2018 (£46.4m). The average level of investments held during the year was
£44.7m.

5.9.2

Interest earned on investments at the end of Quarter 3 is expected to be approximately
£301k compared to the profiled budget of £194.4k. This increase can be attributed to
higher levels of investment balances being held and also higher than anticipated interest
rate levels in the market, in particular the inter-authority rates which are now higher than
those offered by financial institutions.

5.9.3

The 2018/19 budget for investment interest was set at £258k and the estimated outturn is
£410k.

Page 242

5.9.4

Members are asked to note the Treasury Management position. A mid-term treasury report
was submitted to the Governance and Audit Committee on 18 October 2018 and Council
on 28 November 2018.

5.10

Moving Forward Programme

5.10.1 The Moving Forward Programme has a savings target of £985k in 2018-19. As at Q2,
£880k has been allocated to services as savings or additional income targets and we
anticipate these will be achieved.
5.10.2 The target has been reviewed and a balance of £105k is sitting in Corporate Improvement,
an unallocated target is as a result of double counting and savings already being built into
the base budget, this position will be continuingly reviewed throughout the year and
resolved as part of the year end process.
5.10.3 The Council will continue to develop and implement its programme of service
improvements. It will use its reserves to finance those projects which are aimed at
delivering future savings and income generation and a process is in place to facilitate this.
6

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

Income and expenditure affect all wards of the Council.

7

ACRONYMS

7.1

GF
HRA
CPBS
RTB
ICT
MTFP
Background papers:

General Fund
Housing Revenue Account
Compass Point Business Services
Right to Buy
Information and Communications Technology
Medium term Financial Plan
The 2018/19 Estimates Report to Council February 2018

Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post:
Email:
Key Decision:
Exempt Decision:

Jane Crosby, Head of Finance
jane.crosby@cpbs.com, ray.fleming@cpbs.com
No
No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A

Q3 Financial report for 2018/19 with details of the GF and HRA
revenue spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury
Management.

(Please note that the following appendix is not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including
the authority holding that information).
Appendix B

Asset Investment (Exempt)

Page 243

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A

South Holland District Council
Financial Report for the Quarter Ending 31 December 2018
This report has five sections
 Section 1 – General Fund Revenue budget
 Section 2 - HRA Budget
 Section 3 - Reserves
 Section 4 – Capital budget
 Section 5 – Treasury update

General Fund Revenue Outturn
The forecast outturn as at 31 December 2018, including the unallocated Moving Forward
savings target, is an estimated underspend of £436k against the approved budget for 201819 of £13m.
This is comprised as follows:
 Net Service Underspend
 Additional Financing Income
Net Service Underspend
 Moving Forward Savings Target
Net Underspend

£ (33k)
£ (508k)
£ (£541k)
£ 105k*
£ (£436k)

*The original moving forward target of £985k has been reviewed and a balance of £105k is
sitting in Corporate Improvement, an unallocated target is as a result of double counting and
savings already being built into the base budget, this position will be continuingly reviewed
throughout the year and resolved as part of the year end process.
The following revenue budget journals have been processed during Quarter 3 and reflected
in the outturn report:
Service

Detail

Delivery Unit

Asset Review – Resourcing Budget Stage 2
Technical Advice and Project Support funded
from Investment and Growth Reserve
Additional phase 3/ITrent work funded from
Transformation Reserve for 18-19
Innovation and Change programme manager
funded for 24 months from 03/09/18 from
Transformation Reserve
Office 365 Additional Revenue Spend

Human Resources
ICT
lCT
Total

Amount
(£)
£68,000
£5,400
£19,000
£2,500
£94,900

Based on the information as at 31 December 2018, Table 1 below details the forecast outturn
against the approved budget.
Significant variances to the approved budget and movements are detailed in the notes below.

Page 245

Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Outturn
Service Area
Note

Commercialisation
Commercialisation
Economic Development
Finance
Revenues and Benefits
Total – Commercialisation

1
2

Place
Assets and Property
Building Control
Community Development
Environmental Services
Housing
Planning
Spalding Special Expenses
Investment properties
Total – Place

3
4
5
6
7
8

Strategy and Governance
Corporate Improvement and Performance
Communications
Public Protection
Corporate Management
Democratic Services
HR
IT and Customer Services
Total - Strategy and Governance

9
10

Statutory recharge to the HRA for support
services (*)
Internal Drainage Boards & Parish Precepts
Investment Income
Capital and Other Adjustments
Transfers to/from Reserves
Total Cost of Services
Financing
Government Grants
Council Tax
Retained Business Rates
Total Financing

11

12
13

Net Service Variance
Moving Forward Savings Target (**)

14

Net Variance

Page 246

Revised
Budget
at Q3
£’000

Forecast
Out-turn
at Q3
£’000

Forecast
Variance
at Q3
£’000

397
121
543
473
1,534

345
124
541
472
1,482

(52)
3
(2)
(1)
(52)

22
22
1,114
3,078
181
(228)
44
(152)
4,081

17
(35)
1,146
3,354
219
(520)
49
(148)
4,082

(5)
(57)
32
276
38
(292)
5
4
1

128
124
413
562
1,005
741
1,174
4,147

129
129
414
586
998
740
1,185
4,181

1
5
1
24
(7)
(1)
11
34

(1,461)

(1,440)

21

3,178
(229)
0
1,814
13,064

3,178
(266)
0
1,814
13,031

0
(37)
0
0
(33)

(2,213)
(5,721)
(5,025)
(12,959)

(2,374)
(5,721)
(5,372)
(13,467)

(161)
0
(347)
(508)

105

(436)

(541)

(105)

0

105

0

(436)

(436)

(*) Support service recharges are a non-controllable cost to budget holders, and are therefore not
reported as part of the service analysis above. An adjusting line has been added to show the value of
recharges to the HRA, for support services and corporate management (including the debt management
recharge); a corresponding debit entry is showing in the HRA table below.
(**) The Moving Forward Service Target represents Moving Forward savings assumptions built into the
budget but not yet allocated to services or work streams. Managers will be tasked with identifying
projects and activities to meet this savings target, but until then it is a risk to the Council.

Notes to Table 1:
1. Commercialisation (£52k) underspent.
 The Delivery Unit is forecast to be overspent by £11k. Staff costs (including
Agency) in the Delivery Unit are forecast to be £74k under budget due to
continuing issues with recruitment to the team. In addition, contractor costs
are forecast to be £31k below budget and Shared Management income £11k
over budget. This is off-set by a forecast reduction in use of reserves by
£127k to fund the team.
 Planning Policy is forecast to be underspent by £41k due to vacant posts
partially off-set by agency staff and recruitment costs.
 Strategy and Enabling is forecast to be underspent by £22k due to delays in
recruitment partially off-set by agency staff costs, reduced Shared
Management income and reduced recharges to the HRA, Capital and Welland
Homes.
2. Revenues and Benefits (£1k) underspent
 A net overspend in Rent Rebate payments of £14k is off-set by a saving in
External Audit fees, reduction in Bad Debt allowance and additional DWP
Grant income.
3. Building Control (£57k) underspent
 The forecast reflects lower contractor costs for external plan checking now
being carried out in-house, fee income above budget and other minor
underspends across a range of expenditure codes.
4. Community Development +£32k overspent
 An overspend in staff costs of £36k is due to variances relating to salaries,
vacancy factor, agency and other staff related costs.
 There are various other off-setting over and under spends netting to (£4k)
underspend.
5. Environmental Services +276k overspent
 Salary Efficiency Target £49k, allocation of this target to be reviewed for
positions that must be filled all year for core service delivery and is currently
unachievable;
 Loss of car park income of £63k resulting from delay in replacement of car
park machine and reduction in car parking ticket purchases;
 Market stall income £24k reduction due to a decreased uptake of market stall
rentals throughout the year;
 Premises costs overspent £16k due to increased water consumption for road
sweepers during hot weather;
 Fuel cost pressure £45k given the increasing fuel costs;
 Garden Waste £42k shortfall due to reduced take up and changes in service
provision
 Sharps collection pressure £11k as an increase in the request for boxes has
been seen;
 Insurance pressures of £16k
 Other operational cost pressures across the service netting to £10k.

Page 247

6. Housing +£38k overspent
 Additional resourcing requirements for the team, due to additional work as a
result of the Homelessness Reduction Act, partially funded from
Homelessness grants. Also Homelessness B & B Accommodation up
significantly again due to the implications of the Homelessness Reduction Act.
7. Planning (£292k) underspent
 Planning Application fees have increased by £170k due to an increased
number of large housing applications, although prudently forecast in Q2 the
income level remains buoyant.
 Forecast Agency costs have reduced by £72k and professional & contractors
by £37k.
 Other minor changes in over and underspends netting to £13k underspent.
8. Spalding Special Expenses +£5k overspent.
 There is a budget pressure relating to re-wire of the Halley Stewart pavilion £9k.
There are other minor under and over spends totalling £4k net under budget.
9. Corporate Management +£24k overspent
 This reflects the vacancy savings target built into the budget of £15k,
recruitment costs of £12k, agency costs of £8k and travel cost of £13k,
partially off-set by an increased recharge to the HRA.
10. IT and Customer Services +£11k overspent
 This is due to additional hardware maintenance and contractor costs.
11. Investment Income (£37k) over-achieved
 This figure is the same as that reported in Quarter 2, based on based on
current investment returns. The position is likely to improve if LA investment
rates hold at current levels.
12. Government Grant (£161k)
 Forecast additional s31 grant relating to Business Rates and central
government levy account repayment
13. Retained Business Rates (£347k).
 The Council was required to pay an additional tariff of £331k to the government
due to a change in the business rates revaluation adjustment. This was a late
notification as part of the settlement for 2018/19 and it was budgeted for as part
of the 2018/19 budget. However, as part of the closure of accounts this was
accrued back into the 2017/18 accounts. CIPFA issued advice that this is how
it should be treated in the 2017/18 accounts as the adjustment related to the
revaluation with effect from 1 April 2017.

Page 248

Housing Revenue Account
The Q3 forecast position is a £95k decrease in the budgeted surplus for the year, which is a
£8k adverse change on the outturn position reported in Q2. The notes below Table 2 explain
the main variances to the Budget.

Table 2 – HRA Revenue Outturn
Service Area
Rent Income – Dwellings
Charges for Services and Facilities
Contributions to Expenditure
Total Income
Repairs and Maintenance
Supervision and Management
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges
Depreciation
Movement in the allowance for bad debts
Statutory recharge to the HRA for support
services
Total Expenditure

Note

Forecast
Variance
£’000

1
2

(14,713)
(1,154)
(37)
(15,904)

(14,713)
(1,195)
(17)
(15,925)

(41)
20
(21)

3
4
5
6
7

3,156
2,693
77
2,923
169

3,152
2,754
61
3,058
169

(4)
61
(16)
135
-

8

1,461
10,479

1,461
10,655

176

(5,425)

(5,270)

155

(62)
2,348
-

(122)
2,348
-

(60)
-

(3,139)

(3,044)

95

Contribution from Operations
Investment Income
Interest Payable on £67.456m
Capital expenditure charged in year
Other Adjustments

Budget
£’000

Forecast
Outturn
£’000

9

Net (Surplus)/Deficit

Notes to Table 2:
1.
Charges for Services and Facilities (£41k) underspent – Lifeline income within
sheltered housing is £55K above budget but in line with last year. Income from
Community centres is demand driven and is forecasting to be £13k below budget.
2.
Contributions to Expenditure – +£20k overspent - £10k recharge of costs to outside
bodies will be recovered under repairs and maintenance below and court income is
expected to be £10k lower and related expenditure will be comparatively less.
3.
Repairs and Maintenance (£4k) underspent – Residual costs on last year’s place
review (£69k) are offset by lease payments savings on CSU vans (£47k) and savings on
Furniture and Equipment (£24k).
4.
Supervision and Management +£47k overspent – £47k for the HRA Accountant was
agreed to be funded by the HRA, post last years budget, and a General Fund charge for
£30k for footpath lighting has been added. This is set off by savings on Cesspool
emptying £19k, and £11k income from a restricted Covenant. Following a review of the
allocation of Bank Charges, an additional £14k has been allocated to the HRA
5.
Rents Rates Taxes and Other Charges (£16k) underspent– Actual levels for sheltered
housing council tax less than budgeted and budgeted charges for Short Street not
materialising.
6.
Depreciation – +£135k Overspent. Effect of revaluations, additional ICT Infrastructure
last year and amortisation of Intangible assets.
7.
Movement in the allowance for bad debts +0k – Provision was set high due to impact
of universal credit but could be reassessed following information received regarding the
collection of tenants rent post-UC, forecast kept at budget level.
8.
Statutory recharge to the HRA for support services – The forecast is as budgeted
9.
Investment Income (£60k) additional income - Increased interest rate returns.

Page 249

RESERVES
Table 3 – General Fund Reserves

Reserve

Balance
31 March
2018
£’000

Page 250

Transformation

(599)

Investment and
Growth

(5,218)

Earmarked
Grants

(313)

Contributions
to Reserve
£’000

Use of
Reserve
£’000
509

(1,007)

1,371

107

Balance 31
March 2019
£’000

Comments

(90) Use – Priory Road self-serve portals £10k;
GIS system £13k; Car Park machines £38k;
Strategic Property advice £25k; Leisure
provision £19k; National Graduate Trainee
Scheme £32k; EMT Development fund £4k;
iTrent Phase 3 £5k; Interim Programme
Manager £19k Asset Review £100k; Moving
Forward initiatives to be identified £244k
(4,854) Contributions - New Homes Bonus £1,007k
Uses – Grounds Maintenance vehicles £46k;
HIF programme manager £53k; Kings Road
access legal costs £13k; Garden Waste
collection service expansion £90k; Garden
Waste vehicles £160k; Northern Spalding SUE
£10k ; Delivery Unit resourcing £110k; Priory
Road Accommodation £10k; Grounds
Maintenance Equipment Replacement £46k;
Priory Road Heating and Access £160k;
Planning for Growth £15k; Asset Review £68k;
Capital purchases £500k; Office 365 capital
£45k
(206) Uses – HCA Capacity Funding £64k; Flexible
Homelessness Reduction £43k

Reserve
Council Tax

Replacement &
Refurbishment

Page 251

Total Specific GF
Reserves
General Reserve
Total Reserves

Balance
31 March
2018
£’000
(1,299)

Contributions
to Reserve
£’000
(722)

(189)

(136)

161

(7,618)

(1,865)

2,522

(164) Contributions – annual budget contribution
(£136k).
Uses - Planned Maintenance use of Reserve to
support in-year annual programme £77k;
Ayscoughfee Hall fire safety works £53k;
Condition Surveys £31k
(6,961)

(2,078)
(9,696)

(1,865)

2,522

(2,078)
(9,039)

Use of
Balance 31
Reserve March 2019
Comments
£’000
£’000
374
(1,647) Contributions – Business Rates Surplus from
2017/18 £722k
Uses – South Holland Centre Emergency Works
£250k; Spalding Special £5k; Data Protection
Officer (Shared) £28k; Pride in South Holland
£91k;

Table 4 – Housing Revenue Account Reserves
Balance
31 March
2018
£’000
HRA Working Balance:
HRA Insurance Reserve
Major Repairs Reserve

Contributions
to Reserve
£’000

Balance
31 March
2019
£’000

Use of
Reserve
£’000

Page 252

(12,752)

(3,044)

(200)

0

0

(6,435)

(3,058)

5,065

(19,387)

(6,102)

5,065

Comments

(15,796) Transfer to MRR of forecast HRA
surplus
(200)
(4,428) HRA depreciation contribution to MRR is
used to fund the capital programme in
future years. The transfer from MRR inyear is being used to fund 18/19 capital
programme spend
(20,424)

CAPITAL PROGRAMME
Table 5 and 6 below and the following notes detail the forecast outturn position for the GF
and HRA capital programmes. This is based on the revised capital programmes as approved
in the Q1 finance report.

Table 5 – General Fund Forecast Capital Outturn
Note

Revised
Budget
2018/19
£’000

Forecast
Outturn
2018/19
£’000

Variance
(under)/
overspend
£’000

585
75
1,708
18
205
45
10
27
45
181
46
38
896
250
18
109
70
160
24

400
25
1,696
21
205
45
10
27
45
160
46
34
896
250
18
109
70
160
24

(185)
(50)
(12)
3
(21)
(4)
-

500
143
5,153

500
143
4,884

(269)

302
1,620
1,708
1,523
5,153

302
1,385
1,696
1,501
4,884

(235)
(12)
(22)
(269)

Schemes Subject to Approval
Digital Vision

302

-

(302)

Total

302

-

(302)

302
302

-

(302)

5,455

4,884

(571)

Project

Disabled Facilities Grants
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair
Welland Homes
GIS System
ICT Infrastructure
Office 365 Additional Spend
Self Serve Reception
Smart Screens
Members ICT Equipment Refresh
Garden Waste (vehicle)
Car Park Machines
Grounds Maintenance
Grants for Growth
South Holland Centre
Castle Sports
Shared Public Protection Software
Crease Drove Industrial Project
Priory Road – Heating and Access
Priory Road – Fire Doors and Access
Capital Acquisitions re Growth &
Commercialisation
Asset Investment
Total Approved Schemes

1
2
3
4
5

6
7

8

Financed By:
Capital Receipts
Capital Grants and Contributions
Internal Borrowing
Revenue Resources

Financed By:
Capital Receipts
Revenue Resources
Total All Schemes

Page 253
9

(302)

Notes to Table 5:
1. Disabled Facilities Grants (£185k) – Forecast expenditure is based on current
scheme referrals from LCC. (Any unused grant will be transferred to the capital grants
unapplied reserve for future spend).
2. Decent Homes – Unfit and Disrepair (£50k) - Review of forecasted spend
3. Welland Homes – (£12k) Estimated £1,638k spend on Parkside £980 and London
Road £716k.
4. GIS System +£3k – Upon system implementation further requirements were identified.
50% of the additional sums required has been funded by a capital contribution from
Breckland.
5. Office 365 Additional Spend – Amendment to the Capital programme to support
deployment of Office 365
6. Garden Waste (£21k) – Vehicle costs less than estimated.
7. Ground Maintenance Equipment (£4k) – Grounds Maintenance Equipment less than
estimated.
8. Commercialisation – New budget has been created to facilitate the regeneration,
commercialisation and delivery of housing and commercial return.

Other potential future schemes identified through Capital Working Group and
ICT/Customer Governance Board
Several schemes have been identified at the various working groups which may require the
Capital programme to be amended in the future. These include:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Replacement of the CRM system (2019/20)
Implementation of vehicle Charging Points
LED Lighting upgrades
Digitalisation programme – funding requirements

Page 254
10

Table 6 – Housing Revenue Account Forecast Capital Outturn

Project

Note

Central Heating Upgrade
Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement
Electrical Upgrade
Gutters
Council House – Re-Roofing
Doors and Windows
Chimneys
Paths and Drives
Boundary Walls
Fees
Decent Homes

1
2
3
4
4
4
4

Sewerage Treatment Plant
Car Parks
The Square
Major Area Schemes

Revised
Budget
2018/19
£’000

Forecast
Outturn
£’000

Variance
(under)/
overspend
£’000

1,614
1,169
156
263
425
3
252
36
90
201
4,209

1,540
1,160
130
298
425
30
201
3,785

(74)
(9)
(26)
35
(3)
(252)
(6)
(90)
(425)

100
65
187
352

97
95
192

(3)
(65)
(92)
(160)

Housing IT System
ICT Strategy
IT/System

5
5

150
51
201

41
41

(109)
(51)
(160)

Major Adaptations
Aids & Adaptations

6

408
408

350
350

(58)
(58)

CSU Vehicle Replacement
CSU Vehicle Replacement

7

253
253

-

(253)
(253)

12
-

12
12

-

250
2,000
30
2,280

244
647
891

(6)
(1,353)
(30)
(1,389)

Total Approved Schemes

7,715

5,271

(2,444)

Financed By:
Capital Receipts
Shared Ownership Sales Proceeds
Direct Revenue Funding
Major Repairs Reserve
Grants and Contributions
Total Funding

604
7,111
7,715

72
134
5,065
5,271

(532)
134
(2,046)
(2,444)

Ground Maintenance
Environmental Services
Weston Redevelopment Scheme
Purchase of Units
Severn Road Development Scheme
Affordable Housing

8
9

Page 255
11

Notes to Table 6:
1. Central Heating (£74k) – Programme valuation reduced.
2. Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement (£9k) – Capital forecast reviewed as a result of
tenant refusals during Qtr.1 and Q2. Programme revised and updated for Qtr.3.
3. Electrical Upgrade (£26k) – Smoke Alarm and Electrical upgrade Capital Schemes
combined to achieve savings.
4. Chimneys, Paths/Drives, Boundary Walls, Car Parks, Smoke alarms and The
Square – Contracts on procurement planner, intention to spend the budget but will
need monitoring to see when the works start on site and revising this figure if
necessary. Smoke alarms forecast included in electrical upgrade programme resulting
in variance.
5. ICT Strategy (£160k) – £51k - Revised infrastructure replacement Capital Bids
submitted for 2019/20 Estimate process. £109k - Additional Funding approved for
Northgate Housing System
6. Aids & Adaptions (£58k) - Programme is demand-led due to the nature of the works.
7. CSU Vehicle Replacement – Replacement of current leased vehicles with purchased
vehicles. This will now carry over into 2019-20.
8. Weston Redevelopment - Original budget was £1.0m. The project is behind plan and
only £244k will be spent this year. The project should be completed in 2019/20 within
the business Plan timescale
9. Purchase of Units – (£1,353k) Only one of the identified three proposed S106 sites
will be delivered in 2018/19, a further site will be delivered in 2019/20 (£782k) and the
third in 2020/21 (£280k), leaving £291k of the £2.0m available.

Capital Receipts
There have been 14 right-to-buy receipts in the year to date, resulting in total net receipts of
£865k. There is £682k of 1-4-1 receipts available up to the end of Q3 2018/19.

Page 256
12

Treasury
Security
The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to
monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk
as conditions change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset
Services which provides a maximum duration for investments depending on the colour rating
calculated for each financial institution.
All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration.
The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing counterparties.

Cash
The Council’s average level of deposits during 2018/19 to date was £44.7m. As at 31
December 2018 investments held were £46.4m of which £6.15m was instant access cash
available to meet cash flow requirements. Longer term investments were made up of:
£37m - short term investments up to 12 months
£1.13m - Welland Homes equity
£50k – Municipal Bond Agency Equity
£2.128m - loans to Welland Homes
The following chart shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to maturity.

Page 257
13

Yield
Budgeted Interest for 2018/19
Actual Interest achieved to Q3 2018/19
Projected Outturn 2018/19
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID)
Actual Yield achieved for 2018/19
Actual Yield achieved for 2017/18

£258,000 (£196,000 GF, £62,000 HRA)
£301,471 (£212,136 GF, £89,335 HRA)
£410,000 (£287,520 GF, £122,480 HRA)
0.650%
0.894%
0.590%

The increased levels of investment interest achieved can be attributed to higher levels of
investment balances being held and also higher than anticipated interest rate levels in the
market, in particular the inter-authority rates which are now higher than those offered by
financial institutions.

External Borrowing
The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations
under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years
on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the
financial year.

Page 258
14

Agenda Item 14.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 259

This page is intentionally left blank

